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OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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Commission file number 1-1070
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Registrant’s telephone number, including area code(314) 480-1400
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Common Stock, New York Stock Exchange
par value $1 per share
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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%edBédturities Act. Yes No 0O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ortf®ecl5(d) of the Exchange Act. Yes[d No

Indicate by check mark whether the registranth@s filed all reports required to be filed by Sewtl3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act 419
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shqréeiod that the registrant was required to filehsteports), and (2) has been subject to suchyfilin
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iésnitted electronically and posted on its corpo¥aleb site, if any, every Interactive Data File
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PART |
Item 1. BUSINESS
GENERAL

Olin Corporation is a Virginia corporation, incorpted in 1892, having its principal executive ag8dn Clayton, MO. We are a
manufacturer concentrated in three business segméttor Alkali Products, Chemical Distributiondawinchester. Chlor Alkali Products
manufactures and sells chlorine and caustic sadiphhloric acid, hydrogen, bleach products an@gsitm hydroxide, which represent 56%
of 2014 sales. Chemical Distribution manufactresich products and distributes caustic soda, blpeaducts, potassium hydroxide and
hydrochloric acid, which represent 12% of 2014 saliginchester products, which represent 32% of 2aids, include sporting ammunition,
reloading components, small caliber military amntioniand components, and industrial cartridgese &g discussion of our segment
disclosures contained in Item 7—"Management’s Désgan and Analysis of Financial Condition and Ressof Operations.”

On August 22, 2012, we acquired 100% of privatefdK. A. Steel Chemicals Inc. (KA Steel), whosegting results are included in
the accompanying financial statements since the afahe acquisition. For segment reporting purppké Steel comprises the Chemical
Distribution segment. KA Steel is one of the latgéistributors of caustic soda in North America amanufactures and sells bleach in the
Midwest.

GOVERNANCE

We maintain an Internet website_at www.olin.cor®ur reports on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q, and Forif, &s well as amendments to
those reports, are available free of charge om@lnsite, as soon as reasonably practicable aftdéiterbre reports with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC). Additionally, a coppof SEC filings can be accessed from the SECe#t Bublic Reference Room at 100 F
Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549 or by caltimat office of the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Alsoppy of our electronically filed materials
can be obtained at www.sec.goWur Principles of Corporate Governance, Commi@barters and Code of Conduct are available on our
website at www.olin.corim the Governance Section under Governance Docunaeitt Committees.

In May 2014 , our Chief Executive Officer executhd annual Section 303A.12(a) CEO Certificatioruiszpl by the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE), certifying that he was not awdrany violation of the NYSE’s corporate governafiséng standards by us. Additionally,
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial i0#fr executed the required Sarbanes-Oxley Act 62480X) Sections 302 and 906
certifications relating to this Annual Report onrfrol0-K, which are filed with the SEC as exhibdghis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

PRODUCTS, SERVICES AND STRATEGIES
Chlor Alkali Products
Products and Services

We have been involved in the U.S. chlor alkali istiy for more than 100 years and are a major pjpatt in the North American chlor
alkali market. Chlorine, caustic soda and hydrogenco-produced commercially by the electroly$isait. These co-produced products are
produced simultaneously, and in a fixed ratio 6ftbn of chlorine to 1.1 tons of caustic soda afi@ @ns of hydrogen. The industry refers to
this as an Electrochemical Unit or ECU. With a destrated capacity as of the end of 2014 of 1.8aniECUs per year, we are the fourth
largest chlor alkali producer, measured by productiapacity of chlorine and caustic soda, in Néwtherica, according to data from IHS, Inc.
(IHS). IHS is a global information consulting coamy established in 1959 that provides informat@a variety of industries. Approximately
60% of our caustic soda production is high purigmmbrane grade, which, according to IHS data, ndyncainmands a premium selling price
in the market. According to data from CEH MarkgtResearch (a division of IHS), we are the lar§Esth American producer of industrial
bleach, which is manufactured using both chlorimé eaustic soda.

Our manufacturing facilities in Augusta, GA; Mclstg AL; Charleston, TN; St. Gabriel, LA; Hendersbly,; Becancour, Canada; Sa
Fe Springs, CA; Tracy, CA; and a portion of ourilfacin Niagara Falls, NY are ISO 9001 certifieth addition, Augusta, GA; Mcintosh, AL;
Charleston, TN; St. Gabriel, LA; Henderson, NV; &alRe Springs, CA; Tracy, CA and Niagara Falls, &% 1ISO 14001 certified. 1SO 9000
(which includes ISO 9001 and I1SO 9002) and ISO 04@hich includes ISO 14001) are sets of relatéerimational standards on quality
assurance and environmental management developibe tigternational Organization for Standardizatomelp companies effectively
document the quality and




environmental management system elements to beimgsited to maintain effective quality and environtakmanagement systems. Our
facilities in Augusta, GA; Mclintosh, AL; CharlestofiN; Niagara Falls, NY; and St. Gabriel, LA havsosachieved Star status in the Volun
Protection Program (VPP) of the Occupational Sadety Health Administration (OSHA). OSHA'’s VPP ipmgram in which companies
voluntarily participate that recognizes facilitiies their exemplary safety and health programsr Augusta, GA; Mcintosh, AL; Charleston,
TN; St. Gabriel, LA; Henderson, NV; Santa Fe SpsinQA; Tracy, CA and Niagara Falls, NY manufactgrsites and the division headquar
are accredited under the RC 14001 Responsible"GR@ 14001) standard. Supported by the chemicakimgand recognized by governm
and regulatory agencies, RC 14001 establishesrameants for the management of safety, health, enniental, security, transportation,
product stewardship and stakeholder engagementtedifor the business.

Chlorine is used as a raw material in the produabibthousands of products for end-uses includingls, chlorinated intermediates,
isocyanates and water treatment. A significantipoof U.S. chlorine production is consumed in thenufacture of ethylene dichloride, or
EDC, a precursor for polyvinyl chloride, or PYCV@® is a plastic used in applications such as vénging, plumbing and automotive parts.
estimate that approximately 16% of our chlorinedoied is consumed in the manufacture of EDC. Whileh of the chlorine produced in the
U.S. is consumed by the producing company to makendtream products, we sell most of the chloringveeluce to third parties in the
merchant market.

Caustic soda has a wide variety of end-use appitatthe largest of which in North America is e tpulp and paper industry. Caustic
soda is used in the delignification and bleachiogipns of the pulping process. Caustic sodass aked in the production of detergents and
soaps, alumina and a variety of other inorganicangdnic chemicals.

The chlor alkali industry is cyclical, both as aul of changes in demand for each of theomeduced products and as a result of the
increments in which new capacity is added and redo\Because chlorine and caustic soda are prodoeefixed ratio, the supply of one
product can be constrained both by the physicaagpof the production facilities and/or by thélépto sell the co-produced product. Prices
for both products respond rapidly to changes irpguand demand. Our ECU netbacks (defined as grelting price less freight and discoul
averaged approximately $505, $560 and $575 per 8014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively. See owudson of chlor alkali product pricing
contained in Item 7—"Management’s Discussion analgsis of Financial Condition and Results of Opiers.”

Electricity and salt are the major purchased rawenwds for our Chlor Alkali Products segment. Raaterials represent approximately
49% of the total cost of producing an ECU. Eletdtyiis the single largest raw material componerthe production of chlor alkali
products. We are supplied by utilities that priityautilize coal, hydroelectric, natural gas ancclear power. The commodity nature of this
industry places an emphasis on cost managemenvabelieve that we have managed our manufactugstsdn a manner that makes us one
of the low cost producers in the industry.

We also manufacture and sell other chlor alkaktes products. These products include chemicatiggssed salt, hydrochloric acid,
sodium hypochlorite (bleach), hydrogen and potassiydroxide. We refer to these other chlor alkalated products as co-products. Sales c
co-products represented approximately 32% of Chlkali Products’ sales in 2014 . We have recemtlyested in capacity and product
upgrades in bleach and hydrochloric acid. In 20d8completed a capital project to expand hydra@hkcid production at our Henderson,
chlor alkali site. Hydrochloric acid is a key valadded co-product, and we continue to evaluatedgydioric acid expansion opportunities at
our chlor alkali manufacturing sites. During 200@®013, we initiated and completed low salt, higergyth bleach facilities at Mcintosh, AL,
Niagara Falls, NY and Henderson, NV. These threefaeilities increased total bleach manufacturiagacity by approximately 50% over t
2011 capacity. These low salt, high strength Widacilities nearly double the concentration of teach we manufacture, which significantly
reduces transportation costs.




The following table lists products of our Chlor AlkProducts business, with principal productstontiasis of annual sales highlighted
in bold face.

Major Raw Materials &
Components for

Products & Services Major End Uses Plants & Facilities Products/Services
Chlorine/caustic Pulp & paper processing, chemical manufacturing, Becancour, Canada salt, electricity
soda water purification, manufacture of vinyl chloride, Charleston, TN
bleach, swimming pool chemicals and urethane Henderson, NV
chemicals Mclintosh, AL
Niagara Falls, NY
St. Gabriel, LA
Sodium hypochlorite Household cleaners, laundry bleaching, swimming Augusta, GA chlorine, caustic soda
(bleach) sanitizers, semiconductors, water treatment, tstil Becancour, Canada
pulp & paper and food processing Charleston, TN

Henderson, NV*
Mclntosh, AL*
Niagara Falls, NY*
Santa Fe Springs, CA

Tracy, CA
Hydrochloric acid Steel, oil & gas, plastics, organic chemical syathe = Becancour, Canada chlorine, hydrogen
water & wastewater treatment, brine treatment, Charleston, TN
artificial sweeteners, pharmaceuticals, food prsicgs Henderson, NV
and ore & mineral processing Mclintosh, AL

Niagara Falls, NY

Potassium hydroxide Fertilizer manufacturing, soaps, detergents & aesn Charleston, TN potassium chloride, electricity
battery manufacturing, food processing chemicats an
deicers

Hydrogen Fuel source, hydrogen peroxide and hydrochlorid aciBecancour, Canada salt, electricity

Charleston, TN
Henderson, NV
Mclintosh, AL
Niagara Falls, NY
St. Gabriel, LA

* Includes low salt, high strength bleach manufeo

Strategies

Continued Role as a Preferred Supplier to Merchdatket Customers. Based on our market research, we believe ouwrGikali
Products business is viewed as a preferred sugplieur merchant market customers. We will corgitmfocus on providing quality customer
service support and developing relationships withvalued customers.

Pursue Incremental Expansion OpportunitiedVe have invested in capacity and product upgga our chemically processed salt,
hydrochloric acid, bleach, potassium hydroxide aypdrogen businesses. These expansions increasamtive use of chlorine while
increasing the sales of these co-products. Thesiedsses provide opportunities to upgrade chl@ntkcaustic soda to higher value-added
applications. We also have the opportunity, whesifess conditions permit, to pursue incrementstl effective chlorine and caustic soda
expansions at our Mclntosh, AL and St. Gabriel, fadilities.

Chemical Distribution
Products and Services
We acquired KA Steel, a privately-held distribubdrcaustic soda and bleach, on August 22, 2012 Sie®!l was founded in 1957 and
had been managed by the two shareholders, RolitKemmeth Steel, since 1980. For segment repoptimgoses, KA Steel comprises the

Chemical Distribution segment. KA Steel is onehdf targest distributors of caustic soda in Northehite and manufactures and sells bleac
the Midwest. The Chemical Distribution segment gius the expanded capability to market and sefit@asoda, bleach, potassium hydroxide



and hydrochloric acid, as well as, gives us theggagahic diversification the KA Steel locations pige/ us, and strengthens our position
in the industrial bleach segment.




KA Steel is a chemical distributor historically feed in caustic soda and bleach. The addition oSt&®el substantially increased our
bleach capacity. KA Steel's geographic profile exged our reach and provides a strong platformdrease our caustic soda, bleach,
potassium hydroxide and hydrochloric acid salesufh Chemical Distribution.

Chemical Distribution sources its chemicals fronthbiaternational and domestic suppliers, includiegeral of the major chemical
producers in the U.S. Chemical Distribution typligdlas written distributorship agreements or sumlgtracts with our suppliers that are
periodically renewed. The Chemical Distribution glypagreements with producers generally includeigigeszolume commitments and
performance criteria, with pricing negotiated basadnarket dynamics and competitive supply altéveat

The prices at which Chemical Distribution resetls products that it distributes, such as caustiasfluctuate in accordance with the
prices that they pay for these products, whicluin &re driven by the underlying commodity pricesch as caustic soda, in accordance with
supply and demand economics. As a result, movenietite product prices tend to result in largelyresponding changes to sales and cost o
goods sold.

Transportation of products to and from customerssauppliers is a fundamental component of the Cbalnilistribution business. The
Chemical Distribution business relies on their até/fleet of trucks, tankers and trailers to shigpmajority of their annual volume and on
common carriers and direct supply sales for theareder. Direct supply sales occur by shipping potsidirectly from a supplier to a customer
when direct shipment is optimal for our route mamragnt. Although the products move directly fromigy to customer, Chemical
Distribution remains the only point of contact fmth customers and suppliers, and we take owneddhipge products during the direct supply
process.




The Chemical Distribution facilities are stratediig@laced to optimize route density in an effatttalance high quality customer service
with execution costs. The following table lists lead the distribution facilities, if the facilitysiowned or leased, and the products currently
shipped from the location. The table does not iskelsupplier controlled direct-ship facilities.

Products & Services Plants & Facilities Owned/Leased

Caustic, Bleach, Potassium Hydroxide, Hydrochloric Lemont, IL Own
Acid

Caustic, Bleach Muscatine, IA Own
Bleach Romulus, Ml Own
Caustic Baltimore, MD Lease
Caustic Bayonne, NJ Lease
Caustic Charleston, SC Lease
Caustic Cincinnati, OH Lease
Caustic Cozad, NE Lease
Caustic, Bleach Dallas, TX Lease
Caustic E Sauget, IL Lease
Bleach Fairborn, OH Lease
Caustic Houston, TX Lease
Caustic Kansas City, KS Lease
Caustic Lubbock, TX Lease
Caustic Manly, 1A Lease
Caustic McKees Rocks, PA Lease
Caustic Pt. Allen, LA Lease
Caustic Savannah, GA Lease
Caustic Searsport, ME Lease
Caustic Sioux City, 1A Lease
Caustic Spokane, WA Lease
Caustic St. Louis, MO Lease
Caustic St. Paul, MN Lease
Caustic Vancouver, WA Lease
Caustic Warren, Ml Lease

Strategies

Pursue Incremental Expansion Optiofifie acquisition of KA Steel enhanced our commoditgmical business by increasing the
amount of our core chlor alkali capacity that carsbld as value-added products.

Winchester
Products and Services
In 2014 , Winchester was in its 148ear of operation and its 84ear as part of Olin. Winchester is a premier tser and
manufacturer of small caliber ammunition for sal@dbmestic and international retailers (commemistomers), law enforcement agencies
domestic and international militaries. We belieweare a leading U.S. producer of ammunition foreational shooters, hunters, law

enforcement agencies and the U.S. Armed Forces.

In September 2014, Winchester was awarded a fiae-g@ntract to produce training ammunition for th&. Department of Homeland
Security. The contract has the potential to gepe$&0 million of sales over the next five years.

In June 2014, Winchester was awarded a five-yeatract to provide 9mm frangible ammunition to bediby the U.S. Air Force, Coast
Guard and Navy for close quarter training, whichk tiee potential to generate approximately $28 amlbf sales over the next five years.
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In September 2012, Winchester, along with anothenanition manufacturer, was awarded a contract ftwrDepartment of Justice
(DOJ) and the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBIie contract is to provide .40 caliber duty amdhing ammunition for one year with four
option years; the contract has the potential tegge approximately $5 million of annual sales dherlife of the contract.

In October 2014 and 2013, Winchester was recogrbydtie National Association of Sporting Goods VWisalers (NASGW) with the
group’s Excellence in Ammunition Manufacturing adiafhe NASGW presents the award to manufacturemsheist demonstrate outstanding
value and service to NASGW distributor members.

In April 2014, Winchester was recognized with tixelasive Overall Vendor of the Year award by Calselacorporated (Cabela’s), one
of the country’s largest retailers of hunting, fishand outdoor gear. The Overall Vendor of therYe&abela’s highest merchandising vendor
award across all categories and departments. Wsteheas chosen from more than 3,500 merchandpg#ists for superior performance,
partnership and overall contribution to the retaile

In May 2012, the National Defense Industrial Asation (NDIA) presented Winchester with the prestigi Ambrose Award for
exemplary commitment and contribution to the U.8nAd Forces. The NDIA presents the award periogigghen a manufacturer delivers
superior materials that meet required operatioaphbilities and support a high level of force reads in conduct of warfighting activities and
homeland defense.

Our legendary Winchest@product line includes all major gauges and caliloéishotgun shells, rimfire and centerfire ammuamitfor
pistols and rifles, reloading components and irmalstartridges. We believe we are the leading. upplier of small caliber commercial
ammunition. In support of our continuous improvatraitiatives, our manufacturing facilities in Eadton, IL achieved ISO recertification to
the ISO 9001:2008 standard in November 2012. Aaldilly, our facilities in Oxford, MS and Australéchieved 1ISO 9001:2008 recertificat
in 2011.

Winchester has strong relationships throughous#ies and distribution chain and strong ties tditinal dealers and
distributors. Winchester has also built its busigeith key high-volume mass merchants and spgaptirting goods retailers. Winchester ha
consistently developed industry-leading ammunitighich is recognized in the industry for manufaictgrexcellence, design innovation and
consumer value. Winchester’'s new ammunition pragloohtinue to receive awards from major industrylisations, with recent awards
including:Field & Streammagazine’s “Best of the Best” award in 2014 and®ktersen’'s Huntinghagazine’s 2014 “Editor’'s Choice”
award;Guns & Ammanagazine’s “2014 Ammunition of the Year” awaAinerican Riflemamagazine’s Golden Bullseye Award as
“Ammunition Product of the Year” in 2014 and 2052dShooting lllustratednagazine’s “Ammunition Product of the Year” in 2014

Winchester purchases raw materials such as cogsedbstrip and ammunition cartridge case cupseatiffom vendors based on a
conversion charge or premium. These conversiorgelssor premiums are in addition to the marketgsrifor metal as posted on exchanges
such as the Commodity Exchange, or COMEX, and Lordetals Exchange, or LME. Winchester’s other nraim material is propellant,
which is purchased predominantly from one of théé¢hStates’ largest propellant suppliers.




The following table lists products and service®af Winchester business, with principal productshmnbasis of annual sales highligt
in bold face.

Major Raw Materials &
Components for

Products & Services Major End Uses Plants & Facilities Products/Services
Winchester® sporting Hunters & recreational shooters, law enforcement East Alton, IL brass, lead, steel, plastic,
ammunition (shot-shells, agencies Oxford, MS propellant, explosives
small caliber centerfire & Geelong, Australia

rimfire ammunition)

Small caliber military Infantry and mounted weapons East Alton, IL brass, lead, propellant,
ammunition Oxford, MS explosives

Industrial products (8 gauge Maintenance applications in power & East Alton, IL brass, lead, plastic, propellant,
loads & powder-actuated tool concrete industries, powder-actuated tools in Oxford, MS explosives

loads) construction industry Geelong, Australia

On November 3, 2010, we announced that we had thadgdecision to relocate the Winchester centepistol and rifle ammunition
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to @xf, MS. In October 2011, we opened the new chraguistol and rifle production facility
in Oxford, MS and, during 2013, the relocationlw# tenterfire pistol manufacturing equipment wasgleted. During 2014, the centerfire r
manufacturing equipment was in the process of belagated, and by December 1, 2014, all commeceiaferfire rifle ammunition was
manufactured in Oxford, MS. During 2014 , all ofWhester’s centerfire pistol ammunition and apprately 55% of Winchester’s centerfire
rifle ammunition was manufactured in Oxford, MShiSrelocation, when completed, is forecast to cedinchester's annual operating costs
by approximately $35 million to $40 million. Wercently expect to complete this relocation by thd ef 2016. Once completed, Winchester
expects to have the most modern centerfire amnamngroduction facility in North America.

Strategies

Leverage Existing StrengthsWinchester plans to seek new opportunitiesverigge the legendary Winchester brand name and will
continue to offer a full line of ammunition prodsdb the markets we serve, with specific focusraestments that make Winchester
ammunition the retail brand of choice.

Focus on Product Line Growth.With a long record of pioneering new produckoifgs, Winchester has built a strong reputatioaras
industry innovator. This includes the introductmfireduced-lead and non-lead products, which eoeigg in popularity for use in indoor
shooting ranges and for outdoor hunting.

Cost Reduction Strategwinchester plans to continue to focus on stratettiaswill lower our costs, including the ongoirejacation of
our centerfire pistol and rifle ammunition manutaaig operations from East Alton, IL to Oxford, MS.

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS

Our subsidiary, Olin Canada ULC, operates one dilali facility in Becancour, Canada, which selfdor alkalitelated products with
Canada and to the United States and also selldiatibutes ammunition within Canada. Our subsidisVinchester Australia Limited, loads
and packs sporting and industrial ammunition inthal®. See the Note “Segment Information” of tfiges to consolidated financial
statements contained in Item 8, for geographic ssgmiata. We are incorporating our segment inftiondrom that Note into this section of
our Form 10-K.

CUSTOMERS AND DISTRIBUTION

During 2014 , no single customer accounted for nloa@ 8% of sales. Sales to all U.S. Governmeeneigs and sales under U.S.
Government contracting activities in total accodrfier approximately 4% of sales in 2014 . Produetssell to industrial or commercial users
or distributors for use in the production of otpeoducts constitute a major part of our total saM& sell some of our products, such as caust
soda and sporting ammunition, to a large numbesefs or distributors, while we sell others, suglsldorine, in substantial quantities to a
relatively small number of industrial users. Wsadiss the customers for each of our three busim@sseore detail above under “Products anc
Services.”




We market most of our products and services prigntriough our sales force and sell directly toieas industrial customers, mass
merchants, retailers, wholesalers, other distritsudmd the U.S. Government and its prime contractor

Because we engage in some government contractiivifias and make sales to the U.S. Governmentargesubject to extensive and
complex U.S. Government procurement laws and régnk These laws and regulations provide for amggovernment audits and review:
contract procurement, performance and administratfeailure to comply, even inadvertently, withgadaws and regulations and with laws
governing the export of munitions and other cotdbproducts and commodities could subject us erarmore of our businesses to civil and
criminal penalties, and under certain circumstansespension and debarment from future governnaitacts and the exporting of products
for a specified period of time.

BACKLOG

The total amount of contracted backlog was appratety $289.0 million and $532.4 million as of Jarydl, 2015 and 2014 ,
respectively. The backlog orders are in our Wistérebusiness. Beginning in November 2012, consymrehases of ammunition surged
significantly above historical demand levels. Thege in demand was across all of Winchester's corialeproduct offerings. Beginning in
the third quarter of 2014, Winchester began to ggpee a decline in commercial demand from the 2648l. However, the second half of
2014 commercial demand remained stronger than B¥&ls. The increase above historical levels of memtial demand can be illustrated by
the increase in Winchester’'s commercial backlogewivas $192.4 million and $423.0 million at Januat, 2015 and 2014 , respectively,
compared to $29.4 million at December 31, 2011%86 million at January 31, 2012. The orders idetlin the commercial backlog may be
canceled by the customer. Backlog is comprised| afp@n customer orders not yet shipped. ApproxaétyaB2% of contracted backlog as of
January 31, 2015 is expected to be filled during520

COMPETITION

We are in active competition with businesses prodpor distributing the same or similar productsweell as, in some instances, with
businesses producing or distributing different picid designed for the same uses.

Chlor alkali manufacturers in North America, withpsoximately 17 million tons of chlorine and 18 lwih tons of caustic soda capaci
account for approximately 17% of worldwide chldkadl production capacity. According to IHS, the&hemical Company (Dow), the
Occidental Petroleum Corporation (Oxy), and Ax@dirporation (Axiall) are the three largest chldeadil producers in North
America. Approximately 75% of the total North Arizan capacity is located in the U.S. Gulf Coastarg

Many of our competitors are integrated producershtdrine, using some, or all, of their chlorin@guction in the manufacture of other
downstream products. In contrast, we are primaritgerchant producer of chlorine and sell the nitgjof our chlorine to merchant
customers. As a result, we supply a greater sffahee merchant chlorine market than our sharevefall industry capacity. We do utilize
chlorine to manufacture industrial bleach and hgbhoric acid. There is a worldwide market for dimisoda, which attracts imports and allc
exports depending on market conditions. All of competitors and the integrated producers of cidoskell caustic soda into the North
American merchant market.

The chlor alkali industry in North America is higirdompetitive, and many of our competitors, inchgilDow and Oxy, are substantially
larger and have greater financial resources thadave/hile the technologies to manufacture anasfpart chlorine and caustic soda are wi
available, the production facilities require lagital investments, and are subject to significagtlatory and permitting requirements.

We became one of the largest distributors of casstila in North America with the acquisition of KsAeel. We operate in a competitive
industry and compete with many producers, distalsiand sales agents offering chemicals equivédethie products we handle. The primary
competitive factors affecting the distribution mess is the availability of product, the price,touser service and delivery capabilities. Our
principal distribution competitors in North Amerigeclude Univar Inc., Brenntag AG and numerous $enaégional distributors.




We are among the largest manufacturers in the ti§itates of commercial small caliber ammunitioreldasn independent market
research sponsored by the National Shooting Sporiadation (NSSF). Formed in 1961, NSSF has a raeship of more than 8,000
manufacturers, distributors, firearms retailergating ranges, sportsman’s organizations and ks According to NSSF, our Winchester
business, Vista Outdoor Inc. (Vista), which begabhligly trading in February 2015, (formerly a paftAlliant Techsystems Inc. (ATK)) and
Remington Outdoor Company, Inc. (Remington) aretlihee largest commercial ammunition manufacturetee United States. The
ammunition industry is highly competitive with 0éista, Remington, numerous smaller domestic marufars and foreign producers
competing for sales to the commercial ammunitiost@mers. Many factors influence our ability to qguate successfully, including price,
delivery, service, performance, product innovatiod product recognition and quality, dependinghengroduct involved.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2014 , we had approximatelyB&@ployees, with 3,700 working in the United Statad 200 working in foreign
countries, primarily Canada. Various labor unicgpgresent a majority of our hourly-paid employesscbllective bargaining purposes.

The following labor contract is scheduled to expir@015 :

Location Number of Employees Expiration Date
Mclntosh (Chlor Alkali) 212 April 2015

While we believe our relations with our employeed ¢&heir various representatives are generallgfsatiory, we cannot assure that we
can conclude this labor contract or any other lalgpeements without work stoppages and cannoteafisairany work stoppages will not ha
material adverse effect on our business, finardatition or results of operations.

RESEARCH ACTIVITIES; PATENTS

Our research activities are conducted on a progiatp basis at a number of facilities. Companyaspeoed research expenditures were
$4.1 million in 2014 , $2.5 million in 2013 and &2nillion in 2012 .

We own or license a number of patents, patent egijins and trade secrets covering our productpeoaesses. We believe that, in the
aggregate, the rights under our patents and lises®eimportant to our operations, but we do nasiter any individual patent or license or
group of patents and licenses related to a spqmificess or product to be of material importancauototal business.

RAW MATERIALS AND ENERGY

We purchase the major portion of our raw mategglirements. The principal basic raw materialoforproduction of chlor alkali
products are salt, electricity, potassium chloraléfur dioxide and hydrogen. A portion of thetseded in our Chlor Alkali Products segmer
produced from internal resources. Lead, braspamgkellant are the principal raw materials usethenWinchester business. We typically
purchase our electricity, salt, potassium chlorgldfur dioxide, ammunition cartridge case cups empgber-based strip, and propellants
pursuant to multi-year contracts. We provide addél information with respect to specific raw s in the tables set forth under “Products
and Services.”

Electricity is the predominant energy source for manufacturing facilities. Most of our facilitiese served by utilities which generate

electricity principally from coal, hydroelectric @muclear power except at St. Gabriel, LA and Hesale NV which predominantly use natu
gas.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND TOXIC SUBSTANCES CONTROLS

In the United States, the establishment and impi¢ation of federal, state and local standardsdolege air, water and land quality
affect substantially all of our manufacturing Idoas. Federal legislation providing for regulatiointhe manufacture, transportation, use and
disposal of hazardous and toxic substances, anediation of contaminated sites has imposed additiegulatory requirements on industry,
particularly the chemicals industry. In additiaomplementation of environmental laws, such as thsdRrce Conservation and Recovery Act
and the Clean Air Act, has required and will con&ro require new capital expenditures and wiliéase operating costs. Our Canadian
facility is governed by federal environmental laadsministered by Environment Canada and by provircigironmental laws enforced by
administrative agencies. Many of these laws ameparable to the U.S. laws described above. We@mphste minimization and pollution
prevention programs at our manufacturing sitesvemére a party to various governmental and prigatéronmental actions associated with
former waste disposal sites and past manufactdaicitities. Charges to income for investigatorglaemedial efforts were material to
operating results in the past three years and reagdierial to operating results in future years.

See our discussion of our environmental mattersagoed in Item 3—“Legal Proceedings” below, the &tEnvironmental’of the notes
to consolidated financial statements containedem|8 and Item 7—“Management’s Discussion and Asialgf Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.”

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information in this For®-K, the following factors should be considereeimluating Olin and our
business. All of our forward-looking statementewdld be considered in light of these factors. Aiddal risks and uncertainties that we are
unaware of or that we currently deem immateriad atgy become important factors that affect us.

Sensitivity to Global Economic Conditions and Cycliality —Our operating results could be negatively affectedng economic
downturns.

The business of most of our customers, particulanlyvinyl, urethanes and pulp and paper custoarersto varying degrees, cyclical
and have historically experienced periodic dowrgurihese economic and industry downturns have tiesracterized by diminished product
demand, excess manufacturing capacity and, in sases, lower average selling prices. Therefonesmmnificant downturn in our customers’
businesses or in global economic conditions coeddlt in a reduction in demand for our products emad adversely affect our results of
operations or financial condition.

Although we do not generally sell a large perceataigour products directly to customers abroadyge part of our financial
performance is dependent upon a healthy economgniseorth America. Our customers sell their pradadbroad. As a result, our business
is affected by general economic conditions andrdénaors in Western Europe, South America and rmbEiast Asia, particularly China and
Japan, including fluctuations in interest ratestemer demand, labor and energy costs, currengygelsaand other factors beyond our
control. The demand for our customers’ produats, therefore, our products, is directly affectedsbgh fluctuations. In addition, our
customers could decide to move some or all of ghreiduction to lower cost, offshore locations, &md could reduce demand in North
America for our products. We cannot assure youdtants having an adverse effect on the industriegich we operate will not occur or
continue, such as a downturn in the Western Eurggeuth American, Asian or world economies, insesan interest rates or unfavorable
currency fluctuations. Economic conditions in atheggions of the world, predominantly Asia and Exgpcan increase the amount of caustic
soda produced and available for export to North Acae The increased caustic soda supply can pubaard pressure on our caustic soda
prices, negatively impacting our profitability.

Cyclical Pricing Pressure—Our profitability could be reduced by declines ireeage selling prices of our products, particulagline:
in the ECU netbacks for chlorine and caustic soda.

Our historical operating results reflect the cyalliand sometimes volatile nature of the chemicdlammunition industries. We
experience cycles of fluctuating supply and demarehch of our business segments, particularlyhloiCAlkali Products, which result in
changes in selling prices. Periods of high dem#ght supply and increasing operating margins tenesult in increases in capacity and
production until supply exceeds demand, generallgpwed by periods of oversupply and declining psic Another factor influencing demand
and pricing for chlorine and caustic soda is theepof natural gas. Higher natural gas priceseiase our customers’ and competitors’
manufacturing costs, and depending on the ratawade oil to natural gas prices, could make thess twmmpetitive in world
markets. Continued expansion offshore, particularliAsia, will continue to have an impact on theéEvalues as imported caustic soda
replaces some capacity in North America.
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Price in the chlor alkali industry is the major pligr selection criterion. We have little or naldi to influence prices in this large
commodity market. Decreases in the average saqlliltgs of our products could have a material agbseffect on our profitability. For
example, in the Chlor Alkali Products segment, aseg all other costs remain constant and internakamption remains approximately the
same, a $10 per ECU selling price change equatas &pproximate $14 million annual change in oueneles and pretax profit when we are
operating at full capacity. While we strive to maiin or increase our profitability by reducing tsothrough improving production efficiency,
emphasizing higher margin products and by contrglitransportation, selling and administration exggenve cannot assure you that these
efforts will be sufficient to offset fully the eft¢ of possible decreases in pricing on operatisglts.

Because of the cyclical nature of our businessessamnot assure you that pricing or profitabilitythe future will be comparable to any
particular historical period, including the mosteat period shown in our operating results. Wenoaassure you that the chlor alkali industry
will not experience adverse trends in the futurghat our operating results and/or financial ctindiwill not be adversely affected by them.

Our Chemical Distribution segment is also subjeatttanges in operating results as a result of @ldfiricing pressures. The prices at
which we resell the products that we distributenftiuctuate in accordance with the prices thapaaefor these products, which in turn are
driven by the underlying commaodity prices, sucltasstic soda, in accordance with supply and dereaadomics. We attempt to pass
commodity pricing changes to our customers, butmag be unable to or be delayed in doing so. Thiilitato pass through price increases ot
any limitation or delays in passing through pricereases in our Chemical Distribution segment cadkrsely affect our profitability.

Our Winchester segment is also subject to chamgepérating results as a result of cyclical prigingssures, but to a lesser extent than
the Chlor Alkali Products segment. Selling priofsmmunition are affected by changes in raw maltedsts and availability and customer
demand, and declines in average selling pricesamfyrts of our Winchester segment could adverdédgtaour profitability.

Imbalance in Demand for Our Chlor Alkali Products —A loss of a substantial customer for our chlomn&austic soda could cause
an imbalance in demand for these products, whicitddoave an adverse effect on our results of ojpersit

Chlorine and caustic soda are produced simultateans in a fixed ratio of 1.0 ton of chlorine tdltons of caustic soda. The loss of &
substantial chlorine or caustic soda customer coailse an imbalance in demand for our chlorinecandtic soda products. An imbalance in
demand may require us to reduce production of blolitrine and caustic soda or take other stepsreciothe imbalance. Since we cannot
store large quantities of chlorine, we may not lble & respond to an imbalance in demand for thesgucts as quickly or efficiently as some
of our competitors. If a substantial imbalanceusoed, we would need to reduce prices or take ahgons that could have a negative impact
on our results of operations and financial conditio

Security and Chemicals Transportation—New regulations on the transportation of hazardiesnicals and/or the security of
chemical manufacturing facilities and public polidyanges related to transportation safety couldtrgssignificantly higher operating costs.

The chemical industry, including the chlor alkaldustry, has proactively responded to the issuaterkto national security and
environmental concerns by starting new initiativelating to the security of chemicals industry fiiels and the transportation of hazardous
chemicals in the United States. Government aldte, state and federal levels could implement negulations that would impact the secu
of chemical plant locations and the transportatibhazardous chemicals. Our Chlor Alkali Produmisiness could be adversely impacted by
the cost of complying with any new regulations. r®usiness also could be adversely affected ihaitént were to occur at one of our
facilities or while transporting product. The enttef the impact would depend on the requiremehfatare regulations and the nature of an
incident, which are unknown at this time.

Effects of Regulation—Changes in legislation or government regulationgadicies, including tax policies, could have a emétl
adverse effect on our financial position or resaftsperations.

Legislation that may be passed by Congress or tegesiative bodies or new regulations that mayskaed by federal and other

administrative agencies could significantly affda sales, costs and profitability of our busineBse chemical and ammunition industries are
subject to legislative and regulatory actions, Whiould have a material adverse effect on our firmposition or results of operations.
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Cost Control —Our profitability could be reduced if we experierniacreasing raw material, utility, transportatmmogistics costs, or if
we fail to achieve our targeted cost reductions.

Our operating results and profitability are depemdgon our continued ability to control, and imsocases further reduce, our costs. |
we are unable to do so, or if costs outside ofooumtrol, particularly our costs of raw materialslities, transportation and similar costs,
increase beyond anticipated levels, our profitgbiiill decline.

For example, our Chlor Alkali product transportatimsts, particularly railroad shipment costs,asggnificant portion of our cost of
goods sold, and have been increasing over thespastal years. If the cost increases continueyandre unable to control those costs or pas
the increased costs on to customers, our profityiil our Chlor Alkali business would be negativelffected. Similarly, costs of commodity
metals and other materials used in our Winchestsinkss, such as copper and lead, can vary. éxwerience significant increases in these
costs and are unable to raise our prices to dffigehigher costs, the profitability in our Winchersbusiness would be negatively affected.

Environmental Costs—We have ongoing environmental costs, which coaldeha material adverse effect on our financialtposbr
results of operations.

The nature of our operations and products, inclyidire raw materials we handle, exposes us to shefiliabilities or claims with
respect to environmental matters. In additionaneeparty to various governmental and private emirental actions associated with past
manufacturing facilities and former waste dispait@gls. We have incurred, and expect to incur,ifsaggmt costs and capital expenditures in
complying with environmental laws and regulations.

The ultimate costs and timing of environmentaliliibs are difficult to predict. Liabilities undenvironmental laws relating to
contaminated sites can be imposed retroactivelyoana joint and several basis. One liable partydbe held responsible for all costs at a
regardless of fault, percentage of contributioth®site or the legality of the original dispos#Ve could incur significant costs, including
cleanup costs, natural resource damages, civilimirtal fines and sanctions and third-party lawsgiaiming, for example, personal injury
and/or property damage, as a result of past ordutiolations of, or liabilities under, environmahor other laws.

In addition, future events, such as changes toaremigorous enforcement of environmental lawsd¢oequire us to make additional
expenditures, modify or curtail our operations andtistall pollution control equipment.

Accordingly, it is possible that some of the matterwhich we are involved or may become involvemirhe resolved unfavorably to us,
which could materially adversely affect our finaalgdosition, cash flows or results of operatioBge “Environmental Matters” contained in
ltem 7—*Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofdficial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Litigation and Claims— We are subject to litigation and other claims, whiould cause us to incur significant expenses.

We are a defendant in a number of pending legalgadings relating to our present and former opmrati These include product
liability claims relating to ammunition and fireasrand proceedings alleging injurious exposure affiffs to various chemicals and other
substances (including proceedings based on allegeakures to asbestos). Frequently, the procegdifeging injurious exposure involve
claims made by numerous plaintiffs against mangmuigdints. However, because of the inherent unn&esiof litigation, we are unable to
predict the outcome of these proceedings and thierebinnot determine whether the financial impéety, will be material to our financial
position, cash flows or results of operations.

Information Security— A failure of our information technology systems,aorinterruption in their operation, could have a@enial
adverse effect on our business, financial conditioresults of operations.

Our operations are dependent on our ability togmtodur information systems, computer equipmentiafmimation databases from
systems failures. We rely on our information teadbgy systems generally to manage the day-to-dayadion of our business, operate
elements of our chlor alkali and ammunition mantifeing facilities, manage relationships with oustmmers, fulfill customer orders and
maintain our financial and accounting records.IUfas of our information technology systems cowddchused by internal or external events,
such as incursions by intruders or hackers, compingses, cyber-attacks, failures in hardwareaftvwgare, or power or telecommunication
fluctuations or failures. The failure of our infoeation technology systems to perform as anticipidedny reason or any significant breach of
security could disrupt our business and resuluimarous adverse consequences, including reducettieéness and efficiency of operations,
increased
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costs or loss of important information, any of whaould have a material adverse effect on our legsirfinancial condition or results of
operations. We have technology and informatiomsgcprocesses and disaster recovery plans iregtamitigate our risk to these
vulnerabilities. However, these measures may aadequate to ensure that our operations will aatierupted, should such an event occur.

Production Hazards—Our facilities are subject to operating hazardsictv may disrupt our business.

We are dependent upon the continued safe opermaftionr production facilities. Our production fatiés are subject to hazards
associated with the manufacture, handling, stosagetransportation of chemical materials and prtedand ammunition, including leaks and
ruptures, explosions, fires, inclement weather atdral disasters, unexpected utility disruptionswages, unscheduled downtime and
environmental hazards. From time to time in th&t pae have had incidents that have temporarily dbwn or otherwise disrupted our
manufacturing, causing production delays and riggpin liability for workplace injuries and fatals. Some of our products involve the
manufacture and/or handling of a variety of explesind flammable materials. Use of these productaur customers could also result in
liability if an explosion, fire, spill or other aictent were to occur. We cannot assure you thaviv@ot experience these types of incidents in
the future or that these incidents will not resulproduction delays or otherwise have a matedaksse effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

Credit Facilities— Weak industry conditions could affect our abilibydomply with the financial maintenance covenantsur senior
credit facility and certain tax-exempt bonds.

Our senior credit facility and our Gulf OpportuniZpne Act of 2005 (Go Zone) and American Recoveny Reinvestment Act of 2009
(Recovery Zone) tax-exempt bonds include certaiarfcial maintenance covenants requiring us to xa#exrl a maximum leverage ratio and to
maintain a minimum coverage ratio.

Depending on the magnitude and duration of chkalatyclical downturns, including deteriorationpnices and volumes, there can be
no assurance that we will continue to be in conmgkawith these ratios. If we failed to comply wither of these covenants in a future perioc
and were not able to obtain waivers from the leadeereunder, we would need to refinance our cusemior credit facility and the Go Zone
and Recovery Zone bonds. However, there can lassrance that such refinancing would be avaitables on terms that would be accept:
to us or at all.

Credit and Capital Market Conditions —Adverse conditions in the credit and capital m&ghaay limit or prevent our ability to
borrow or raise capital.

While we believe we have facilities in place thadsld allow us to borrow funds as needed, advavaditions in the credit and financial
markets could prevent us from obtaining financihthe need arises. Our ability to invest in ousimesses and refinance or repay maturing
debt obligations could require access to the ceeditcapital markets and sufficient bank credidito support cash requirements. If we are
unable to access the credit and capital marketgowte experience a material adverse effect orfinancial position or results of operations.

Indebtedness—Our indebtedness could adversely affect our firdmmondition and limit our ability to grow and cqete, which could
prevent us from fulfilling our obligations underrdndebtedness.

As of December 31, 2014 , we had $675.1 milliomdebtedness outstanding, including $4.5 milliopresenting the unrecognized gain
related to $161.5 million of interest rate swapBPatember 31, 2014 This outstanding indebtedness does not includ&p65.0 million senic
revolving credit facility of which we had $257.7 Iun available as of December 31, 2014 becausbatkeissued $7.3 million of letters of
credit. As of December 31, 2014 , our indebtednessesented 40.0% of our total capitalization.D&tember 31, 2014 , $16.4 million of our
indebtedness was due within one year.

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our firremndition and limit our ability to fund workinzapital, capital expenditures and
other general corporate purposes, to accommodatettyby reducing funds otherwise available for ottwrporate purposes, and to compete,
which in turn could prevent us from fulfilling oobligations under our indebtedness. In additiom,indebtedness could make us more
vulnerable to any continuing downturn in generaresnic conditions and reduce our ability to resptindhanging business and economic
conditions. Despite our level of indebtedness téims of our senior credit facility and our exigtindentures permit us to borrow additional
money. If we borrow more money, the risks relatedur indebtedness could increase.
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Pension Plans—The impact of declines in global equity and fixedome markets on asset values and any declinateirest rates used
to value the liabilities in our pension plans maguit in higher pension costs and the need to fis@gension plans in future years in material
amounts.

Under Accounting Standard Codification (ASC) 71®tapensation—Retirement Benefits” (ASC 715), we réed an aftetax charge c
$86.6 million ( $142.0 million pretax) to sharehelsl equity as of December 31, 2014 for our penaiwh other postretirement plans. This
charge reflected a 60 -basis point decrease ipl#rs’ discount rate and the negative impact ohtively mandated mortality tables, partially
offset by favorable performance on plan assets\du2014 . In 2013 , we recorded an after-tax chaf@.7 million ($12.5 million pretax) to
shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 2013 fopeunsion and other postretirement plans. Thisgeheeflected unfavorable performance or
plan assets during 2013, partially offset by &@6is point increase in the plans’ discount r&e2012 , we recorded an after-tax charge of
$101.9 million ($166.8 million pretax) to sharehers! equity as of December 31, 2012 for our penaiwh other postretirement plans. This
charge reflected a 100-basis point decrease ipléms’ discount rate, partially offset by the faadole performance on plan assets during
2012 . The non-cash charges to shareholders’yedaihot affect our ability to borrow under our Egrcredit facility.

The determinations of pension expense and pensiatirfg are based on a variety of rules and reguiati Changes in these rules and
regulations could impact the calculation of pengitan liabilities and the valuation of pension p&ssets. They may also result in higher
pension costs, additional financial statement disale, and accelerate the need to fully fund timsipe plan. During the fourth quarter of
2014, the Society of Actuaries (SOA) issued thalfreport of its mortality tables and mortality immgement scales. The updated mortality dat
reflected increasing life expectancies in the Whiates. During the third quarter of 2012, the Vivig Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century
Act” (MAP-21) became law. The new law changes tleeimanism for determining interest rates to be @isedalculating minimum defined
benefit pension plan funding requirements. Interatss are determined using an average of rates 36ryear period, which can have the effec
of increasing the annual discount rate, reduciegdéfined benefit pension plan obligation and pid#in reducing or eliminating the minimum
annual funding requirement. The new law also ireedgpremiums paid to the Pension Benefit Guarantp@ation (PBGC). During the third
quarter of 2014, the “Highway and Transportationding Act” (HATFA 2014) became law, which includas extension of MAP-21's defined
benefit plan funding stabilization relief. Basedaur plan assumptions and estimates, we will noeheired to make any cash contributions to
the domestic qualified defined benefit pension @laleast through 2015 and under the new law map@oequired to make any additional
contributions for at least the next five years. #éehave a small Canadian qualified defined bepefitsion plan to which we made cash
contributions of $0.8 million in 2014 , $1.0 millian 2013 and $0.9 million in 2012 , and we antitgapproximately $1 million of cash
contributions in 2015 . At December 31, 2014 ,ghgected benefit obligation of $2,117.4 milliorceeded the market value of assets in our
qualified defined benefit pension plans by $138ilfion , as calculated under ASC 715.

In addition, the impact of declines in global egund fixed income markets on asset values maytiieshigher pension costs and may
increase and accelerate the need to fund the peplsios in future years. For example, holding#ier assumptions constant, a Ha3is poir
decrease or increase in the assumed long-ternofragéurn on plan assets would have decreasedmrared, respectively, the 2014 defined
benefit pension plans income by approximately $&7illon.

Holding all other assumptions constant, a 50-bagiist decrease in the discount rate used to caé&plkension income for 2014 and the
projected benefit obligation as of December 31 42@buld have decreased pension income by $0.5omilind increased the projected benefit
obligation by $118.0 million. A 50-basis point iease in the discount rate used to calculate pemsémme for 2014 and the projected benefit
obligation as of December 31, 2014 would have msed pension income by $0.7 million and decredsegrpjected benefit obligation by
$115.0 million.

Labor Matters— We cannot assure you that we can conclude futbig leontracts or any other labor agreements withauk
stoppages.

Various labor unions represent a majority of ounrhepaid employees for collective bargaining pwses. The following labor contract
is scheduled to expire in 2015:

Location Number of Employees Expiration Date
Mclintosh (Chlor Alkali) 212 April 2015

While we believe our relations with our employeed their various representatives are generallgfsatiory, we cannot assure that we
can conclude this labor contract or any other lagweements without work stoppages and cannotetizatr any work stoppages will not ha
material adverse effect on our business, finarabition or results of operations.
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Debt Service—We may not be able to generate sufficient casledce our debt, which may require us to refinamgeindebtedness
default on our scheduled debt payments.

Our ability to generate sufficient cash flow fromersations to make scheduled payments on our deeinds on a range of economic,
competitive and business factors, many of whichoaitside our control. We cannot assure you thabasiness will generate sufficient cash
flow from operations. If we are unable to meet exppenses and debt obligations, we may need twarefe all or a portion of our indebtedness
on or before maturity, sell assets or raise equitde cannot assure you that we would be able tnanee any of our indebtedness, sell assets
raise equity on commercially reasonable terms aflaivhich could cause us to default on our olilyes and impair our liquidity. Our
inability to generate sufficient cash flow to shtisur debt obligations, or to refinance our obligas on commercially reasonable terms, woulc
have an adverse effect on our business, finaneiaiton and results of operations, as well as wnability to satisfy our debt obligations. See
“Liquidity and Other Financing Arrangements” comgadl in Item 7—*Management’s Discussion and Analg$isinancial Condition and
Results of Operations” and Item 7A—"Quantitativel @ualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.”

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
Item 2. PROPERTIES

We have manufacturing sites at 13 separate locationine states, Canada and Australia. Most naetuifing sites are owned although
a number of small sites are leased. We also otendinals in 3 states and Canada and lease 26n&rfacilities in 19 states. We listed the
principal locations at or from which our produciglaservices are manufactured, distributed or madkit the tables set forth under the captior
“Products and Services” contained in ltem 1—"Bussé

We lease warehouses, terminals and distributianesffand space for executive and branch salessféind service departments.
Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Saltville

We have completed all work in connection with refatdn of mercury contamination at the site of tammer mercury cell chlor alkali
plant in Saltville, VA required to date. In mid@® the Trustees for natural resources in the Neotlk Holston River, the Main Stem Holston
River and associated floodplains, located in Snayith Washington Counties in Virginia and in Sullivaand Hawkins Counties in Tennessee
notified us of, and invited our participation im assessment of alleged damages to natural resaasdting from the release of mercury. The
Trustees also notified us that they have made lanpnary determination that we are potentially liaor natural resource damages in said
rivers and floodplains. We agreed to participatehe assessment. We and the Trustees have emrelilscussions concerning a resolutio
this matter. In light of the ongoing discussionsl inherent uncertainties of the assessment, weotan this time determine whether the
financial impact, if any, of this matter will be teaial to our financial position or results of opgons. See “Environmental Matters” contained
in Item 7—"Management’s Discussion and Analysis-ofancial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Other

As part of the continuing environmental investigatby federal, state and local governments of wdisfgosal sites, we have entered
a number of settlement agreements requiring uaitiicpate in the investigation and cleanup of ebar of sites. Under the terms of such
settlements and related agreements, we may beeddoi manage or perform one or more elementssiéaleanup, or to manage the entire
remediation activity for a number of parties, andsequently seek recovery of some or all of suslisdoom other Potentially Responsible
Parties (PRPs). In many cases, we do not knowltimate costs of our settlement obligations attiime of entering into particular settlement
agreements, and our liability accruals for our gditions under those agreements are often subje@ridicant management judgment on an
ongoing basis. Those cost accruals are provideith flmccordance with generally accepted accourgiimgiples and our accounting policies set
forth in “Environmental Matters” contained in ItefaR—"Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finah€Ciandition and Results of
Operations.”
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We, and our subsidiaries, are defendants in vaother legal actions (including proceedings basedll®ged exposures to asbestos)
incidental to our past and current business aw#it At December 31, 2014 and 2013, our congeliibalance sheets included liabilities for
these legal actions of $22.1 million and $19.3iomill, respectively. These liabilities do not irdducosts associated with legal
representation. Based on our analysis, and cairsidéhe inherent uncertainties associated witgdtton, we do not believe that it is
reasonably possible that these legal actions vatiemially adversely affect our financial positimash flows or results of operations.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.

Executive Officers of the Registrant as of February5, 2015

Name and Age Office Served as an Olin Officer Since
Joseph D. Rupp (64) Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 1996
Scott R. Abel (51) President, K. A. Steel Chemicals Inc. 2014
Frank W. Chirumbole (56) Vice President and President, Chlor Alkali Products 2011
Stephen C. Curley (63) Vice President and Treasurer 2005
Dolores J. Ennico (62) Vice President, Human Resources 2009
John E. Fischer (59) President and Chief Operating Officer 2004
G. Bruce Greer, Jr. (54) Vice President, Strategic Planning and Informafiechnology 2005
John L. Mcintosh (60) Senior Vice President, Chemicals 1999
Thomas J. O’Keefe (56) Vice President and President, Winchester 2011
George H. Pain (64) Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segretar 2002
Todd A. Slater (51) Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 2005
Randee N. Sumner (40) Vice President and Controller 2014

No family relationship exists between any of thexabnamed executive officers or between any of thechany of our directors. Such
officers were elected to serve, subject to the®ys|, until their respective successors are chosen.

All executive officers, except Messrs. Abel, Chitumte and O’Keefe, and Ms. Sumner, have served esutixe officers for more than
five years.

Scott R. Abel joined Olin in April 2014, and becamesident, K. A. Steel Chemicals Inc. on AugustZZ4. From 2012 to 2014, he
served as Commercial Vice President at KOST US4, dand from 2009 to 2012, he served as Businegxir— Glycols at Archer Daniels
Midland Company. From 2008 to 2009, he served ab&@IMarketing Director — Acrylic Monomers; from@®to 2007, he served as Senior
Marketing Manager — Chlor Alkali; and from 1989dhbgh 2007, he served in various sales and markptsiions, all at The Dow Chemical
Company.

Frank W. Chirumbole was appointed Vice PresidedtRresident, Chlor Alkali Products effective A8, 2012, and assumed his
current duties on April 28, 2011. From October@itil April 2012, he served as President, Chltkah Products; from 2009 until Septem
2010, he served as Vice President, General MaraBérach; from 2007 to 2009 he served as Vice Beasj Supply Chain Management; and
from 2001 to 2007 he served as Vice President, Kéatwring and Engineering, all in the Chlor AlkRlioducts Division.

Thomas J. O’Keefe was appointed Vice PresidentPardident, Winchester effective April 26, 2012, asdumed his current duties on
April 28, 2011. From 2010 to 2011, he served a&siBent, Winchester; from 2008 to 2010, he sergediee President, Operations and
Planning and from 2006 to 2008 he was Vice Presidéanufacturing Operations, in each case, in thecWester Division. From 2001 to
2006, he was Vice President, Manufacturing and i@eging for Olin’s former Brass Division.

Randee N. Sumner was appointed Vice President anttdler effective May 4, 2014. From December 20b#l April 2014, she
served as Division Financial Officer for K. A. St&hemicals Inc. From 2010 until December 2012, s#r@ed as Assistant Controller; from
2008 to 2010, she served as Director, Corporat@éming and Financial Reporting; and from 2006Q06&, she served as Manager, Corporat
Accounting and Financial Reporting, all for OliniQoration.
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PART Il

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, REL ATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

As of January 30, 2015, we had 3,627 record hsldeour common stock.
Our common stock is traded on the New York StockHaxge.

The high and low sales prices of our common stagkng each quarterly period in 2014 and 2013 ated below. A dividend of $0.20
per common share was paid during each of the foartgrs in 2014 and 2013 .

First Second Third Fourth

2014 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Market price of common stock per New York Stock Exege composite transactions

High $ 29.1¢ $ 2928 $ 28.06 $ 25.9i

Low 24.5] 26.4: 25.2¢ 20.4:
2013
Market price of common stock per New York Stock Exege composite transactions

High $ 254: $ 26.08 $ 2517 $ 295

Low 21.2¢ 22.7¢ 22.5( 21.7¢

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of
(or Units) Purchased as Shares (or Units) that

Average Price Part of Publicly May Yet Be Purchased
Total Number of Shares Paid Announced Plans or Under the Plans or
Period (or Units) Purchased per Share (or Unit) Programs Programs
October 1-31, 2014 60,000 $23.93 60,000
November 1-30, 2014 414,700 25.00 414,700
December 1-31, 2014 356,200 23.19 356,200
Total 6,062,657V

(1) On April 24, 2014, we announced a share rémage program approved by the board of directorthiopurchase of up to 8 million

shares of common stock that will terminate on Ap4i| 2017. Through December 31, 2014 , 1,937sBéBes had been repurchased,
6,062,657 shares remained available for purchaderuhis program.
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Performance Graph

This graph compares the total shareholder returouorrommon stock with the cumulative total retafrthe Standard & Poor’'s 1000
Index (the “S&P 1000”), our current peer group (tReer Group B”) and our prior peer group (the “P@eoup A"). Peer Group A consists of
six companies comprised of: ATK, Axiall, Dow, OXPG Industries, Inc. and Westlake Chemical CorfmraPeer Group B consists of five
companies comprised of: ATK, Axiall, Dow, Oxy ande¥tlake Chemical Corporation.

Our board adjusted the peer group to better refl@etpanies that are in our current line of businB&G Industries, Inc. was removed
from Peer Group B as they have divested from #t@minmodity chemicals business. Our board believatsthie current peer group provides a
better and more accurate basis to compare ourrpgafae, as the compensation committee uses ougpagy for certain benchmarks in
executive compensation.

COMPARISON OF FIVE YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among Olin Corporation, the 5&F 1000Index,
Peer Group A and Peer Group B

5250

X0 -

5150 4

S100

850 -
50 !
1200 1210 1211 12712 12413 214
—&— Oibin Corparakon reegiern AP 1000 =2 Peer Growp A —#—Peer Growp B

1208 1210 1211 1212 1213 1214

Ofin Corporation 100 122 122 139 192 1566
SEP 1000 100 127 125 147 200 217
PeerGroup A 100 126 1% 124 169 ir2
Peer Group B 100 124 116 113 153 149

Copryrights 2014 Srandard & Poor's, 2 &visienof The Melrae-FEll Comparces Ine. AH ctaiin rassrvad.

Data is for the five-year period from December 3109 through December 31, 2014. The cumulativeméhcludes reinvestment of
dividends. The Peer Groups are weighted in acooelaith market capitalization (closing stock pnieltiplied by the number of shares
outstanding) as of the beginning of each of the figars covered by the performance graph. We letéclithe weighted return for each year by
multiplying (a) the percentage that each corponégionarket capitalization represented of the totatket capitalization for all corporations in
the Peer Groups for such year by (b) the totaledt@der return for that corporation for such year.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

TEN-YEAR SUMMARY

Operations

Sales

Cost of goods sold
Selling and administratior
Restructuring charges
Other operating income

Earnings of non-
consolidated affiliates

Interest expense

Interest and other income
(expense)

Income before taxes fromr
continuing operations

Income tax provision

Income from continuing
operations

Discontinued operations,
net

Cumulative effect of
accounting changes, net

Net income (loss)
Financial position

Cash and cash equivalents,
short-term investments and

restricted cash

Working capital, excludin
cash and cash equivalent
and short-term investmer

Property, plant and
equipment, net

Total assets

Capitalization:
Short-term debt
Long-term debt
Shareholders’ equity

Total capitalization

Per share data

Basic:

Continuing operation

Discontinued
operations, net

Accounting changes,
net

Net income (loss)
Diluted:

Continuing operations $

Discontinued
operations, net

AN Aanniintina AlhAanaAaA,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
($ and shares in millions, except per share data)
$ 2241 $ 251¢ $2,18 $1,961 $1,58¢ $1,53: $1,76F $1,277 $1,04C $ 95t
1,85 2,03¢ 1,74¢ 1,574 1,35( 1,22: 1,371 1,03t 792 682
17C 19C 177 161 134 13t 137 12¢ 12¢ 12¢
(16) (6) C) (11) (34) — — — — —
2 1 8 9 2 9 1 2 7 9
2 3 3 1C 30 38 39 4€ 45 37
44 39 26 3C 25 12 13 22 20 20
1 — (10) 17€ 2 1 (20) 12 12 20
163 25( 22€ 38C 77 21C 25¢ 151 163 191
58 71 76 13¢€ 12 74 10C 5C 39 74
10t 17¢ 15C 24z 65 13€ 15€ 101 124 117
1 — — — — — — (110) 26 21
— - - - - = == = 06
$ 106 $ 17¢ $ 15C $ 242 $ 65 $ 13€¢ $ 156 $ (99 $ 15C $13¢
$ 257 % 312 $ 177 $ 357 $ 561 $ 45¢ $ 247 $ 332 $ 27€¢  $304
182 12t 15C 7€ 33 91 24 (14) 22% 191
931 98¢ 1,03¢ 88t 67t 69t 63C 504 251 227
2,69¢ 2,80: 2,77¢ 2,45( 2,04¢ 1,932 1,72C 1,731 1,64z 1,80z
16 13 24 12 78 — — 1C 2 1
65¢ 67¢ 69C 524 41¢ 39¢ 252 24¢ 252 257
1,01z 1,101 99¢ 98¢ 83C 822 70& 664 54z 427
$ 168 $ 1,79 $1,71z $1,522 $1,32¢ $1,22( $ 957 $ 92 $ 797 368t
$ 132 % 224 $187 $30z $08: $174 $20& $13¢ $1.7C $1.65
0.01 — — — — — — (149 0.3€  0.3C
— — — — — — — — —  (0.09
$ 132 % 2242 $187 $30: $08: $174 $20&¢ $(0.12 $2.0€ $1.87
132 % 221 $18: $29¢ $081 $17: $207 $13€ $1.7C %16t
0.01 — — — — — — (149 0.3€  0.2¢



net

(0.0€)

Net income (loss) $ 18X 221 $18: $29¢ $081 $17: $207 $(0.12 $20€ $1.8¢
Common Cash
Dividends 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C
Market price of commor
stock:
High 29.2¢ 29.52 23.4¢ 27.1¢ 22.3¢ 19.7¢ 30.3¢ 24.5: 22.68 25.3¢
Low 20.4: 21.2¢ 18.4( 16.11 14.3¢ 8.97 12.52 15.97 1422  16.6¢
Year end 22.71 28.8¢ 21.5¢ 19.6¢ 20.52 17.52 18.0¢ 19.3¢ 16.52  19.6¢
Other
Capital expenditures $ 72 91 $ 25€ $ 201 $ 85 $ 13t $ 18 $ 7€ 62 $ 63
Depreciation and
amortization 13¢ 13t 111 9¢ 87 72 70 48 38 36
Common dividends paid 63 64 64 64 63 63 61 5¢ 58 57
Repurchases of common
stock 65 36 3 4 — — — — — —
Current ratio 2.2 2.1 1.7 2.C 2.2 2.8 1.7 1.8 2.2 2.3
Total debt to total
capitalization 40.(% 38.€% 41.7% 352% 37.4% 32.6% 26.&% 28.1% 31.&% 37.%
Effective tax rate 35.5% 28.% 33.% 36.% 15.71% 354% 38.&% 33.1% 24.2% 38./%
Average common shares
outstanding - diluted 79.7 80.¢ 81.C 80.¢ 79.¢ 78.% 76.1 74.% 72.¢ 71.€
Shareholders 3,60( 3,90( 4,10¢ 4,40( 4,60( 4,90( 5,10( 5,30( 5,70C  6,10(
Employees? 3,90( 4,10( 4,10C 3,80( 3,70( 3,70C 3,60( 3,60( 3,10C  2,90(

Our Selected Financial Data reflects the Metaldn@ss (sold in 2007) as discontinued operationsceSAugust 31, 2007, our Selected
Financial Data reflects the Pioneer acquisitiomc& February 28, 2011, our Selected Financial Deftacts the acquisition of the remaining
50% of the SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership, whighk refer to as SunBelt. Since August 22, 2012 Smlected Financial Data reflects the

acquisition of KA Steel.

(1) Employee data exclude employees who workegetrnment-owned/contractoperated facilitie:
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FI NANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
BUSINESS BACKGROUND

Our operations are concentrated in three busireggaents: Chlor Alkali Products, Chemical Distribatand Winchester. Chlor Alkali
Products and Winchester are both capital intensigeufacturing businesses. Chlor Alkali Productsraping rates are closely tied to the
general economy. Each segment has a commodityeateimit, and therefore, our ability to influenmecing is quite limited on the portion of
the segment’s business that is strictly commod@ur Chlor Alkali Products and Chemical Distributibusinesses are commodity businesses
where all supplier products are similar and pricthe major supplier selection criterion. We hitle or no ability to influence prices in this
large, global commodity market. Cyclical price 8gs, driven by changes in supply/demand, can hepabnd significant and, given capacity
in our Chlor Alkali Products business, can leadldny significant changes in our overall profitatyili Winchester also has a commodity eler
to its business, but a majority of Winchester amitlmmis sold as a branded consumer product whemestare opportunities to differentiate
certain offerings through innovative new productelepment and enhanced product performance. \&bilgpetitive pricing versus other
branded ammunition products is important, it isthetonly factor in product selection.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS AND HIGHLIGHTS
2014 Year

In 2014, Chlor Alkali Products’ segment income A480.1 million compared to $203.8 million in 20Chlor Alkali Products’segmen
income was lower than the prior year as a resuthwér product prices, predominantly caustic s@aa decreased chlorine and caustic soda
volumes. These decreases were partially offseelsyethsed operating costs, primarily related to iemhiction efforts that were implemented
during 2014 and increased shipments of hydrochhrid and potassium hydroxide. Operating rateshiloiCAlkali Products were 80% in 2014
and 84% in 2013. The lower operating rate in 2044 affected by planned and unplanned customer esliaghe second half of 2014.

Our 2014 ECU netbacks of approximately $505 wefé ldwer than the 2013 ECU netbacks of approxime#8B0 due to lower caus
soda prices. In the first quarter of 2014, we ameed a chlorine price increase of $50 per ton aralatic soda price increase of $50 per ton,
which included the reinstatement of the fourth ¢eranf 2013 $40 per ton caustic soda price incrteBse 2014 chlorine price increase was not
successful. In the second quarter of 2014, we arcezlian additional $60 per ton caustic soda pniceease. Neither of these caustic soda |
increases were successful. In the third quart@0a#, an additional caustic soda price increaseanasunced for $30 per ton. In the fourth
quarter of 2014, the caustic soda price indiceseeed a total of $30 per ton. The benefit ofitiisease should impact the first quarter of 2
results. Also in the fourth quarter of 2014, aniddal caustic soda price increase was announ@me$40 per ton. In January 2015, a chlorine
price increase of $75 per ton was announced. WWndesuccess of the first quarter 2015 chlorineepiricrease and the fourth quarter 2014
caustic soda price increase are not yet knownmeigerity of the benefit, if realized, would impastcond quarter 2015 results. ECU netbacl|
the first quarter of 2015 are forecast to be highan the fourth quarter of 2014 ECU netbacks praximately $490 as a result of higher
chlorine and caustic soda prices.

Chemical Distribution segment income was breakéne&914 compared to $9.7 million in 2013. Chemidadtribution segment income
was lower than the prior year primarily due to @ased caustic soda volumes. Depreciation and aatioth expense included in segment
income for the years ended December 31, 2014 ab8 @0$15.8 million and $15.4 million, respectivelyere primarily associated with the
acquisition fair value adjustment related to the 8#&el acquisition.

Winchester segment income was $127.3 millim@014, which represented the second highest Efvatgment income in at least the
two decades, compared to $143.2 million in 2012 décrease in segment income compared to laspyiezarily reflects a lower level of
demand for shotshell and rifle ammunition. The kigthan historical commercial demand level thataneig November 2012 continued throi
the second quarter of 2014. Beginning in the thirdrter of 2014, Winchester began to experienaechng in commercial demand from the
2013 level. However, the second half of 2014 coneciaédemand remained stronger than 2011 levels décrease in demand was partially
offset by improved selling prices and lower costsluding the impact of decreased costs associaitidour new centerfire operation in
Oxford, MS.

Income from discontinued operations, net for theryanded December 31, 2014 included an after timxaja0.7 million ($4.6 million
pretax) for the favorable resolution of certainenthity obligations related to our Metals businesdd ;1 2007.
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Financing

In August 2014, we redeemed our $150.0 million B%&enior notes (2019 Notes), which would have redton August 15, 2019. We
recognized interest expense of $9.5 million for¢hk premium and the write-off of unamortized dedel debt issuance costs and unamortizec
discount related to this action. We anticipateriegeexpense savings of approximately $10 milliorirdy the first year after the redemption of
these notes.

On June 24, 2014, we entered into a new five-yéab$® million senior credit facility consisting af$265.0 million senior revolving
credit facility, which replaced our previous $26&lion senior revolving credit facility, and a $2.0 million delayed-draw term loan facility.
In August 2014, we drew the entire $150.0 millidritee term loan and used the proceeds to redeer20d® Notes. The new $415.0 million
senior credit facility will expire in June 2019.

In December 2014, we repaid $12.2 million due uriderannual requirements of the SunBelt Notes @@ ®illion due under the
required quarterly installments of the $150.0 roillterm loan facility.

During 2014, we repurchased and retired 2.5 milibares with a total value of $64.8 million.
Restructurings

On December 12, 2014, we announced that we had thadkecision to permanently close the portiorhefBecancour, Canada chlor
alkali facility that has been shut down since latae 2014. This action reduces the facility’s clléali capacity by 185,00@ns. The plant wi
now predominantly focus on bleach and hydrochladidl, which are value-added products, as well astasoda. In the fourth quarter of
2014, we recorded pretax restructuring charged 0f@million for the writesff of equipment and facility costs, employee sawnee and relate
benefit costs, lease and other contract terminaiists and a non-cash pension curtailment chalagedeto these actions. We expect to incur
additional restructuring charges through 2016 gfraximately $5 million related to the shut dowrtlois portion of the facility.

On December 9, 2010, our board of directors appt@vplan to eliminate our use of mercury in the afacture of chlor alkali
products. Under the plan, the 260,000 tons of argreell capacity at our Charleston, TN facility sweonverted to 200,000 tons of membrane
capacity capable of producing both potassium hyideoand caustic soda. The board of directors apgwoved plans to reconfigure our
Augusta, GA facility to manufacture bleach andrilistte caustic soda, while discontinuing chlor #lk@anufacturing at this site. The
completion of these projects eliminated our chlikalkproduction using mercury cell technology. Foe years ended December 31, 2014 ,
2013 and 2012, we recorded pretax restructurirgges of $3.8 million , $3.7 million and $2.3 nuolii , respectively, for employee severance
and related benefit costs, employee relocatiorscéatility exit costs, write-off of equipment afatility costs and lease and other contract
termination costs related to these actions.

On November 3, 2010, we announced that we had thaddecision to relocate the Winchester centepiistnl and rifle ammunition
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to @ud, MS. This relocation, when completed, is fastdo reduce Winchester's annual
operating costs by approximately $35 million to $dillion . We expect the centerfire relocation jprt to generate Winchester operating cost
savings of approximately $30 million in 2015. Catent with this relocation decision in 2010, wdiated an estimated $110 million five-year
project, which includes approximately $80 milliohaapital spending. The capital spending was alytfinanced by $31 million of grants
provided by the State of Mississippi and local gaweents. In October 2011, we opened the new darteistol and rifle production facility i
Oxford, MS and, during 2013, the relocation of teaterfire pistol manufacturing equipment was catgul. During 2014, the centerfire rifle
manufacturing equipment was in the process of belagated, and by December 1, 2014, all commeceiaferfire rifle ammunition was
manufactured in Oxford, MS. During 2014 , all ofWhester’s centerfire pistol ammunition and apprately 55% of Winchester’s centerfire
rifle ammunition was manufactured in Oxford, MS.e\8lrrently expect to complete this relocationhmy énd of 2016. Once completed,
Winchester expects to have the most modern cemenfnmunition production facility in North Ameridaor the years ended December 31,
2014 , 2013 and 2012, we recorded pretax restingtaharges of $1.9 million , $1.8 million and $@nillion , respectively, for employee
severance and related benefit costs, employeeat@oocosts and facility exit costs related to ¢hastions. We expect to incur additional
restructuring charges through 2016 of approxima®8lynillion related to the transfer of these operet.
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2013 Year

In 2013, Chlor Alkali Products’ segment income #293.8 million compared to $263.2 million in 20Chlor Alkali Products’segmen
income in 2013 was lower than 2012 as a resubbwél product prices, primarily hydrochloric aciddazhlorine, and increased operating costs
associated with planned maintenance outages, hibetricity costs primarily due to increased nakgias prices and higher depreciation
expense. These decreases were partially offset Bt &0 million favorable contract settlement. Gyieig rates in Chlor Alkali Products were
84% in 2013, which reflected the capacity reductitivat occurred in fourth quarter of 2012, and 80%012.

Our 2013 ECU netbacks of approximately $560 werd@®&r than the 2012 ECU netbacks of approximéaselys due to lower chlorir
prices partially offset by higher caustic soda @sidn the first quarter of 2013, a caustic sodieepncrease of $50 per ton was announced and
chlorine price increase of $60 per ton was annadiritlee 2013 chlorine price increase was not sufdes$s the second quarter of 2013, we
announced an additional $40 per ton caustic sade fircrease. In the third quarter of 2013, an tmlthl caustic soda price increase was
announced for $30 per ton. Finally in the fourtlager of 2013, an additional caustic soda pricesiase was announced for $40 per ton. Dt
2013, caustic soda prices increased, but were thareoffset by lower chlorine prices.

Chemical Distribution segment income was $9.7 onllin 2013 compared to $4.5 million in 2012. Chaahistribution segment
income in 2013 was higher than 2012 as a resuhieofdditional period of our ownership. Depreciatmd amortization expense included in
segment income for the years ended December 338,281 2012 of $15.4 million and $5.5 million, resipeely, were primarily associated w
the acquisition fair value adjustment related ® K\ Steel acquisition.

Winchester segment income of $143.2 million in 204Bich represented the highest level of segmemane in at least the last two
decades, improved 159% compared to 2012 segmerhaof $55.2 million. The increase in segment inedm2013 compared to 2012
reflects the impact of increased volumes due tatmtinuation of the stronger than historical dechtirat began in the fourth quarter of 2012,
improved selling prices and decreased costs, iimguthe impact of decreased costs associated witm@w centerfire operation in Oxford, N

Other income (expense) in 2013 included a gairbds $illion on the sale of our equity interest itimaited liability company that owns
a bleach related chemical manufacturing facilitedlsh joint venture).

Income tax provision for 2013 included $11.4 milliof favorable adjustments associated with therakipn of the statutes of limitations
in federal and state jurisdictions, $8.3 millionb&hefit associated with reductions in valuatidave&nces on our capital loss carryforwards an
$1.9 million of benefit associated with the Reskatcedit under Section 41 of the U.S. Internal RenseCode (Research Credit), which were
partially offset by $1.8 million of expense assé®ihwith changes in tax contingencies and $1.3anilbf expense associated with increases ir
valuation allowances on certain state tax creditsyéorwards.

During 2013, we entered into sale/leaseback agnetsnfier bleach trailers and chlorine, caustic saad bleach railcars. We received
proceeds from the sales of $35.8 million.

In December 2013, we repaid $12.2 million due uriderannual requirements of the SunBelt Notesaiudry 2013, we also repaid the
$11.4 million 6.5% Senior Notes (2013 Notes), wHieltame due. These were redeemed using cash.

During 2013, we repurchased and retired 1.5 milfibares with a total value of $36.2 million undes share repurchase plan approved
by our board of directors on July 21, 2011.

2012 Year
KA Steel Acquisitior
On August 22, 2012, we acquired 100% of private{diKA Steel, on a debt free basis, for $336.6iarilin cash, after receiving the
final working capital adjustment of $1.9 millionsAf the date of acquisition, KA Steel had casheagsh equivalents of $26.2 million. KA

Steel is one of the largest distributors of caustida in North America and manufactures and stdkch in the Midwest. As part of the
acquisition, we expensed $8.3 million of acquisitamsts during 2012.
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For segment reporting purposes, KA Steel compttse£hemical Distribution segment. Our resultstfieryear ended December 31,
2012 included KA Steel sales of $156.3 million &4d5 million of segment income, which included depation and amortization expense of
$5.5 million, primarily associated with the acqti@i fair value adjustment related to the KA Staedjuisition.

As a result of acquiring KA Steel, we expect syiesdo be realized by the Chemical Distribution &tdor Alkali Products segments.
These synergies include opportunities to sell &mithl volumes of products we produce such as aassta, bleach, hydrochloric acid and
potassium hydroxide through KA Steel and to opterfizight cost and logistics assets between ounrGklkali Products segment and KA
Steel. Also, under the terms of the acquisitiorthlparties agreed to make an election under Se888(h)(10) of the U.S. Internal Revenue
Code (U.S. IRC) that is expected to result in dagtbenefits to us that have a net present valappfoximately $60 million as of August 22,
2012.

Financing

In August 2012, we sold $200.0 million of 5.5% semotes (2022 Notes) with a maturity of August 2822. The 2022 Notes were
issued at par value. Interest is paid semi-annuallizebruary 15 and August 15. The acquisition Af3teel was partially financed with
proceeds of $196.0 million, after expenses of $dilllon, from the 2022 Notes.

In June 2012, we redeemed $7.7 million of industiévelopment and environmental improvement taxagxebonds (industrial revenue
bonds) due in 2017. We paid a premium of $0.2 ariltio the bond holders, which was included in egeexpense. We also recognized a $0.Z
million deferred gain in interest expense relatethe interest rate swaps, which were terminatédarch 2012, on these industrial revenue
bonds. In December 2012, we repaid $12.2 millioa dnder the annual requirements of the SunBelts\ote

Other Highlights

In 2012, Chlor Alkali Products’ segment income #263.2 million, an increase of 7% compared to 2@Ehment income in 2012 was
higher than 2011 as a result of higher productgsrand the ownership of SunBelt for the full peribldese increases were partially offset by
decreased chlorine and caustic soda volumes. Qpgrates in Chlor Alkali Products for 2012 and 2@tere 80%.

Our 2012 ECU netbacks of approximately $575 werehigher than the 2011 ECU netbacks of approxim&bBRK0 due to higher caus
soda prices partially offset by lower chlorine pscin the first quarter of 2012, a caustic sodeepncrease was announced of $45 per ton |
chlorine price increase was announced of $40 perTtbe 2012 chlorine price increase was not sufdes$s the second quarter of 2012, we
announced an additional $60 per ton caustic sade fircrease. In the third quarter of 2012, an tamlthl caustic soda price increase was
announced of $70 per ton. Finally, in the fourtlader of 2012, an additional caustic soda pricesiase was announced for $50 per ton. Durin
2012, caustic soda prices increased, but wereafigrtiffset by lower chlorine prices.

Winchester segment income was $55.2 million in 2€drapared to $37.9 million in 2011. The increassggment income compared to
2011 reflects the impact of higher selling pricad ancreased volumes, partially offset by higheeraging costs and incremental costs
associated with the ongoing relocation of our cdinteeammunition manufacturing operations to Oxfdwis.

Other operating income in 2012 included $4.9 millaf insurance recoveries for business interruptédated to an outage of one of our
Chlor Alkali customers in the first half of 2012.

Income tax provision for 2012 included a $6.6 roillibenefit associated with the Agricultural Chersicecurity Tax Credit under
Section 450 of the U.S. IRC (Section 450), whichieygartially offset by $3.6 million of tax expersgsociated with remeasurement of
deferred taxes, changes in tax contingencies anejgense associated with previously undistribegthings from our Winchester Australia
Limited subsidiary.

Capital spending of $255.7 million for 2012 incldd&108.1 million for the conversion of our ChartestTN facility from mercury cell
technology to membrane technology, $58.6 millionthe construction of low salt, high strength ble&acilities at our Mcintosh, AL;
Henderson, NV; and Niagara Falls, NY chlor alkéksand $16.1 million for the ongoing relocatidroar Winchester centerfire ammunition
manufacturing operations. The conversion of ouar&ston, TN facility was completed in the secoalf bf 2012 with the successful start-up
of two new membrane cell lines and we also comgl&ie salt, high strength bleach facilities at Molsh, AL and Niagara Falls, NY in the
first and third quarters of 2012, respectively.
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CHLOR ALKALI PRODUCTS PRICING

In accordance with industry practice, we calcu@dor Alkali Productsprices on an ECU netbacks basis, reporting ang/zingl prices
net of the cost of transporting the products tdamsrs to allow for a comparable means of pricepamisons between periods and with respec
to our competitors. For purposes of determiningeEeQU netbacks, we use prices that we realizerasut of sales of chlorine and caustic sod
to our customers, and we do not include the vafwhlorine and caustic soda that is incorporatedtier products that we manufacture and
sell.

Quarterly and annual average ECU netbacks for 2@043 and 2012 were as follows:

2014 2013 2012
First quarter $ 52C $ 565 $ 58E
Second quarter 51C 57¢ 57¢
Third quarter 50t 57C 56(
Fourth quarter 49C 52t 58C
Annual average 50¢ 56( 57¢

Our 2012 ECU netbacks of approximately $575 werehigher than the 2011 ECU netbacks of approximéiBg0O due to higher caus
soda prices partially offset by lower chlorine pscin the first quarter of 2012, a caustic sodlzepncrease was announced of $45 per ton
chlorine price increase was announced totalinggGon. The 2012 chlorine price increase was nodessful. In the second quarter of 2012,
we announced an additional $60 per ton caustic pdda increase. In the third quarter of 2012, ddiitfonal caustic soda price increase was
announced of $70 per ton. Finally, in the fourtlager of 2012, an additional caustic soda pricesiase was announced for $50 per ton. Durin
2012, caustic soda prices increased, but wereapigrtiffset by lower chlorine prices.

Our 2013 ECU netbacks of approximately $560 werd@R&r than the 2012 ECU netbacks of approxim&®élys due to lower chlorir
prices partially offset by higher caustic soda gsidn the first quarter of 2013, a caustic sodzepncrease of $50 per ton was announced and
chlorine price increase of $60 per ton was annadiritlke 2013 chlorine price increase was not sufdess the second quarter of 2013, we
announced an additional $40 per ton caustic sade fircrease. In the third quarter of 2013, an tmlthl caustic soda price increase was
announced for $30 per ton. Finally in the fourtlager of 2013, an additional caustic soda pricesiase was announced for $40 per ton. Dt
2013, caustic soda prices increased, but were thareoffset by lower chlorine prices.

Our 2014 ECU netbacks of approximately $505 wefé Idwer than the 2013 ECU netbacks of approxime#8§0 due to lower caus
soda prices. In the first quarter of 2014, we ameed a chlorine price increase of $50 per ton aralatic soda price increase of $50 per ton,
which included the reinstatement of the fourth ¢eranf 2013 $40 per ton caustic soda price increBse 2014 chlorine price increase was not
successful. In the second quarter of 2014, we arcezlian additional $60 per ton caustic soda pniceease. Neither of these caustic soda |
increases were successful. In the third quart@0a#, an additional caustic soda price increaseanasunced for $30 per ton. In the fourth
quarter of 2014, the caustic soda price indiceseeed a total of $30 per ton. The benefit ofitiisease should impact the first quarter of 2
results. Also in the fourth quarter of 2014, aniddal caustic soda price increase was announ@me$40 per ton. In January 2015, a chlorine
price increase of $75 per ton was announced. WWndlesuccess of the first quarter 2015 chlorineepiricrease and the fourth quarter 2014
caustic soda price increase are not yet knownmgigerity of the benefit, if realized, would impastcond quarter 2015 results. ECU netbacl|
the first quarter of 2015 are forecast to be highan the fourth quarter of 2014 ECU netbacks praximately $490 as a result of higher
chlorine and caustic soda prices.
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PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

Under ASC 715, we recorded an after-tax charge86f@million ( $142.0 million pretax) to sharehaisleequity as of December 31,
2014 for our pension and other postretirement plarss charge reflected a 60 -basis point decrgafee plans’ discount rate and the negative
impact of the newly mandated mortality tables, ipHiyt offset by favorable performance on plan assktring 2014 . Our benefit obligation as
of December 31, 2014 increased approximately $3mpretax as a result of the newly mandated aliyttables. In 2013, we recorded an
after-tax charge of $7.7 million ($12.5 million pa®) to shareholders’ equity as of December 313204 our pension and other postretirement
plans. This charge reflected unfavorable perfoiceam plan assets during 2013, partially offsed I®-basis point increase in the plans’
discount rate. In 2012, we recorded an after-teacge of $101.9 million ($166.8 million pretax)gbareholders’ equity as of December 31,
2012 for our pension and other postretirement plargs charge reflected a 100-basis point decrga$es plans’ discount rate, partially offset
by the favorable performance on plan assets d@@i@. The non-cash charges to sharehol@epsity do not affect our ability to borrow unc
our senior credit facility.

During the fourth quarter of 2014, the SOA issuwsalfinal report of its mortality tables and motttaimprovement scales. The updated
mortality data reflected increasing life expectasdn the United States. During the third quarfetGi2, the MAP-21 became law. The new
law changes the mechanism for determining intesgst to be used for calculating minimum defineddi¢é pension plan funding
requirements. Interest rates are determined usirayerage of rates for a 25-year period, whichheare the effect of increasing the annual
discount rate, reducing the defined benefit penplan obligation, and potentially reducing or elaiing the minimum annual funding
requirement. The new law also increased premiurntstpahe PBGC. During the third quarter of 201/ H-A 2014 became law, which
includes an extension of MAP-Zldefined benefit plan funding stabilization reliBsed on our plan assumptions and estimates,ilweoivbe
required to make any cash contributions to the ddimgualified defined benefit pension plan at teasugh 2015 and under the new law may
not be required to make any additional contribgitor at least the next five years. We do have aldGanadian qualified defined benefit
pension plan to which we made cash contributiorf8008 million in 2014, $1.0 million in 2013, and.$0nillion in 2012, and we anticipate
approximately $1 million of cash contributions 815 . At December 31, 2014 , the projected beobfigation of $2,117.4 million exceeded
the market value of assets in our qualified defibedefit pension plans by $138.7 million , as clalied under ASC 715.

Components of net periodic benefit (income) costsan

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(% in millions)
Pension benefits $ (25.0 $ (20.5) $ (21
Other postretirement benefits 6.€ 7.t 7.4

In December 2014, we recorded a curtailment chaf§®.2 million associated with permanently closingortion of the Becancour,
Canada chlor alkali facility that has been shut demce late June 2014. This charge was includeesimucturing charges for 2014.

The service cost and the amortization of prior isereost components of pension expense relateohpbogees of the operating segme
are allocated to the operating segments basedednrréispective estimated census data.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(% in millions, except per share data)
Sales $ 2241 $ 2515.( $ 2,184,
Cost of goods sold 1,853.. 2,033.° 1,748.(
Gross margin 388.( 481.% 436.
Selling and administration 170.¢ 190.( 168.€
Restructuring charges 15.7 B.E 8.t
Acquisition costs — — 8.2
Other operating income 1kt 0.7 7.€
Operating income 203.¢ 286.t 258.¢
Earnings of non-consolidated affiliates 1.7 2.8 3.C
Interest expense 43.¢ 38.¢ 26.4
Interest income 3 0.€ 1.C
Other income (expense) 0.1 (1.9 (11.9)
Income from continuing operations before taxes 162.% 250.( 225.2
Income tax provision 57.1 71.4 75.€
Income from continuing operations 105.( 178.€ 149.¢
Income from discontinued operations, net 0.7 — —
Net income $ 105.7 $ 178.¢ $ 149.¢
Net income per common share:
Basic income per common share:

Income from continuing operations $ 1.3 % 224 % 1.87

Income from discontinued operations, net 0.01 — —

Net income $ 132 ¢ 224 $ 1.87

Diluted income per common share:

Income from continuing operations $ 1.3z $ 221 % 1.8t

Income from discontinued operations, net 0.01 — —

Net income $ 13 ¢ 221 % 1.8t

2014 Compared 2013

Sales for 2014 were $2,241.2 million compared t&$2.0 million last year, a decrease of $273.8iomjlor 11%. Chemical
Distribution segment sales decreased by $112.¢omitrimarily due to lower caustic soda volumes dadreased caustic soda prices. Chlor
Alkali Products sales decreased by $106.7 milliomarily due to lower product prices, predominarghustic soda, and decreased chlorine
caustic soda volumes, partially offset by increast@gments of hydrochloric acid and potassium hyidie Winchester sales decreased by
$39.2 million primarily due to decreased shipmaeftshotshell and rifle ammunition, partially offdst increased shipments of pistol
ammunition to domestic commercial customers. Theassed commercial volumes were partially offsehigher selling prices and increased
shipments to international and other customer®sSakre also impacted by an increase in the eltioimaf intersegment sales between the
Chlor Alkali Products segment and the Chemicaliitistion segment of $15.3 million.

Gross margin decreased $93.3 million, or 19%, f2@1h3. Chlor Alkali Products gross margin decredse#78.1 million, primarily due
to lower product prices, predominantly caustic s@ofal decreased chlorine and caustic soda volumtgsh were partially offset by decreased
operating costs and increased shipments of hydsachdcid and potassium hydroxide. Winchester gmaggin was lower by $14.2 million
primarily due to decreased shipments of shotsinellréle ammunition to domestic commercial custosp@rhich was partially offset by higher
selling prices. Chemical Distribution gross margias lower by $7.9 million primarily due to decredi®austic soda volumes. Gross margin as
a percentage of sales was 17% in 2014 and 19%1i8. 20
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Selling and administration expenses in 2014 deerk$$9.6 million, or 10%, from 2013, primarily disedecreased management
incentive compensation expense of $18.1 millioniclvlincludes mark-to-market adjustments on stbaked compensation, decreased lega
legal-related settlement expenses of $15.5 miliod decreased non-income tax expense of $3.7 millibese decreases were partially offset
by the recovery of legacy legal costs of $13.9iomllduring 2013 and increased consulting fees @ $8llion. Selling and administration
expenses as a percentage of sales were 8% in @bthad 2013.

Restructuring charges in 2014 included $10.0 nmlbssociated with permanently closing a portiothefBecancour, Canada chlor all
facility. Restructuring charges in 2014 and 20k®ahcluded $5.7 million and $5.5 million, respeely, associated with exiting the use of
mercury cell technology in the chlor alkali manutatg process and the ongoing relocation of oundhester centerfire ammunition
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to @i, MS.

Other operating income in 2014 included a gainlo®$nillion for the resolution of a contract matt@ther operating income in 2013
included a gain of $1.5 million on the sale of tiwamer manufacturing sites.

Interest expense increased by $5.2 million in 2@tinarily due to the call premium and the writé-of unamortized deferred debt
issuance costs and unamortized discount of $9lfomassociated with the redemption of the 2019eN@nd a decrease in capitalized interest
of $0.9 million primarily due to the completion tfe low salt, high strength bleach facility and toahloric acid expansion project at our
Henderson, NV chlor alkali site in the first quarté 2013. These increases were partially offselblaer interest rates.

Other income (expense) in 2013 included $7.9 mmilbd expense for our earn out liability from thenBelt acquisition and a gain of $t
million on the sale of our equity interest in adih joint venture.

The effective tax rate from continuing operatioos2014 included $1.2 million of benefit associatéth the return to provision
adjustment for the finalization of our 2013 U.Sideal and state income tax returns and $0.7 mibiopenefit associated with the expiration of
the statutes of limitations in federal and statesglictions. These items were partially offset ly8million of expense associated with incre:
in valuation allowances on certain state tax crediances primarily associated with a change ite $& law and $0.6 million of expense
related to the remeasurement of deferred taxesodame increase in state effective tax rates. Afteing consideration to these four items of
$0.5 million, the effective tax rate from contingioperations for 2014 of 35.8% was slightly higtiem the 35% U.S. federal statutory rate,
primarily due to state income taxes net of utilizatof certain state tax credits, partially offbgtfavorable permanent tax deduction items, suc
as the domestic manufacturing deduction and taxaéide dividends paid to the Contributing Employ@&nership Plan (CEOP). The
effective tax rate from continuing operations f6d3 included $11.4 million of benefit associatethvthe expiration of the statutes of
limitations in federal and state jurisdictions, 3&illion of benefit associated with reductionss/aluation allowances on our capital loss
carryforwards and $1.9 million of benefit assoaiangth the Research Credit. These items were plgraéset by $1.8 million of expense
associated with changes in tax contingencies arRiilllion of expense associated with increaseslnation allowances on certain state tax
credit carryforwards. After giving considerationttese five items of $18.5 million, the effectiax trate from continuing operations for 201:
36.0% was slightly higher than the 35% U.S. fedstatiutory rate, primarily due to state income $aet of utilization of certain state tax
credits, partially offset by favorable permanemtdaduction items, such as the domestic manufagfutéduction and tax deductible dividends
paid to the CEOP.

Income from discontinued operations, net for tharyended December 31, 2014 included an after texaj&0.7 million ($4.6 million
pretax) for the favorable resolution of certaingnthity obligations related to our Metals businesdd s 2007.

2013 Compared 2012

Sales for 2013 were $2,515.0 million compared td&2.7 million in 2012, an increase of $330.3 miilior 15%. Chemical
Distribution segment sales increased by $250.%anilue to the additional period of our ownershifinchester sales increased by $160.0
million, or 26%, from 2012 primarily due to increasshipments to domestic commercial and law enfoecd customers and higher selling
prices, partially offset by lower shipments to maity and international customers. These increases partially offset by an increase in the
elimination of intersegment sales between the Chlkali Products segment and the Chemical Distidousegment of $63.2 million and a
decrease in Chlor Alkali Productsales of $16.6 million, or 1%, primarily due to lemproduct prices, primarily hydrochloric acid atdorine.
Our 2013 ECU netbacks decreased 3% compared to 2012
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Gross margin increased $44.6 million, or 10%, fi2dd2, primarily as a result of increased Winchegtess margin of $91.6 million,
primarily due to increased shipments to domestinroercial customers and improved selling prices,additional gross margin contributed
the Chemical Distribution segment of $12.2 millidue to the additional period of our ownership. Ehieereases were partially offset by lower
Chlor Alkali gross margin of $61.3 million, primbridue to lower product prices, primarily hydrochoacid and chlorine, and higher opera
costs associated with planned maintenance outamger electricity costs primarily due to increasediural gas prices and higher depreciatior
expense. These decreases were partially offsefdyoaable contract settlement. Gross margin aregmtage of sales was 19% in 2013 and
20% in 2012.

Selling and administration expenses in 2013 in@@&21.4 million, or 13%, from 2012, primarily diteincreased legal and legal-
related settlement expenses of $11.4 million, primassociated with cost recovery actions, incegamanagement incentive compensation
expense of $11.1 million, which includes mark-torked adjustments on stock-based compensation dfrfilion, increased selling and
administration expenses of the acquired KA Steefaons of $7.0 million and increased salary agwiffit costs of $4.1 million. These
increases were partially offset by the recoverleghcy legal costs of $13.9 million. Selling andréwistration expenses as a percentage of
were 8% in 2013 and 2012.

Restructuring charges in 2013 and 2012 of $5.5anithnd $8.5 million, respectively, were associatéth exiting the use of mercury
cell technology in the chlor alkali manufacturinggess and the ongoing relocation of our Winchestaterfire ammunition manufacturing
operations from East Alton, IL to Oxford, MS.

Acquisition costs in 2012 were related to the asitjon of KA Steel.

Other operating income in 2013 included a gainlo&$nillion on the sale of two former manufactursites. Other operating income in
2012 included $4.9 million of insurance recovef@sbusiness interruption related to an outagenef of our Chlor Alkali customers in the first
half of 2012.

Interest expense increased by $12.2 million in 2@ti8narily due to a higher level of debt outstamgdand a decrease in capitalized
interest of $6.3 million, primarily due to the colafon of the Charleston, TN conversion projecthia second half of 2012.

Other income (expense) in 2013 and 2012 included &ifllion and $11.5 million, respectively, of exyze for our earn out liability from
the SunBelt acquisition. Other income (expens@0ibi3 also included a gain of $6.5 million on théef our equity interest in a bleach joint
venture.

The effective tax rate from continuing operatioosZ013 included $11.4 million of benefit assoadiéth the expiration of the statutes
of limitations in federal and state jurisdictio®8.3 million of benefit associated with reductiomyaluation allowances on our capital loss
carryforwards and $1.9 million of benefit assodiatéth the Research Credit, which were partialfisef by $1.8 million of expense associated
with changes in tax contingencies and $1.3 milbbexpense associated with increases in valuatiowances on certain state tax credit
carryforwards. After giving consideration to thdise items of $18.5 million, the effective tax rdtem continuing operations for 2013 of
36.0% was slightly higher than the 35% U.S. fedstatiutory rate, primarily due to state income $axet of utilization of certain state tax
credits, partially offset by favorable permanemtdaduction items, such as the domestic manufagfutéduction and tax deductible dividends
paid to the CEOP. The effective tax rate from amritig operations for 2012 included a $6.6 milli@nbfit associated with the Section 450
credits, partially offset by a $1.6 million experassociated with the remeasurement of deferred tax®1.3 million expense associated with
changes in tax contingencies and a $0.7 millioreagp associated with previously undistributed egmfrom our Winchester Australia
Limited subsidiary. After giving consideration teese four items of $3.0 million, the effective takxe from continuing operations for 2012 of
34.9% was slightly lower than the 35% U.S. fedstatutory rate, primarily due to favorable permadnar deductions, such as the domestic
manufacturing deduction and tax deductible dividepdid to the CEOP, which were partially offsetskgte income taxes net of utilization of
certain state tax credits.
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SEGMENT RESULTS

We define segment results as income (loss) froniraaing operations before interest expense, inténesme, other operating income,
other income (expense) and income taxes, and iacheresults of non-consolidated affiliates. Gsteat with the guidance in ASC 280
“Segment Reporting” (ASC 280), we have determiriésl appropriate to include the operating resuitsam-consolidated affiliates in the
relevant segment financial results. Intersegmeessaf $96.6 million , $81.3 million and $18.1 roh for the years ended December 31, 2014
2013 and 2012, respectively, have been elimindtkdse represent the sale of caustic soda, bleatdsgum hydroxide and hydrochloric acid
between Chemical Distribution and Chlor Alkali Puotk, at prices that approximate market.

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Sales: ($ in millions)
Chlor Alkali Products $ 1,305.¢ $ 1,412 % 1,428.¢
Chemical Distribution 293.¢ 406.< 156.:
Winchester 738. 777.¢ 617.¢
Intersegment sales elimination (96.€) (81.9) (18.0)
Total sales $ 2241 $ 2515.( $ 2,184."
Income (loss) from continuing operations beforeetax
Chlor Alkali Product$” $ 1301 $ 203.¢ % 263.Z
Chemical Distribution — 9.7 4.t
Winchester 127.% 143.2 55.2
Corporate/Other:
Pension incom& 32.4 26.€ 27.2
Environmental expengd (8.9 (10.29) (8.9
Other corporate and unallocated costs (62.9) (79.0 (70.9)
Restructuring charge$ (15.9) (5.5 (8.5
Acquisition cost$” — — (8.9
Other operating incom@ 1.t 0.7 7.€
Interest expens€ (43.9) (38.9) (26.9)
Interest income 1.3 0.€ 1.C
Other income (expensé) 0.1 .3 (11.9
Income from continuing operations before taxes $ 162.7  $ 250.C $ 225.

(1) Earnings of non-consolidated affiliates arduded in the Chlor Alkali Products segment rescdtssistent with management's
monitoring of the operating segment. The earnfry® non-consolidated affiliates were $1.7 milli&2.8 million and $3.0 million for
the years ended 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectialying October 2013, we sold our equity interasi ibleach joint venture.

(2) The service cost and the amortization of psEnvice cost components of pension expense reiatibe employees of the operating
segments are allocated to the operating segmesesl lza their respective estimated census dateoti#dr components of pension costs
are included in corporate/other and include iteothsas the expected return on plan assets, int@ssand recognized actuarial gains
and losses.

(3) Environmental expense for the years ended , 28043 and 2012 included $1.4 million, $1.3 milliand $0.1 million, respectively, of
recoveries from third parties for costs incurred arpensed in prior periods. Environmental expéngecluded in cost of goods sold in
the consolidated statements of operations.

(4) Restructuring charges for the year ended 20dldded $10.0 million associated with permanenltbsing a portion of the Becancour,
Canada chlor alkali facility. Restructuring charfmsthe years ended 2014, 2013 and 2012 wereaalsuciated with exiting the use of
mercury cell technology in the chlor alkali manutaig process and the ongoing relocation of oundNester centerfire ammunition
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to Gudf, MS.

(5) Acquisition costs in 2012 were related to the asitjon of KA Steel
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(6) Other operating income for the year ended 20¢kided a gain of $1.0 million for the resolutioha contract matter. Other operating
income for the year ended 2013 included a gainlds $illion on the sale of two former manufactursites. Other operating income for
the year ended 2012 included $4.9 million of insaearecoveries for business interruption relateahtoutage at one of our Chlor Alkali
customers in the first half of 2012.

(7) Interest expense for the year ended Decenthe2®.4 included $9.5 million for the call premiamnd the write-off of unamortized
deferred debt issuance costs and unamortized disessociated with the redemption of our 2019 Natdsch would have matured on
August 15, 2019. Interest expense was reducedfitatiaed interest of $0.2 million, $1.1 million éi$7.4 million for the years ended
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

(8) Other income (expense) for the years ende@ 208 2012 included $7.9 million and $11.5 millioespectively, of expense for our earn
out liability from the SunBelt acquisition. Othercome (expense) for the year ended December 33, &84 included a gain of $6.5
million on the sale of our equity interest in adab joint venture.

Chlor Alkali Products
2014 Compared to 2013

Chlor Alkali Products’ sales for 2014 were $1,30&iflion compared to $1,412.3 million for 2013, ectiease of $106.7 million, or
8%. The sales decrease was primarily due to Ipnatuct prices ($73.5 million), predominantly causbda, and lower shipments of chlorine
and caustic soda ($61.4 million). These decreases partially offset by increased shipments of bghtoric acid ($22.3 million) and
potassium hydroxide ($11.4 million). Our ECU netkmwere approximately $505 for 2014 compared to@pmately $560 for 2013. Our
operating rates were 80% in 2014 and 84% in 20h8.Idwer operating rate in 2014 was affected bypmpdal and unplanned customer outages
in the second half of 2014. We discuss produciegrio more detail above under “Chlor Alkali Produeticing.”

Chlor Alkali Products generated segment incomel&0$L million for 2014 compared to $203.8 milliar 2013, a decrease of $73.7
million. Chlor Alkali Products’ segment income wlasver primarily due to lower product prices ($7&8lion), predominantly caustic soda,
decreased volumes ($11.6 million), primarily chheriand caustic soda, which were partially offseinsyeased shipments of hydrochloric acid
and potassium hydroxide, and the recognition @vaifable contract settlement during 2013 ($11.0anj. These decreases were partially
offset by lower operating costs ($22.4 million)inparily related to cost reduction efforts that wemplemented during 2014.

2013 Compared to 2012

Chlor Alkali Products’ sales for 2013 were $1,41&hilion compared to $1,428.9 million for 2012, ecdease of $16.6 million, or
1%. The sales decrease was primarily due to lpnatuct prices ($37.4 million), primarily hydrochioacid and chlorine, lower shipments of
chlorine and caustic soda ($5.9 million) and desedashipments of hydrochloric acid ($4.8 milliofiiese decreases were partially offset by
increased shipments of potassium hydroxide ($1@l®&mn) and bleach ($12.7 million). Our ECU netbackere approximately $560 for 2013
compared to approximately $575 for 2012. Freigist€ included in the ECU netbacks increased 292048 compared to 2012, primarily due
to higher railroad freight rates. Our operatingesavere 84% in 2013, which reflected the capaeitjuctions that occurred in the fourth qua
of 2012, and 80% in 2012. We discuss product piiic@sore detail above under “Chlor Alkali ProduPtscing.”

Chlor Alkali Products generated segment income203% million for 2013 compared to $263.2 millimr 2012, a decrease of $59.4
million. Chlor Alkali Products’ segment income wasver primarily due to lower product prices ($4®#lion), primarily hydrochloric acid
and chlorine, and increased operating costs (#28li@n) associated with planned maintenance outages, hiéetricity costs primarily due
increased natural gas prices and higher depreciatipense. These decreases were partially offsefféyorable contract settlement ($11.0
million) and increased volumes ($3.8 million).

31




Chemical Distribution
2014 Compared to 2013

Chemical Distribution sales were $293.8 million 2014 compared to $406.4 million for 2013, a deseeaf $112.6 million. The sales
decrease was primarily due to lower caustic sodianves ($80.4 million) and decreased caustic soda®($35.1 million). These decreases
were partially offset by increased shipments ofpsium hydroxide, hydrochloric acid and bleachg$8illion).

Chemical Distribution segment income was breakereh$9.7 million for the years ended December 8142nd 2013, respectively.
Chemical Distribution segment income was lower ttrenprior year primarily as a result of decreassastic soda volumes ($9.8 million).
Depreciation and amortization expense includecggnment income for the years ended December 31, 2042013 of $15.8 million and $1¢
million, respectively, were primarily associatediwihe acquisition fair value adjustment relatethidKA Steel acquisition.

2013 Compared to 2012

Chemical Distribution sales were $406.4 million &1d6.3 million for the years ended December 31324nd 2012, respectively.
Chemical Distribution segment income was $9.7 orilland $4.5 million for the years ended DecembefB813 and 2012, respectively.
Chemical Distribution 2013 sales and segment incaere higher than 2012 as a result of the additipegod of our ownership. Depreciation
and amortization expense included in segment indomile years ended December 31, 2013 and 20$2%# million and $5.5 million,
respectively, were primarily associated with thguasition fair value adjustment related to the Ki&& acquisition.

Winchester
2014 Compared to 2013

Winchester sales were $738.4 million for 2014 coragdo $777.6 million for 2013, a decrease of $38illlon, or 5%. Sales of
ammunition to domestic commercial customers weneetd$61.8 million), primarily due to a lower levefl demand for shotshell and rifle
ammunition, partially offset by higher pistol amnition. Beginning with the third quarter of 2014, M¢hester began to experience a decline i
commercial demand from the 2013 levels. This degreeas partially offset by increased shipmentst@rnational customers ($11.8 million),
law enforcement agencies ($7.7 million), industciastomers ($2.4 million), who primarily supply tbenstruction sector, and military
customers ($0.7 million).

Winchester reported segment income of $127.3 millar 2014 compared to $143.2 million for 2013 egmase of $15.9 million, or
11%. The decrease in segment income in 2014 cadpar2013 reflected the impact of decreased vadu®29.6 million), primarily due to a
lower level of demand for shotshell and rifle amiition, and higher commodity and other material sq$%.9 million). These decreases were
partially offset by higher selling prices ($17.0lnih) and lower operating costs ($1.6 million), iatn include the impact of decreased costs
associated with the ongoing relocation of our adinéeammunition manufacturing operations to OxfawtS ($7.4 million).

2013 Compared to 2012

Winchester sales were $777.6 million for 2013 coragdo $617.6 million for 2012, an increase of $06@illion, or 26%. The
increased sales were due to increased shipmedtsrestic commercial customers ($172.5 million) Evd enforcement agencies ($12.1
million). These increases were partially offsetdbyeduction in shipments to military customersl($2million) and reduced shipments to
international customers ($3.7 million).

Winchester reported segment income of $143.2 millar 2013 compared to $55.2 million for 2012, aaréase of $88.0 million, or
159%. The increase in segment income in 2013 cordpa 2012 reflected the impact of increased vekii$53.8 million), higher selling
prices ($29.5 million), lower operating costs ($6#lion), which include the impact of decreasedtsassociated with the ongoing relocation
of our centerfire ammunition manufacturing openagido Oxford, MS ($16.7 million), and lower commiydand other material costs ($1.4
million).
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Corporate/Other
2014 Compared to 2013

For 2014, pension income included in corporatefotras $32.4 million compared to $26.6 million f@13. On a total company basis,
defined benefit pension income for 2014 was $25llom compared to $20.5 million for 2013. Pensianome for 2014 included a curtailme
charge of $0.2 million associated with permanediibging a portion of the Becancour, Canada chkalafacility that has been shut down sii
late June 2014. This charge was included in restrimg charges for 2014.

Charges to income for environmental investigatony eemedial activities were $8.2 million for 201@htpared to $10.2 million for
2013, which included $1.4 million and $1.3 millioespectively, of recoveries from third parties ¢osts incurred and expensed in prior
periods. Without these recoveries, charges tonrector environmental investigatory and remediaivit@s would have been $9.6 million for
2014 compared to $11.5 million for 2013. Thesegbsa related primarily to expected future invegbgaand remedial activities associated
with past manufacturing operations and former weisposal sites.

For 2014, other corporate and unallocated coste %&2.3 million compared to $79.0 million for 20B3decrease of $16.7 million, or
21%. The decrease was primarily due to lower staded compensation expense of $13.9 million, winicludes mark-tanarket adjustment
decreased legal and legal-related settlement egparisb11.2 million, decreased non-income tax egp@rf $3.7 million and lower insurance
costs of $2.1 million. These decreases were pigrbéfiset by the recovery of legacy legal cost$d8.9 million during 2013.

2013 Compared to 2012

For 2013, pension income included in corporatefotres $26.6 million compared to $27.2 million f@12. On a total company basis,
defined benefit pension income for 2013 was $20dIkom compared to $21.1 million for 2012.

Charges to income for environmental investigatony eemedial activities were $10.2 million for 20d@mpared to $8.3 million for
2012, which included $1.3 million and $0.1 millioespectively, of recoveries from third parties ¢osts incurred and expensed in prior
periods. Without these recoveries, charges tonrector environmental investigatory and remediaivét@s would have been $11.5 million for
2013 compared to $8.4 million for 2012. These gbarelated primarily to expected future invesbgatnd remedial activities associated v
past manufacturing operations and former wasteodasites.

For 2013, other corporate and unallocated coste %29.0 million compared to $70.7 million for 2052, increase of $8.3 million, or
12%. The increase was primarily due to increasgédlland legal-related settlement expenses of $iillidn, primarily associated with cost
recovery actions, increased stock-based compengzti$9.1 million, which include mark-to-market agiments of $5.4 million, higher
consulting fees of $2.1 million and increased sadard benefit costs of $1.5 million. These increasere partially offset by the recovery of
legacy legal costs of $13.9 million and lower assétement obligation and legacy site charges4o® $nillion.

2015 OUTLOOK

Net income in the first quarter of 2015 is projecte be in the $0.20 to $0.25 per diluted shargeazompared to $0.37 per diluted share
in the first quarter of 2014.

In Chlor Alkali Products, the first quarter of 204&gment income is expected to decline comparddthat first quarter of 2014 income
of $34.3 million. The expected decrease in segimeoime anticipates lower ECU pricing. The Chloka&l Products operating rate in the first
quarter of 2015 is expected to be in the mid 808geawhich is similar to the fourth quarter of 2@dpkrating rate of 84%, after giving
consideration to the closure of a portion of the®@®our, Canada chlor alkali facility. Chlor Alk&roducts full year 2015 segment income is
expected to improve compared to full year 2014 sagrimcome of $130.1 million, primarily due to hegtECU pricing and higher
hydrochloric acid, bleach and potassium hydroxidleimes.
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Our 2014 ECU netbacks of approximately $505 wefé Idwer than the 2013 ECU netbacks of approxime&0 due to lower caus!
soda prices. In the fourth quarter of 2014, thestiasoda price indices increased a total of $30qre The benefit of this increase should
impact the first quarter of 2015 results. Alsohe fourth quarter of 2014, an additional caustitasprice increase was announced for $40 per
ton. In January 2015, a chlorine price increasg7&f per ton was announced. While the success dirghhejuarter 2015 chlorine price increase
and the fourth quarter 2014 caustic soda priceeas® are not yet known, the majority of the beniéfiealized, would impact second quarter
2015 results. ECU netbacks in the first quarte2@#5 are forecast to be higher than the fourthtquaf 2014 ECU netbacks of approximately
$490 as a result of higher chlorine and caustia goites.

Chemical Distribution first quarter 2015 segmermbime is expected to improve compared to the finartgr of 2014 segment loss of
$0.8 million due to increased sales of Olin-prodlbgdrochloric acid and potassium hydroxide. Chairiistribution full year 2015 segment
income is expected to improve compared to full \2€Hr4 breakeven results due to increased causta; gdrochloric acid, bleach and
potassium hydroxide volumes. As a result of themginan coproduct sales and the continued focus on improthiegeturns in caustic soda,
expect Chemical Distribution annual segment incéoriacrease by approximately $15 million in the ieyo years. In addition to growth in
Chemical Distribution segment income, we expecb€Alkali Products to realize $10 million to $15Iloin of additional annual benefits from
producing co-products, as well as logistics anthstfucture cost savings.

Winchester first quarter 2015 segment income igetqal to be lower than the $38.3 million of segniecme achieved during the first
quarter of 2014 but only slightly lower than thesfiquarter of 2013 of $31.3 million. The forecastiecline in segment income is due to an
anticipated lower level of commercial demand, élstioffset by lower operating costs associatedhwitir new centerfire operation in Oxford,
MS. During the fourth quarter, Winchester experegha decline from the elevated level of commemb&hand for pistol, shotshell and rifle
ammunition that the Winchester business begangerénce in early November 2012, while rimfire anmition demand continued at record
levels. Although the consumer demand for pistadtsimell and rifle ammunition has declined compacekigher than historical levels, it
remains strong. The Winchester commercial backitodamuary 31, 2015 was $192.4 million comparedi28¥ million at January 31, 2014
and $37.6 million at January 31, 2012. Winchest#liykar 2015 segment income is expected to beehititan the full year 2014 segment
income of $127.3 million, primarily due to loweremting costs associated with our new centerfieratpn in Oxford, MS. Commercial
ammunition shipments for the full year 2015 areested to be similar to full year 2014.

In October 2011, Winchester opened the new cerggrfoduction facility in Oxford, MS. During 201tBe relocation of the centerfire
pistol manufacturing equipment was completed. Op#iA14, the relocation of the centerfire rifle miawturing equipment continued to be
relocated and started up. During the fourth quart&014, all pistol ammunition and approximate8#8of all rifle ammunition was produced
in Oxford. By December 1, 2014, all commercialeriflmmunition was being produced in Oxford. Thiscation, which is projected to be
completed in 20186, is forecast to reduce Winchisstemual operating costs by approximately $35anilfo $40 million. We expect the
centerfire relocation project to generate operatimgfs savings of approximately $30 million in 2@bBnpared to $24.1 million realized in
2014.

We anticipate that full year 2015 Other Corporaté "nallocated costs will increase compared withfthl year 2014 Other Corporate
and Unallocated costs of $62.3 million.

We anticipate that full year 2015 charges for emwinental investigatory and remedial activities walin the $15 million to $20 million
range. We do not believe that there will be reci@geof environmental costs incurred and expensguior periods in 2015.

We expect defined benefit pension plan income 1620 be lower than the 2014 level due to the imhpathe newly mandated mortal
tables issued in the fourth quarter of 2014. Basedur plan assumptions and estimates, we wilbeaequired to make any cash contribut
to our domestic qualified defined benefit pensitanpn 2015 and under the pension funding relielpassed in 2012 and 2014, we may not
be required to make any additional contributionrsadeast five years. We do have a small Canagiisfified defined benefit pension plan to
which we anticipate cash contributions of approxeha$l million in 2015.

During 2015, we are anticipating pretax restrucigicharges of approximately $6 million, primarigsaciated with the ongoing
relocation of our Winchester centerfire ammunitioanufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to @xf, MS and the closure of a portion of
the Becancour, Canada chlor alkali facility.

In 2015, we expect our capital spending to be é&h20 million to $130 million range, which inclwdspending for the ongoing
relocation of our Winchester centerfire ammunitioanufacturing operations. We expect 2015 depreciand amortization expense to be in
the $140 million to $145 million range.
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We believe the 2015 effective tax rate will behr 85% to 37% range.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Cash outlays (receipts): (% in millions)
Remedial and investigatory spending (charged terve$ $ 14¢ % 124 $ 25t
Recoveries from third parties (1.9 1.3 (0.2
Capital spending 2.7 0.¢ 1.t
Plant operations (charged to cost of goods sold) 24.2 25.4 25.1
Total cash outlays $ 404§ 374 % 52.

Cash outlays for remedial and investigatory adésiassociated with former waste sites and pasatipes were not charged to income
but instead were charged to reserves establishestiétn costs identified and expensed to incomeior gears. Cash outlays for normal plant
operations for the disposal of waste and the ojperaind maintenance of pollution control equipmamd facilities to ensure compliance with
mandated and voluntarily imposed environmentalitjustandards were charged to income.

Total environmental-related cash outlays in 201devo®mparable to 2013. Total environmental-relatesh outlays in 2013 decreased
compared to 2012, primarily driven by the completid a remedial action plan at a former waste diapsite in 2012. Total environmental-
related cash outlays for 2015 are estimated tgpeoaimately $50 million, of which approximately Gillion is expected to be spent on
investigatory and remedial efforts, approximatedyriillion on capital projects and approximately $8lion on normal plant
operations. Remedial and investigatory spendiragigipated to be higher in 2015 than 2014 dubédiming of continuing remedial action
plans and investigations. Historically, we haveded our environmental capital expenditures throzagh flow from operations and expect to
do so in the future.

Annual environmental-related cash outlays for isitestigation and remediation, capital projects aadnal plant operations are
expected to range between $45 million to $65 mmlliwer the next several years, $15 million to $3%ian of which is for investigatory and
remedial efforts, which are expected to be chaeggdnst reserves recorded on our consolidated ¢tmktreet. While we do not anticipate a
material increase in the projected annual levelusfenvironmentatelated cash outlays, there is always the podsibiiat such an increase n
occur in the future in view of the uncertainties@sated with environmental exposures.

Our liabilities for future environmental expendisrwere as follows:

December 31,

2014 2013 2012
($ in millions)

Beginning balance $ 144¢ $ 1468  $ 163.:
Charges to income 9.€ 11.t 8.4
Remedial and investigatory spending (24.9 (12.9 (25.5)
Currency translation adjustments (1.0 (1.0 0.2

Ending balance $ 138.2 $ 144¢ $ 146.5

In the United States, the establishment and impi¢ation of federal, state and local standards dolege air, water and land quality
affect substantially all of our manufacturing Idoas. Federal legislation providing for regulatioiithe manufacture, transportation, use and
disposal of hazardous and toxic substances, aneldiation of contaminated sites, has imposed adhditicegulatory requirements on industry,
particularly the chemicals industry. In additiaomplementation of environmental laws, such as thsdRrce Conservation and Recovery Act
and the Clean Air Act, has required and will con#ro require new capital expenditures and wiliéase plant operating costs. Our Canadiar
facility is governed by federal environmental laadsministered by Environment Canada and by provimcigironmental laws enforced by
administrative agencies. Many of these laws ameparable to the U.S. laws described above. We@amphste minimization and pollution
prevention programs at our manufacturing sites.
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We are party to various governmental and privatérenmental actions associated with past manufagjuacilities and former waste
disposal sites. Associated costs of investigaao remedial activities are provided for in accomawith generally accepted accounting
principles governing probability and the abilityreeasonably estimate future costs. Our abilitggtimate future costs depends on whether oul
investigatory and remedial activities are in prétfiary or advanced stages. With respect to unasbelaims, we accrue liabilities for costs t
in our experience, we may incur to protect ourrieges against those unasserted claims. Our actaldidies for unasserted claims amounted
to $1.9 million at December 31, 2014 . With respie@sserted claims, we accrue liabilities basecemedial investigation, feasibility study,
remedial action and operation, maintenance andtorimg (OM&M) expenses that, in our experience,ma&y incur in connection with the
asserted claims. Required site OM&M expensessiimated and accrued in their entirety for requpedods not exceeding 30 years, which
reasonably approximates the typical duration ofjitarm site OM&M. Charges to income for investwgtand remedial efforts were material
to operating results in 2014 , 2013 and 2012 angllmeamaterial to operating results in future years.

Environmental provisions charged (credited) to mepwhich are included in cost of goods sold, veasréollows:

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(% in millions)
Charges to income $ 9€ $ 115 $ 8.4
Recoveries from third parties of costs incurred exyensed in prior periods (1.9 1.3 (0.7
Total environmental expense $ 82 $ 10z $ 8.2

These charges relate primarily to remedial andstigatory activities associated with past manufi@eguoperations and former waste
disposal sites.

Our total estimated environmental liability at #ved of 2014 was attributable to 70 sites, 15 ofctlwhiere USEPA National Priority List
(NPL) sites. Ten sites accounted for 79% of owmirenmental liability and, of the remaining 60 sit@o one site accounted for more than 3%
of our environmental liability. At five of the tesites, part of the site is subject to a remediastigation and another part is in the long-term
OM&M stage. At two of these ten sites, a remeitiabstigation is being performed. The three reningisites are in long-term OM&M. All
ten sites are either associated with past manufagtoperations or former waste disposal sitesnéNaf the ten largest sites represents more
than 22% of the liabilities reserved on our cordatied balance sheet at December 31, 2014 for fatuneonmental expenditures.

Our consolidated balance sheets included liakslitbe future environmental expenditures to investgand remediate known sites
amounting to $138.3 million at December 31, 2024d $144.6 million at December 31, 2013 , of wi$&l9.3 million and $126.6 million ,
respectively, were classified as other noncurriabilities. Our environmental liability amounts dot take into account any discounting of
future expenditures or any consideration of inscearecoveries or advances in technology. Thebdities are reassessed periodically to
determine if environmental circumstances have cédrad/or remediation efforts and our estimateslatted costs have changed. As a result
of these reassessments, future charges to incomdemaade for additional liabilities. Of the $138nillion included on our consolidated
balance sheet at December 31, 2014 for future @mviental expenditures, we currently expect toagi$80.2 million of the reserve for future
environmental expenditures over the next 5 yedrg,3million for expenditures 6 to 10 years in fiire, and $40.8 million for expenditures
beyond 10 years in the future. These estimatesudnject to a number of risks and uncertaintiesleasribed in “Environmental Costs”
contained in Item 1A—"Risk Factors.”

Environmental exposures are difficult to assessifonerous reasons, including the identificatiom®i sites, developments at sites
resulting from investigatory studies, advancegahhology, changes in environmental laws and réignisand their application, changes in
regulatory authorities, the scarcity of reliabléadgertaining to identified sites, the difficulty assessing the involvement and financial
capability of other PRPs, our ability to obtain trdyutions from other parties and the lengthy tipegiods over which site remediation
occurs. It is possible that some of these mafteesoutcomes of which are subject to various uaggres) may be resolved unfavorably to us,
which could materially adversely affect our finaadgosition or results of operations. At Decenmiikr2014 , we estimate it is reasonably
possible that we may have additional contingentrenmental liabilities of $50 million in additiomtthe amounts for which we have already
recorded as a reserve.
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LEGAL MATTERS AND CONTINGENCIES

We, and our subsidiaries, are defendants in vatega actions (including proceedings based orgatleexposures to asbestos) incide
to our past and current business activities. Werilge some of these matters in Item 3—"Legal Redoeys.” At December 31, 2014 and
2013, our consolidated balance sheets includédities for these legal actions of $22.1 millionda$19.3 million , respectively. These
liabilities do not include costs associated witlillerepresentation. Based on our analysis, ansidering the inherent uncertainties associatec
with litigation, we do not believe that it is reasdly possible that these legal actions will matsriadversely affect our financial position, cast
flows or results of operations.

During the ordinary course of our business, comtiries arise resulting from an existing condit&ityation or set of circumstances
involving an uncertainty as to the realization gfassible gain contingency. In certain instancef ®s environmental projects, we are
responsible for managing the cleanup and remediafi@n environmental site. There exists the fil#tgi of recovering a portion of these
costs from other parties. We account for gainiogeicies in accordance with the provisions of A0 “Contingencies” (ASC 450) and
therefore do not record gain contingencies andgmize income until it is earned and realizable.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, we recogfize® million as a reduction of cost of goods geldted to a Chlor Alkali
Products favorable contract settlement. Also ferytear ended December 31, 2013, we recognized $iiBi®n as a reduction of selling and
administration expense related to the recoverggdty legal costs.

LIQUIDITY, INVESTMENT ACTIVITY AND OTHER FINANCIAL DATA
Cash Flow Data

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Provided by (used for) ($ in millions)

Net operating activities $ 1592 $ 317.C $ 279.:
Capital expenditures (71.9) (90.9) (255.%)
Business acquired in purchase transaction, neasif acquired — — (310.9)
Proceeds from sale/leaseback of equipment — 35.¢ 4.4
Restricted cash activity, net 4.2 7.7 39.¢
Net investing activities (61.9) (43.9) (512.9
Long-term debt (repayments) borrowings, net (12.9 (23.9) 180.1
Earn out payment - SunBelt (14.9) (17.3) (15.9)
Common stock repurchased and retired (64.¢) (36.2) (3.2
Net financing activities (148.5 (130.¢ 93.€

Operating Activities

For 2014, cash provided by operating activitieseased by $157.8 million from 2013, primarily doddwer earnings and an increas
working capital in 2014 compared to a decreasedrking capital in 2013. For 2014, working capitadreased $62.4 million compared to a
decrease of $29.6 million in 2013. Inventorieg@ased $23.6 million, primarily due to the retwratmore normal level of inventory at
Winchester. Accounts payable and accrued liakslitiecreased by $38.5 million, primarily due tofihal earn out payment related to the
SunBelt performance. The 2014 cash from operati@asalso impacted by a $12.3 million decrease s$h tax payments.

For 2013, cash provided by operating activitieseased by $37.8 million from 2012, primarily duehigher earnings and a larger
decrease in working capital in 2013. For 2013,kiviy capital decreased $29.6 million compared deerease of $18.4 million in 2012. The
decrease in 2013 was primarily due to decreasedvades of $18.9 million, primarily at Chemicaldlibution, and decreased inventory of
$8.6 million, primarily at Chemical Distribution diwinchester. The 2013 cash from operations wasialpacted by a $32.9 million increase
in cash tax payments.
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Capital Expenditures

Capital spending was $71.8 million , $90.8 millamd $255.7 million in 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , reipely. The decreased capital
spending in 2014 was primarily due to the comptetibthe low salt, high strength bleach facilitydahe hydrochloric acid expansion projec
our Henderson, NV chlor alkali site during thetfigsiarter of 2013. Capital spending in 2012 inctldpending for the completion of the
Charleston, TN conversion project and the comptedibthe low salt, high strength bleach facilitegour Mcintosh, AL and Niagara Falls, NY
chlor alkali sites. Capital spending was 58%, 7%#b 245% of depreciation in 2014 , 2013 and 20E3pectively.

In 2015, we expect our capital spending to b&é@$%120 million to $130 million range, which inckslspending for the ongoing
relocation of our Winchester centerfire ammunitioanufacturing operations.

Investing Activities

On August 22, 2012, we acquired KA Steel and paghof $310.4 million, after receiving the finalkimg capital adjustment of $1.9
million, net of $26.2 million of cash acquired.

During 2013 and 2012 , we entered into sale/leadedgreements for caustic soda barges, bleachrsaihd chlorine, caustic soda and
bleach railcars. In 2013 and 2012 , we receivedgeds from the sales of $35.8 million and $4.4ioni| respectively.

In 2010, we completed financings of Go Zone andoRery Zone bonds totaling $153.0 million due 202333 and 2035. The proceeds
of these bonds were required to be used to funidatgpojects in Alabama, Mississippi and Tennessag were fully utilized as of December
31,2014 . In 2014, 2013 and 2012 , we utilizé@3$nillion , $7.7 million and $39.8 million , resgtively, of the Go Zone and Recovery Zone
proceeds to fund qualifying capital spending.

Financing Activities

In August 2014, we redeemed our $150.0 million 28bges, which would have matured on August 15, 20%8 recognized interest
expense of $9.5 million for the call premium ( $iflion ) and the write-off of unamortized defedrdebt issuance costs ( $2.1 million ) and
unamortized discount ( $0.7 million ) related tes thaction.

On June 24, 2014, we entered into a new five-yéab® million senior credit facility consisting af$265.0 million senior revolving
credit facility, which replaced our previous $26&lion senior revolving credit facility, and a $0.0 million delayed-draw term loan facility.
In August 2014, we drew the entire $150.0 millidritee term loan and used the proceeds to redeer?0d® Notes. In December 2014, we
repaid $0.9 million under the required quarterlstaliments of the $150.0 million term loan facility

In 2014, we paid deferred debt issuance costs .@fiillion related to the new five-year $415.0 ioitl senior credit facility.

In December 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , we repaid $hilldn due under the annual requirements of theBlt Notes. In January 2013,
we also repaid $11.4 million of 2013 Notes, whigtéime due.

In August 2012, we sold $200.0 million of 2022 Noteith a maturity date of August 15, 2022. The 2BR2es were issued at par value.
Interest is paid semi-annually on February 15 andust 15. The acquisition of KA Steel was partidilhanced with proceeds of $196.0
million, after expenses of $4.0 million, from the22 Notes.

In June 2012, we redeemed industrial revenue bimtakng $7.7 million with a maturity date of 20WK.e paid a premium of $0.2
million to the bond holders, which was includedriterest expense. We also recognized a $0.2 mitleferred gain in interest expense related
to the interest rate swap, which was terminatddanch 2012, on these industrial revenue bonds.

During 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , we paid $26.7 mill23.2 million and $18.5 million, respectivelys the earn out related to the 2013,
2012 and 2011 SunBelt performance. The earn guheats for the years ended December 31, 2014, 20d2012 included $14.8 million,
$17.1 million and $15.3 million, respectively, thegre recognized as part of the original purchaimep The $14.8 million, $17.1 million and
$15.3 million are included as a financing activitythe statement of cash flows.

38




We repurchased and retired 2.5 million , 1.5 milland 0.2 million shares in 2014 , 2013 and 20&3pectively, with a total value of
$64.8 million , $36.2 million and $3.1 million ,geectively.

In 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , we issued 0.5 millior,rillion and 0.1 million shares, respectivelyttwa total value of $12.1 million$9.7
million and $1.4 million , respectively, represagtistock options exercised.

The percent of total debt to total capitalizatinoreased to 40.0% at December 31, 2014 , from 38&i6#ar-end 2013 . The percent of
total debt to total capitalization was 41.7% atryead 2012 . The 2014 increase from 2013 was almater shareholders’ equity primarily
resulting from the $86.6 million after-tax charge ébur pension and other postretirement plans. ifisi®ase was partially offset by a lower
level of long-term debt at December 31, 2014 réwyfrom the repayments of maturing debt. The 28d&ease from 2012 was due to a lowel
level of long-term debt at December 31, 2013 re@syfrom the repayments of maturing debt and higiareholders2quity primarily resultin
from the net income for the year ended Decembe?2@13.

Dividends per common share were $0.80 in 2014 320t 2012 . Total dividends paid on common stokunted to $63.0 million ,
$64.0 million and $64.1 million in 2014 , 2013 a2M@12 , respectively. On January 23, 2015, ourdoédirectors declared a dividend of
$0.20 per share on our common stock, payable octiMED, 2015 to shareholders of record on Februdr2@15.

The payment of cash dividends is subject to therei®on of our board of directors and will be detared in light of then-current
conditions, including our earnings, our operatiang, financial condition, our capital requiremeatsl other factors deemed relevant by our
board of directors. In the future, our board @édiors may change our dividend policy, including frequency or amount of any dividend, in
light of then-existing conditions.

LIQUIDITY AND OTHER FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

Our principal sources of liquidity are from castdamash equivalents, cash flow from operations &wodtserm borrowings under our
senior revolving credit facility. Additionally, weelieve that we have access to the debt and eqpaitiets.

Cash flow from operations is variable as a rediuftath the seasonal and the cyclical nature ofoparating results, which have been
affected by seasonal and economic cycles in matiyeoindustries we serve, such as the vinyls, areth, bleach, ammunition and pulp and
paper. The seasonality of the ammunition busingsigh is typically driven by the fall hunting seas and the seasonality of the vinyls and
bleach businesses, which are stronger in periodsaoher weather, typically cause working capitafltctuate between $50 million to $100
million over the course of the year. Cash flownfroperations is affected by changes in ECU seplimces caused by the changes in the
supply/demand balance of chlorine and caustic segdalting in the chlor alkali business having ffigant leverage on our earnings and cash
flow. For example, assuming all other costs rencaimstant and internal consumption remains apprataty the same, a $10 per ECU selling
price change equates to an approximate $14 maliorual change in our revenues and pretax profinwkeare operating at full capacity.

For 2014, cash provided by operating activitieseased by $157.8 million from 2013, primarily doddwer earnings and an increas
working capital in 2014 compared to a decreasedrking capital in 2013. For 2014, working capitadreased $62.4 million compared to a
decrease of $29.6 million in 2013. Inventorieg@ased $23.6 million, primarily due to the retwratmore normal level of inventory at
Winchester. Accounts payable and accrued liakslitiecreased by $38.5 million, primarily due tofihal earn out payment related to the
SunBelt performance. The 2014 cash from operati@asalso impacted by a $12.3 million decrease s$h tax payments.

Capital spending was $71.8 million , $90.8 milliamd $255.7 million in 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , re8pely. The decreased capital
spending in 2014 was primarily due to the comptetbthe low salt, high strength bleach facilitydathe hydrochloric acid expansion projec
our Henderson, NV chlor alkali site in the firstagter of 2013. Capital spending in 2012 includeehsiing for the completion of the Charles
TN conversion project and the completion of the kadt, high strength bleach facilities at our Mobtt, AL and Niagara Falls, NY chlor alkali
sites. Capital spending was 58%, 75% and 245% miedétion in 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

In 2015 , we expect our capital spending to bé@®120 million to $130 million range, which inckedspending for the ongoing
relocation of our Winchester centerfire ammunitioanufacturing operations.

39




The overall cash decrease of $51.0 million in 2pdiarily reflects common stock repurchased anidegttand repayments of maturing
debt, partially offset by our operating resultssBé on our December 31, 2014 cash balance of $2%Bi@&n and the availability of $257.7
million of liquidity from our senior revolving crétfacility, we believe we have sufficient liquiglito meet our short-term and long-term needs
Additionally, we believe that we have access todélet and equity markets.

On April 24, 2014, our board of directors authodizenew share repurchase program for up to 8 miittares of common stock that v
terminate in three years for any remaining shactyet repurchased. This authorization replacedltity 2011 program. We repurchased and
retired 2.5 million , 1.5 million and 0.2 milliorhares in 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively caisaof $64.8 million , $36.2 million and $3.1
million , respectively. As of December 31, 20Mle had repurchased a total of 1.9 million sharefeuthe April 2014 program, and 6.1
million shares remained authorized to be purcha3éa: repurchases will be effected from time toetiom the open market, or in privately
negotiated transactions.

In August 2014, we redeemed our $150.0 million 28bges, which would have matured on August 15, 20¢8 recognized interest
expense of $9.5 million for the call premium ( $iflion ) and the write-off of unamortized defedrdebt issuance costs ( $2.1 million ) and
unamortized discount ( $0.7 million ) related tes thaction.

On June 24, 2014, we entered into a new five-yéab® million senior credit facility consisting af$265.0 million senior revolving
credit facility, which replaced our previous $26&lion senior revolving credit facility, and a $0.0 million delayed-draw term loan facility.
In August 2014, we drew the entire $150.0 millidritee term loan and used the proceeds to redeer20d® Notes. The new $415.0 million
senior credit facility will expire in June 2019. & hew $265.0 million senior revolving credit fawilincludes a $60.0 million letter of credit
subfacility and the option to expand the facilitydn additional $100.0 million . At December 3112Q we had $257.7 million available under
our $265.0 million senior revolving credit facilibecause we had issued $7.3 million of lettersedit under the $60.0 milliosubfacility. The
$150.0 million term loan facility includes amorti in equal quarterly installments at a rate 822annually for the first two years increas
to 5% for the remaining three years. In Decembdd2@e repaid $0.9 million under the required gerytinstallments. The terms and
conditions of the new senior credit facility arengar to those of our previous $265.0 million semevolving credit facility except the addition
of quarterly installments on the term loan faciliygnder the new senior credit facility, we may selerious floating rate borrowing
options. The actual interest rate paid on borrg&inander the senior credit facility is based omieing grid which is dependent upon the
leverage ratio as calculated under the terms ofattibty at the end of the prior fiscal quartéFhe facility includes various customary restric
covenants, including restrictions related to th@raf debt to earnings before interest expense&stadepreciation and amortization (leverage
ratio) and the ratio of earnings before interegtemse, taxes, depreciation and amortization todstexpense (coverage ratio). Compliance
with these covenants is determined quarterly basetie operating cash flows for the last four geract We were in compliance with all
covenants and restrictions under all our outstandiedit agreements as of December 31, 2014 ar8l 208 no event of default had occurred
that would permit the lenders under our outstandieglit agreements to accelerate the debt if natdculn the future, our ability to generate
sufficient operating cash flows, among other fagtarill determine the amounts available to be beew under these facilities. As of
December 31, 2014, there were no covenants or ogkgrictions that limited our ability to borrow.

Pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated Dec2)i997, SunBelt sold $97.5 million of Guaradt&enior Secured Notes due
2017, Series O, and $97.5 million of Guaranteeddd&ecured Notes due 2017, Series G. We referege notes as the SunBelt Notes. The
SunBelt Notes bear interest at a rate of 7.23%peum, payable semi-annually in arrears on each d2rand December 22. Beginning on
December 22, 2002 and each year through 2017, $uisBequired to repay $12.2 million of the SunBébtes, of which $6.1 million is
attributable to the Series O Notes and of whicH $8illion is attributable to the Series G Notea.December 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , $12.2
million was repaid on these SunBelt Notes.

We have guaranteed the Series O Notes, and Polgommration (PolyOne), our former SunBelt partiers guaranteed the Series G
Notes, in both cases pursuant to customary guaegrgements. We have agreed to indemnify Poly@narfy payments or other costs un
the guarantee in favor of the purchasers of theeS& Notes, to the extent any payments or oth&is@rise from a default or other breach
under the SunBelt Notes. If SunBelt does not miakely payments on the SunBelt Notes, whether msalt of a failure to pay on a guarantee
or otherwise, the holders of the SunBelt Notes prageed against the assets of SunBelt for repayment

In January 2013, we repaid $11.4 million of 2013d$pwhich became due.
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In August 2012, we sold $200.0 million of 2022 Noweith a maturity date of August 15, 2022. The 2D@2es were issued at par value.
Interest is paid semi-annually on February 15 andust 15. The acquisition of KA Steel was partidilhanced with proceeds of $196.0
million, after expenses of $4.0 million, from theZ@22 Notes.

In June 2012, we redeemed industrial revenue bimtakng $7.7 million with a maturity date of 201\W.e paid a premium of $0.2
million to the bond holders, which was includedriterest expense. We also recognized a $0.2 millfarred gain in interest expense related
to the interest rate swap, which was terminatddanch 2012, on these industrial revenue bonds.

At December 31, 2014 , we had total letters of itr@d$20.9 million outstanding, of which $7.3 nmih were issued under our $265.0
million senior revolving credit facility. The Iefts of credit were used to support certain leerga debt, certain workers compensation insur
policies, certain plant closure and post-closurgabons and certain Canadian pension fundingirequents.

Our current debt structure is used to fund ourriess operations. As of December 31, 2014 , wddmadterm borrowings, including
the current installment and capital lease obligetj@f $675.1 million , of which $305.0 million wasvariable rates. Annual maturities of
long-term debt, including capital lease obligaticare $16.4 million in 2015 , $146.0 million in 2D1$21.4 million in 2017 , $8.0 million in
2018, $126.1 million in 2019 and a total of $35mflion thereafter. Commitments from banks under senior revolving credit facility are an
additional source of liquidity.

In June 2012, we terminated $73.1 millioiinterest rate swaps with Wells Fargo Bank, N\ells Fargo) that had been entered int
the SunBelt Notes in May 2011. The result was a ga2.2 million which will be recognized througB17. As of December 31, 2014 , $0.8
million of this gain was included in long-term debt

In March 2012, Citibank, N.A. (Citibank) terminat®@.7 million of interest rate swaps on our indiaslevelopment and environmental
improvement tax-exempt bonds due in 2017. The ress a gain of $0.2 million , which would have beecognized through 2017. In June
2012, the industrial revenue bonds were redeemes ognd as a result, the remaining $0.2 millicieded gain was recognized in interest
expense during 2012.

In March 2010, we entered into interest rate sveap$125 million of our underlying fixed-rate delttligations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseemgents is Citibank, a major financial
institution. In October 2011, we entered into $4#8ion of interest rate swaps with equal and cpfeoterms as the $125 million variable
interest rate swaps on the 6.75% senior notes @@ 2016 Notes). We have agreed to pay a fixexitoea counterparty who, in turn, pays us
variable rates. The counterparty to this agreensesiso Citibank. The result was a gain of $Itillion on the $125 million variable interest
rate swaps, which will be recognized through 20A6.of December 31, 2014 , $3.7 million of thisrgaias included in long-term debt. In
October 2011, we ddesignated our $125 million interest rate swapshhd previously been designated as fair value ¢éred@he $125 millio
variable interest rate swaps and the $125 millived interest rate swaps do not meet the criterdédge accounting. All changes in the fair
value of these interest rate swaps are recordedrdiy in earnings.

We have registered an undetermined amount of smuwith the SEC, so that, from time-to-time, waynissue debt securities,
preferred stock and/or common stock and associededants in the public market under that registrastatement.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Our operating lease commitments are primarily &lread cars but also include distribution, wareding and office space and data
processing and office equipment. Virtually noneof lease agreements contain escalation claustemrent provisions.

In conjunction with the St. Gabriel, LA conversiand expansion project, which was completed in dlueth quarter of 2009, we entered
into a twenty-year brine and pipeline supply agreetmvith Boardwalk Louisiana Midstream, LLC (forePetroLogistics Olefins, LLC)
(Boardwalk). Boardwalk installed, owns and opesatt its own expense, a pipeline supplying bortbe St. Gabriel, LA facility. Since
November 2009, we have been obligated to makeeal fixnual payment over the life of the contracd20 million for use of the pipelin
regardless of the amount of brine purchased. \&eldd a minimum usage requirement for brine of $@llion over the first five-year period
of the contract. We have met or exceeded the mimirhrine usage requirements for this five-yearqaerifter the first five-year period, the
contract contains a buy out provision exercisagledfor $12.0 million, which decreases by $0.8ioml per year.
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Our long-term contractual commitments, including ¢m and off-balance sheet arrangements, consittad following:

Payments Due by Period
Less than 1-3 3-5 More than

Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years

($ in millions)

Debt obligations, including capital lease

obligations $ 675.1 $ 16.4 $ 167.2 $ 1341 % 357.2
Interest payments under debt obligations and
interest rate swap agreemefits 138.¢ 24.2 36.1 29.2 49.c
Contingent tax liability 38.4 7.3 4.4 7.3 19.4
Quialified pension plan contributioffs 1.C 1.C — — —
Non-qualified pension plan payments 65.4 22.1 11.¢ 6.3 25.2
Postretirement benefit payments 67.2 5.5 10.€ 9.t 41.¢€
Off-Balance Sheet Commitments:
Noncancelable operating leases 301.t 60.5 95.k 70.2 75.5
Purchasing commitments:
Raw materials 64.t 28.2 36.2 — —
Capital expenditures 4.€ 4.2 0.4 — —
Utilities 0.t 0.3 0.2 — —
Total $ 1,357.. % 169.t $ 362.6 $ 256.7 $ 568.(
(&) For the purposes of this table, we have asddorenll periods presented that there are no obsiirgthe principal amount of any variable
rate debt from the amounts outstanding on Dece®be2014, except for payments made under the required epiyarhstallments of th
$150.0 million term loan facility, and that theme @o changes in the rates from those in effebeaember 31, 2014 which ranged from
0.20% to 7.23%.
(b) These amounts are only estimated paymentsmisglan annual expected rate of return on pendemassets of 7.75%, and a discount

rate on pension plan obligations of 3.9%. Thesienated payments are subject to significant vasiatind the actual payments may be
more than the amounts estimated. Given the inhergertainty as to actual minimum funding requiesits for qualified defined bene
pension plans, no amounts are included in thietadslany period beyond one year. Based on threecufunding requirements, we will
not be required to make any cash contributionbéadbmestic qualified defined benefit pension plalkeast through 2015 . We do have
a small Canadian qualified defined benefit pengiam to which we made cash contributions of $0.Bigniand $1.0 million in 2014nc
2013, respectively, and we anticipate approxinygbél million of cash contributions in 2015 . Sescdssion on MAP-21 and HATFA
2014 in “Pension Plans” in the notes to consolidditeancial statements contained in Item 8.

Non-cancelable operating leases and purchasing damemts are utilized in our normal course of bus@or our projected needs. For

losses that we believe are probable and whichsiima&ble, we have accrued for such amounts in onsaidated balance sheets. In addition
to the table above, we have various commitmentscantingencies including: defined benefit and peigement healthcare plans (as describe
below), environmental matters (see discussion aboder “Environmental Matters”) and litigation ¢fes (see Item 3—“Legal Proceedings”).

We have several defined benefit and defined cantidh pension plans, as described in the “PensiansP note in the notes to

consolidated financial statements contained in BenWe fund the defined benefit pension plans thasethe minimum amounts required by
law plus such amounts we deem appropriate. We pasteetirement healthcare plans that provide headd life insurance benefits to certain
retired employees and their beneficiaries, as destin the “Postretirement Benefits” note in thetas to consolidated financial statements
contained in Item 8. These other postretiremeam$hbre not pre-funded and expenses are paid &yiasurred.

We also have standby letters of credit of $20.%ionilof which $7.3 million have been issued throwgit senior revolving credit

facility. At December 31, 2014 , we had $257.7lioml available under our senior revolving creditifigy.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caadiand results of operations are based upon mwsotidlated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with aco@uptinciples generally accepted in the Unitedé&ta The preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgriat affect the reported amounts of assetslilias, sales and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiegynificant estimates in our consolidated finansi@tements include goodwill recoverability,
environmental, restructuring and other unusual stditigation, income tax reserves including deddrtax asset valuation allowances, pension
postretirement and other benefits and allowancedobtful accounts. We base our estimates on prperience, facts and circumstances anc
other assumptions. Actual results may differ friin@se estimates.

We believe the following critical accounting poésiaffect the more significant judgments and esémased in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements.

Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized, but is reviewed for inmpaent annually in the fourth quarter and/or whé&oumstances or other events
indicate that impairment may have occurred. Omudgnl, 2012, we adopted Accounting Standards dp@eBU) 2011-08 “Testing Goodwill
for Impairment” (ASU 2011-08), which permits erggito make a qualitative assessment of whetheniore likely than not that a reporting
unit’s fair value is less than its carrying amobafore applying the twstep goodwill impairment test. Circumstances thatcansidered as pi
of the qualitative assessment and could triggetwioestep impairment test include, but are nottigito: a significant adverse change in the
business climate; a significant adverse legal juelgimadverse cash flow trends; an adverse actiassgssment by a government agency;
unanticipated competition; decline in our stoclcgriand a significant restructuring charge withieaorting unit. It is our practice, at a
minimum, to perform a quantitative goodwill impagnt test in the fourth quarter every three yearshé fourth quarter of 2014, we perforn
our triennial quantitative goodwill impairment tést our reporting units. We define reporting urditgshe business segment level. For purpose
of testing goodwill for impairment, goodwill hasdreallocated to our reporting units, Chlor AlkatoBucts and Chemical Distribution, to the
extent it relates to each reporting unit.

We use a discounted cash flow approach to devampdtimated fair value of a reporting unit whequantitative review is
performed. Management judgment is required in ldgieg the assumptions for the discounted cash ftewdel. We also corroborate our
discounted cash flow analysis by evaluating a ntaksed approach that considers earnings befareestt taxes, depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA) multiples from a representatsample of comparable public companies. Asthdunindicator that each reporting unit
has been valued appropriately using a discountshl ft@wv model, the aggregate fair value of all mipg units is reconciled to the total market
value of Olin. An impairment would be recordedhiétcarrying amount exceeded the estimated faiev@ased on the aforementioned
analysis, the estimated fair value of our ChloraillProducts reporting unit substantially exceethericarrying value of the reporting unit. The
estimated fair value of our Chemical Distributi@porting unit also exceeded the carrying valudefreporting unit. No impairment charges
were recorded for 2014 , 2013 or 2012 .

The discount rate, profitability assumptions arrdhieal growth rate of our chlor alkali and chemidatribution businesses and the
cyclical nature of our chlor alkali business wédre material assumptions utilized in the discourgsgh flow model used to estimate the fair
value of each reporting unit. The discount rafeeces a weighted-average cost of capital, whictaisulated based on observable market
data. Some of these data (such as the risk freeasury rate and the pretax cost of debt) aredbas the market data at a point in time. Othe
data (such as the equity risk premium) are based uyarket data over time for a peer group of corigzaim the chemical manufacturing or
distribution industries with a market capitalizatipremium added, as applicable.

The discounted cash flow analysis requires estisnatessumptions and judgments about future evéis.analysis uses our internally
generated long-range plan. Our discounted cashdlmalysis uses the assumptions in our long-ratageabout terminal growth rates,
forecasted capital expenditures and changes ingfutorking capital requirements to determine thplied fair value of each reporting
unit. The long-range plan reflects managementruely, supplemented by independent chemical indastajyses which provide multi-year
chlor alkali industry operating and pricing foresas

We believe the assumptions used in our goodwillaimmpent analysis are appropriate and result inoressle estimates of the implied
fair value of each reporting unit. However, githa economic environment and the uncertaintiesrdégg the impact on our business, there
can be no assurance that our estimates and assas)ptiade for purposes of our goodwill impairmestihg during the fourth quarter of 20.
will prove to be an accurate prediction of the fatuln order to evaluate the sensitivity of thie ¥alue calculation on the goodwill impairment
test, we applied a hypothetical 10% decrease téathe
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value of each reporting unit. We also applied adtlyptical decrease of 100-basis points in our teairgrowth rate or an increase of 100-basis
points in our weighted-average cost of capitakgi the fair value calculation. In all cases, tsiingated fair value of the Chlor Alkali Products
reporting unit derived in these sensitivity caltidas exceeded the carrying value by a substaaimunt. In these sensitivity calculations, the
estimated fair value of the Chemical Distributieporting unit also exceeded the carrying valuegpreximately 10%. If our assumptions
regarding future performance are not achieved, &g Ine required to record goodwill impairment charigefuture periods. It is not possible
this time to determine if any such future impairtemarge would result or, if it does, whether sobhrge would be material.

Environmental

Accruals (charges to income) for environmental eratare recorded when it is probable that a ligltilas been incurred and the amoun
of the liability can be reasonably estimated, bagssh current law and existing technologies. Tlemeunts, which are not discounted and ar
exclusive of claims against third parties, are sigjd periodically as assessments and remediafiorissprogress or additional technical or le
information becomes available. Environmental castscapitalized if the costs increase the valub@property and/or mitigate or prevent
contamination from future operations. Environméotests and recoveries are included in costs oflgaold.

Environmental exposures are difficult to assessifonerous reasons, including the identificatiom®iv sites, developments at sites
resulting from investigatory studies, advancegahhology, changes in environmental laws and réigaisand their application, changes in
regulatory authorities, the scarcity of reliabléadgertaining to identified sites, the difficulty &ssessing the involvement and financial
capability of other PRPs and our ability to obte@gmtributions from other parties and the lengthyetiperiods over which site remediation
occurs. It is possible that some of these mafteesoutcomes of which are subject to various uaggfes) may be resolved unfavorably to us,
which could materially adversely affect our finaadgosition, cash flows or results of operations.

Pension and Postretirement Plans

We account for our defined benefit pension plartsraam-pension postretirement benefit plans usitgagial models required by ASC
715. These models use an attribution approactgtrerally spreads the financial impact of changéke plan and actuarial assumptions ove
the average remaining service lives of the empleyed¢he plan. Changes in liability due to changesctuarial assumptions such as discount
rate, rate of compensation increases and mortaktyvell as annual deviations between what wasresdand what was experienced by the
plan are treated as actuarial gains or losses.pfiiheiple underlying the required attribution apach is that employees render service over
their average remaining service lives on a relgtisenooth basis and, therefore, the accountindpémefits earned under the pension or non-
pension postretirement benefits plans should folloevsame relatively smooth pattern. Substantéllgefined benefit pension plan
participants are no longer accruing benefits; tioees actuarial gains and losses are amortizeddb#sen the remaining life expectancy of the
inactive plan participants. For the years endedebwer 31, 2014 and 2013, the average remairiigipectancy of the inactive participants
in the defined benefit pension plan was 18 years.

One of the key assumptions for the net periodisimncalculation is the expected long-term ratestiirn on plan assets, used to
determine the “market-related value of assetstie(Tmarket-related value of assets” recognizegdifices between the plardctual return ar
expected return over a five year period). The ireguise of an expected long-term rate of returthermarket-related value of plan assets ma
result in recognized pension income that is greattézss than the actual returns of those plantsgsany given year. Over time, however, the
expected long-term returns are designed to appideitihe actual long-term returns and, therefosyltén a pattern of income and expense
recognition that more closely matches the pattétheservices provided by the employees. As difiees between actual and expected re
are recognized over five years, they subsequestigi@gte gains and losses that are subject to aatowti over the average remaining life
expectancy of the inactive plan participants, acdeed in the preceding paragraph.

We use long-term historical actual return inforraafithe mix of investments that comprise plan assetd future estimates of long-term
investment returns and inflation by reference tiemal sources to develop the expected long-tetenafareturn on plan assets as of Decembel
31

The discount rate assumptions used for pensiomangension postretirement benefit plan accountfigct the rates available on high-
quality fixed-income debt instruments on DecemldenBeach year. The rate of compensation incrisasased upon our long-term plans for
such increases. For retiree medical plan accagniie review external data and our own historicahds for healthcare costs to determine the
healthcare cost trend rates.
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Changes in pension costs may occur in the futuegtdliehanges in these assumptions resulting framaaic events. For example,
holding all other assumptions constant, a 100-hasist decrease or increase in the assumed longrtge of return on plan assets would have
decreased or increased, respectively, the 201datkbenefit pension plan income by approximatel§.4illion. Holding all other
assumptions constant, a 50-basis point decreahe iiscount rate used to calculate pension indom2014 and the projected benefit
obligation as of December 31, 2014 would have deseae pension income by $0.5 million and increaBegtojected benefit obligation by
$118.0 million. A 50-basis point increase in th&cdunt rate used to calculate pension income@@d2and the projected benefit obligation as
of December 31, 2014 would have increased pensmme by $0.7 million and decreased the projecésefit obligation by $115.0
million. For additional information on long-terrates of return, discount rates and projected hemihcosts projections, see “Pension Plans”
and “Postretirement Benefits” in the notes to tbesolidated financial statements contained in iBem

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In January 2015, the Financial Accounting Stand&atsrd (FASB) issued ASU 2015-08implifying Income Statement Presentatior
Eliminating the Concept of Extraordinary Items” (82015-01), which amends ASC 225-20 “Income Statemé&xtraordinary and Unusual
Items” (ASC 225-20). This update eliminates theome statement concept of extraordinary items asml etpands the disclosure requirement:
of items that are unusual in nature or occur infeeqly. This update is effective for fiscal yeaegimning after December 15, 2015. This upt
will not have a material effect on our consolidafiedncial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09 “ReveroenfContracts with Customers” (ASU 2014-09), whichends ASC 605
“Revenue Recognition” (ASC 605) and creates a rpict ASC 606 “Revenue from Contracts with CustashéASC 606). This update
provides guidance on how an entity should recogrézenue to depict the transfer of promised good®rvices to customers in an amount
reflects the consideration to which the entity extpeo be entitled in exchange for those goodenviges. Upon initial application, the
provision of this update are required to be applettbspectively to each prior reporting periodserged or retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of initially applying this update recognizatthe date of initial application. This updatsoa¢xpands the disclosure requirements
surrounding revenue recorded from contracts wigtaraers. This update is effective for fiscal yearg] interim periods within those years,
beginning after December 15, 2016. We are currenfuating the effect of this update on our finahstatements and have not yet determ
the method of initial application we will use.

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-08 “RepogtiDiscontinued Operations and Disclosures of Diafsoof Components of an
Entity” (ASU 2014-08), which amends ASC 205 “Prdséion of Financial Statements” (ASC 205) and AS0 3Property, Plant, and
Equipment” (ASC 360). This update changes therifer a disposal transaction to qualify as a aligmued operation. This update also
expands the disclosure requirements surroundirapdisiued operations. This update is effectivefifmal years beginning after December 15,
2014. This update will not have a material effatibor consolidated financial statements.

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-11 “Preg@niaf an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net @pirg Loss Carryforward, a
Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryfoward EXifASU 2013-11), which amends ASC 740 “Income TEXASC 740). This update
provides guidance on the financial statement ptasien of unrecognized tax benefits when net ofragdbss carryforwards, similar tax losses
or tax credit carryforwards exist. We adopted thevjsions of ASU 2013-11 on January 1, 2014. Tidaie did not have a material effect on
our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-04 “@dilbns Resulting from Joint and Several Liabiftyangements for Which the
Total Amount of the Obligation Is Fixed at the Rejpg Date” (ASU 2013-04), which amends ASC 405dhilities” (ASC 405). This update
clarifies how entities measure obligations resglfiom joint and several liability arrangements. Wéwopted the provisions of ASU 2013-04 on
January 1, 2014. This update did not have a matffect on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-02 “Répg of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulatech@tComprehensive
Income” (ASU 2013-02), which amends ASC 220 “Conresive Income” (ASC 220). This update adds nessldsure requirements about
reclassifications out of accumulated other compnslve income including the effects of these redi@ssions on net income. We adopted the
provisions of ASU 2013-02 on January 1, 2013. Tipdate did not have a material effect on our clichsted financial statements.
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In July 2012, the FASB issued ASU 2012-02 “Testimgefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Impairmef&SU 2012-02) which amends
ASC 350 “Intangibles — Goodwill and Other” (ASC 350his update permits entities to make a qualigahdssessment of whether it is more
likely than not that an indefinite-lived intangitdsset’s fair value is less than its carrying amdefore performing a quantitative impairment
test. If an entity concludes that it is not makelly than not that the fair value of the indef@ltved intangible asset is less than its carrying
amount, it would not be required to perform thergitative test for that asset. We adopted theiprons of ASU 2012-02 during 2012. This
update did not have a material effect on our cadatdd financial statements.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-08chlvaimends ASC 350. This update permits entitiesake a qualitative
assessment of whether it is more likely than nat ghreporting unit’s fair value is less than ésrging amount before applying the two-step
goodwill impairment test. If an entity concludést it is not more likely than not that the failw@of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, it would not be required to perform the-step impairment test for that reporting unit. Wfwopted the provisions of ASU 2011-08 on
January 1, 2012. This update did not have a nadtefifect on our consolidated financial statements.

During 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05 “Pres@matf Comprehensive Income” (ASU 2011-05) and ABX11-12 “Deferral of
the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presemtatif Reclassifications of ltems Out of Accumula@tther Comprehensive Income in ASU
No. 201:-05" (ASU 2011-12). These updates require enttbggresent items of net income and other compigherncome either in one
continuous statement, referred to as the stateai@umprehensive income, or in two separate, boseoutive, statements of net income and
other comprehensive income. We retrospectivelyptatbthe provisions of ASU 2011-05 and ASU 201lstidanuary 1, 2012. These updates
required modification of our consolidated finanagtdtements presentation. These updates did netanenaterial effect on our consolidated
financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-04 “AmendméatAchieve Common Fair Value Measurement andl@ssice Requirements
in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs,” (ASU 2011-04), which ameASC 820 “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosug&SCT 820). This update
clarifies the existing guidance and amends the ingrdsed to describe many of the requirements $ GAAP for measuring fair value and
for disclosing information about fair value measueats. This update became effective for us onalgry 2012. This update did not have a
material effect on our consolidated financial stzats.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

ASC 815 “Derivatives and Hedging” (ASC 815) reqdiemn entity to recognize all derivatives as eitiwgets or liabilities in the
statement of financial position and measure thoseuments at fair value. We use hedge accoutri@agment for substantially all of our
business transactions whose risks are covered dsiative instruments. The accounting treatnoérhanges in fair value is dependent u
whether or not a derivative instrument is desighat® a hedge and, if so, the type of hedge. Firalives designated as a fair value hedge
changes in the fair value of both the derivativd tre hedged item are recognized in earnings.d€avatives designated as a cash flow hedge
the change in fair value of the derivative is ratagd in other comprehensive income (loss) unéltiedged item is recognized in
earnings. Ineffective portions are recognizedently in earnings. Unrealized gains and lossedasivatives not qualifying for hedge
accounting are recognized currently in earningh.dérivatives recognized in earnings impact thpemse line item on our consolidated
statement of operations that is consistent withéteire of the underlying hedged item.

We enter into forward sales and purchase conttagtseanage currency risk resulting from purchasesael commitments denominated
in foreign currencies (principally Canadian dolland Australian dollar). At December 31, 2014 a6dl®, we had no forward contracts to buy
or sell foreign currencies.

We use cash flow hedges for certain raw materidlearergy costs such as copper, zinc, lead, elégtaiod natural gas to provide a
measure of stability in managing our exposure toepftuctuations associated with forecasted puretas$ raw materials and energy costs usec
in our manufacturing process. For derivative instents that are designated and qualify as a cashhiédge, the change in fair value of the
derivative is recognized as a component of otherprehensive income (loss) until the hedged itereésgnized into earnings. Gains and
losses on the derivatives representing hedge ttefémess are recognized currently in earningssske on settled futures contracts were $1.8
million ($1.1 million, net of taxes), $1.4 milliai$0.9 million, net of taxes) and $6.5 million ($4xlllion, net of taxes) in 2014 , 2013 and
2012 , respectively, which were included in cosgobds sold. At December 31, 201e had open positions in futures contracts thna2@( 8
totaling $89.3 million (2013 — $78.1 million )f dll open futures contracts had been settled areBer 31, 2014 , we would have
recognized a pretax loss of $7.1 million .
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At December 31, 2014accumulated other comprehensive loss includedsy het of taxes, in fair value on commodity faidveontract:
of $4.2 million. If commodity prices were to remait the levels they were at December 31, 201groxpnately $3.1 million of deferred
losses, net of tax, would be reclassified into E@®during the next twelve months. The actuaefbn earnings will be dependent on
commodity prices when the forecasted transactionsro At December 31, 201&ccumulated other comprehensive loss includesirg get o
taxes, in fair value on commaodity forward contrazt$0.9 million.

We use interest rate swaps as a means of manag@ngst expense and floating interest rate expdsusptimal levels. The accounting
for gains and losses associated with changesrindhie of the derivative and the effect on thesodidated financial statements will depend on
the hedge designation and whether the hedge ictieian offsetting changes in fair value of cakiwk of the asset or liability being
hedged. For derivative instruments that are desgghand qualify as a fair value hedge, the galos® on the derivative as well as the
offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item attdbié to the hedged risk are recognized in curramiiegs. We include the gain or loss on the
hedged items (fixed-rate borrowings) in the same fiem, interest expense, as the offsetting logmim on the related interest rate swaps. W¢
had no interest rate swaps designated as fair veddges as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 .

In March 2010, we entered into interest rate sveap$125 million of our underlying fixed-rate delttligations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseemgents is Citibank. In October 2011, we
entered into $125 million of interest rate swapthvequal and opposite terms as the $125 milliorabér interest rate swaps on the 2016
Notes. We have agreed to pay a fixed rate to ategoarty who, in turn, pays us variable ratese Gbunterparty to this agreement is ¢
Citibank. The result was a gain of $11.0 milliantbe $125 million variable interest rate swapsicivhwill be recognized through 2016. As of
December 31, 2014 , $3.7 million of this gain waduded in long-term debt. In October 2011, weddsignated our $125 million interest rate
swaps that had previously been designated asdhiewhedges. The $125 million variable interett savaps and the $125 million fixed intel
rate swaps do not meet the criteria for hedge adewy All changes in the fair value of these iet# rate swaps are recorded currently in
earnings.

The fair value of our derivative asset and liapibalances were:

December 31,

2014 2013
(% in millions)
Other current assets $ — % 1.3
Other assets 3.t 5.¢
Total derivative asset $ 3 ¢ 7.2
Accrued liabilities $ 8€ $ —
Long-term debt 4.t 7.3
Total derivative liability $ 131 $ 7.2

The ineffective portion of changes in fair valusuked in zero charged or credited to earningsHeryears ended December 31, 2014 ,
2013 and 2012 .

Our foreign currency forward contracts, certain owodity derivatives and our $125 million fixed arariable interest rate swaps did not
meet the criteria to qualify for hedge accountifidie effect on operating results of items not dyilg for hedge accounting was a charge
(benefit) of $1.4 million, ($0.4 million) and $2rfillion in 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We are exposed to market risk in the normal coafsir business operations due to our purchasesrtdin commodities, our ongoing
investing and financing activities and our opemgithat use foreign currencies. The risk of I@asle assessed from the perspective of ad

changes in fair values, cash flows and future egsi We have established policies and proceduresrging our management of market risks
and the use of financial instruments to manage &x@oto such risks.
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Energy costs including electricity used in our Ghdkali Products segment, and certain raw mateiald energy costs, namely copper,
lead, zinc, electricity and natural gas used priar our Winchester and Chemical Distribution sents are subject to price
volatility. Depending on market conditions, we neyer into futures contracts and put and callosptiontracts in order to reduce the impa
commodity price fluctuations. As of December 3012, we maintained open positions on futures estgrwith a notional value totalif§9.2
million ( $78.1 million at December 31, 2013 ). sAisning a hypothetical 10% increase in commoditggs; which are currently hedged, as of
December 31, 2014 , we would experience an $8./6omi{$7.8 million at December 31, 2013 ) increaseur cost of inventory purchased,
which would be substantially offset by a correspngdncrease in the value of related hedging imstnts.

We are exposed to changes in interest rates phinaaria result of our investing and financing atigg. The effect of interest rates on
investing activity is not material to our consotield financial position, results of operations astcllows. Our current debt structure is used to
fund business operations, and commitments from$anker our senior revolving credit facility arsaurce of liquidity. As of December 31,
2014 , we had long-term borrowings, including caldiéase obligations, of $675.1 million ( $691.0limn at December 31, 2013 ) of which
$305.0 million ($155.9 million at December 31, 2Q48as issued at variable rates.

In June 2012, we terminated $73.1 millioiinterest rate swaps with Wells Fargo that haehtentered into on the SunBelt Notes in |
2011. The result was a gain of $2.2 million whichi e recognized through 2017. As of December2il.4 , $0.8 million of this gain was
included in long-term debt.

In March 2012, Citibank terminated $7.7 millioninferest rate swaps on our industrial revenue bduesn 2017. The result was a gain
of $0.2 million , which would have been recognizedugh 2017. In June 2012, the industrial revebnreds were redeemed by us, and as a
result, the remaining $0.2 million deferred gairsweacognized in interest expense during 2012.

In March 2010, we entered into interest rate sveap$125 million of our underlying fixed-rate delttligations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseemgents is Citibank. In October 2011, we
entered into $125 million of interest rate swapthwequal and opposite terms as the $125 milliorabér interest rate swaps on the 2016
Notes. We have agreed to pay a fixed rate to ategoarty who, in turn, pays us variable ratese Gbunterparty to this agreement is ¢
Citibank. The result was a gain of $11.0 millianthe $125 million variable interest rate swapsicivhwill be recognized through 2016. As of
December 31, 2014 , $3.7 million of this gain waduded in long-term debt. In October 2011, weddsignated our $125 million interest rate
swaps that had previously been designated asdhiewhedges. The $125 million variable interett savaps and the $125 million fixed intel
rate swaps do not meet the criteria for hedge adogwy All changes in the fair value of these iet# rate swaps are recorded currently in
earnings.

Assuming no changes in the $305.0 million of vadeatate debt levels from December 31, 2014 , wienesé that a hypothetical change
of 100-basis points in the LIBOR interest ratesfr014 would impact annual interest expense by 8@llibn.

The following table reflects the swap activity teldto certain debt obligations:

Swa
Underlying Debt Instrument Amou?]t Date of Swap December 31, 2014
Olin Pays

(% in millions) Floating Rate:
6.75%, due 2016 $ 65.C March 2010 3.0 -4.0%®@
6.75%, due 2016 $ 60.C March 2010 3.0 -4.0%®@

Olin Receives

Floating Rate:
6.75%, due 2016 $ 65.C October 2011 3.0 -4.0%®@
6.75%, due 2016 $ 60.C October 2011 3.0-4.0%®@

(&) Actual rate is set in arrears. We project the watifall within the range show

These interest rate swaps reduced interest exjpgrs2.9 million in both 2014 and 2013 and $3.4 i@nillin 2012 .
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If the actual change in interest or commoditiesipg is substantially different than expected,ieeimpact of interest rate risk or
commodity risk on our cash flow may be materialfffestent than that disclosed above.

We do not enter into any derivative financial ingtients for speculative purposes.
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMEN TS:

This report includes forward-looking statementfie3e statements relate to analyses and other iafiemthat are based on
management’s beliefs, certain assumptions madeamagement, forecasts of future results and cuergrectations, estimates and projections
about the markets and economy in which we and atiows segments operate. The statements contaiileid report that are not statement
historical fact may include forward-looking statertsethat involve a number of risks and uncertagntie

We have used the words “anticipate,” “intend,” “nidiexpect,” “believe,” “should,” “plan,” “estimatg “project,” “forecast,”
“optimistic” and variations of such words and siniexpressions in this report to identify such fam¢looking statements. These statements
are not guarantees of future performance and ievodrtain risks, uncertainties and assumptions;hwaie difficult to predict and many of
which are beyond our control. Therefore, actuatomes and results may differ materially from thossters expressed or implied in such
forward-looking statements. We undertake no olibgeto update publicly any forwaiddoking statements, whether as a result of futusnts
new information or otherwise.

The risks, uncertainties, and assumptions involaexlr forward-looking statements include thosedésed under Iltem 1A—"Risk

Factors.” You should consider all of our forwaoaking statements in light of these factors. Idiaon, other risks and uncertainties not
presently known to us or that we consider immaltenald affect the accuracy of our forward-lookistigtements.
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Item 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPP LEMENTARY DATA
MANAGEMENT REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIA L REPORTING

The management of Olin Corporation is responsitee§tablishing and maintaining adequate interaatrol over financial
reporting. Olin’s internal control system was desid to provide reasonable assurance to the corgpaaypagement and board of directors
regarding the preparation and fair presentatigoutslished financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how welsidmed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, efmse systems determined to be
effective can provide only reasonable assurande negpect to financial statement preparation apdgntation, and may not prevent or detect
all misstatements.

The management of Olin Corporation has assessezffdativeness of the company’s internal contra@rdfinancial reporting as of
December 31, 2014. In making this assessmentse the criteria set forth by the Committee of Spoimg Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) iternal Control—Integrated Framework (2018)guide our analysis and assessment. Based aaseessment as of
December 31, 2014, the company’s internal contvel dinancial reporting was effective based on ¢hosteria.

Our independent registered public accountants, KRMB, have audited and issued a report on ournaterontrol over financial
reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

/sl Todd A. Slater
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of OlinpgDaoation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Olin Corporation and subsidiaries &oember 31, 2014 and 2013,
and the related consolidated statements of opemtammprehensive income, shareholders’ equitycastl flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2014. Wehale audited Olin Corporation’s internal contreépfinancial reporting as of December
31, 2014, based orcriteria established imternal Control - Integrated Framework (2018sued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO)n Oorporation’s management is responsible fos¢heonsolidated financial
statements, for maintaining effective internal cohtver financial reporting, and for its assesstdrihe effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanyMgnagement Report on Internal Control over Finah&aporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated finasta@éments and an opinion on Olin Corporation’srimal control over financial reporting
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thetstmlobtain reasonable assurance about whethén#reial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal cordvelr financial reporting was maintained in all evél respects. Our audits of the
consolidated financial statements included exarginim a test basis, evidence supporting the amaunatslisclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarsg significant estimates made by managementgaaldating the overall financial
statement presentation. Our audit of internal mmiver financial reporting included obtaining @mderstanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a nmaltereakness exists, and testing and evaluatiegidgsign and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. @uitsaalso included performing such other proceslasewe considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits progideasonable basis for our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablessesuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantegenerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over fittgal reporting includes those policies and procesthat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainly reflect the transactions and dispositionshef assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financétkstents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and @jige reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companysats that could have a material effect on thentiizd statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of Olin
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 314 20 2013, and the results of its operations @nchsh flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2014, in conifipwith U.S. generally accepted accounting pptes. Also in our opinion, Olin
Corporation maintained, in all material respecffgative internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2014, based on criteria
established ifnternal Control - Integrated Framework (201i8sued by the COSO.

/sl KPMG LLP

St. Louis, Missouri
February 25, 2015
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31
(In millions, except per share data)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net:
Trade
Other
Income taxes receivable
Inventories
Current deferred income taxes
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Prepaid pension costs
Restricted cash
Deferred income taxes
Other assets
Goodwill
Total assets
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Current installments of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Income taxes payable
Accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Accrued pension liability
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, par value $1 per share:
Authorized, 120.0 shares;
Issued and outstanding, 77.4 shares (79.4 in 2013)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

The accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents are an integral part of the consolidateshial statements.
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2014 2013
$ 2568 $ 307.¢
241.¢ 266.

21.2 13.€

21.€ 1.

210.1 186.

54.2 50.

10.2 13.2

816.1 839.¢

931.( 987.¢

— 1.7

— 4.2

12.F 9.c

191. 213.1

747.1 747.1

$ 2,698.. $ 2,802.¢
$ 164 $ 12.€
146.¢ 148.7

0.2 1.7

214.: 244.¢

377. 407.F

658.7 678.c

182.( 115.

107.1 117.¢€

359.1 382.¢

1,684.¢ 1,701.

77.2 79.

788.: 838.¢

(443.]) (365.9)

590.7 548.(

1,013 1,101

$ 2,698.. $ 2,802.¢




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years ended December 31
(In millions, except per share data)

2014 2013 2012

Sales $ 2,241.; $ 2515.( $ 2,184.
Operating expenses:

Cost of goods sold 1,853.: 2,033." 1,748.(

Selling and administration 170.¢ 190.( 168.¢

Restructuring charges 15.7 B 8.5

Acquisition costs — — 8.2
Other operating income iz 0.7 7.€
Operating income 203.¢ 286.t 258.¢
Earnings of non-consolidated affiliates 1.7 2.8 3.C
Interest expense 43.¢ 38.€ 26.4
Interest income & 0.€ 1.C
Other income (expense) 0.1 (1.9 (11.9)
Income from continuing operations before taxes 162.7 250.( 225.2
Income tax provision 57.7 71.4 75.€
Income from continuing operations 105.( 178.€ 149.¢
Income from discontinued operations, net 0.7 — —
Net income $ 105.7 $ 178.¢ $ 149.¢
Net income per common share:

Basic income per common share:

Income from continuing operations $ 1.3 % 224  $ 1.87

Income from discontinued operations, net 0.01 — —

Net income $ 134 % 224 % 1.87

Diluted income per common share:

Income from continuing operations $ 132 % 221 % 1.8¢

Income from discontinued operations, net 0.01 — —

Net income $ 132 ¢ 221 % 1.8t
Average common shares outstanding:

Basic 78.€ 79.€ 80.1

Diluted 79.7 80.¢ 81.C

The accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents are an integral part of the consolidatesh€ial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Years ended December 31

(In millions)
2014 2013 2012

Net income $ 105.7 $ 178.¢ $ 149.¢

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments (1.8 (2.6) 0.3
Unrealized (losses) gains on derivative contracts (5.2 (3.9 10.C
Pension and postretirement liability adjustmengs, n (86.6) (7.7) (101.9
Amortization of prior service costs and actuarisdes 15.t 20.c 14t
Total other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax (78.0 6.2 (77.2)
Comprehensive income $ 2717 $ 184.t  $ 72.5

The accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents are an integral part of the consolidateh€ial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In millions, except per share data)

Common Stock

Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Shares Par Paid-In Comprehensive Retained Shareholders’
Issued Value Capital Loss Earnings Equity
Balance at January 1, 2012 80.1 $ 801 ¢ 852.C $ (294.9) $ 347.¢ 985.¢
Net income — — — — 149.¢ 149.¢
Other comprehensive loss — — — (77.9) — (77.)
Dividends paid:

Common stock ($0.80 per share) — — — — (64.7) (64.7)
Common stock repurchased and retired  (0.2) (0.2 (2.9 — — (3.1
Common stock issued for:

Stock options exercised 0.1 0.1 1.3 — — 1.4

Other transactions 0.2 0.2 2.4 — — 2.€
Stock-based compensation — — 3.3 — — 3.8
Balance at December 31, 2012 80.2 80.2 856.1 (371.9) 433.¢ 998.4
Net income — — — — 178.€ 178.¢
Other comprehensive income — — — 6.2 — 6.2
Dividends paid:

Common stock ($0.80 per share) — — — — (64.0) (64.0
Common stock repurchased and retired  (1.5) (1.5 (34.7) — — (36.2)
Common stock issued for:

Stock options exercised 0.5 0.t 9.2 — — 9.7

Other transactions 0.2 0.2 3.C — — 3.2
Stock-based compensation — — 5.2 — — 5.2
Balance at December 31, 2013 79.4 79.4 838.¢ (365.)) 548.( 1,101.:
Net income — — — — 105.7 105.7
Other comprehensive loss — — — (78.0 — (78.0
Dividends paid:

Common stock ($0.80 per share) — — — — (63.0) (63.0)
Common stock repurchased and retired  (2.5) (2.5 (62.9) — — (64.5)
Common stock issued for:

Stock options exercised 0.5 0.t 11.€ — — 12.1

Other transactions — — (1.9 — — (1.9
Stock-based compensation — — 1€ — — 1.€
Balance at December 31, 2014 774 % 774 $ 788.: $ (443]) $ 590.7 1,013.:

The accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents are an integral part of the consolidateh€ial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31
(In millions)

Operating Activities
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashcasth equivalents provided by

(used for) operating activities:
Earnings of non-consolidated affiliates
Gain on disposition of non-consolidated affiliate
Gains on disposition of property, plant and equipime
Stock-based compensation
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred taxes

Write-off of equipment and facility included in tascturing charges

Qualified pension plan contributions
Qualified pension plan income
Change in assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Income taxes receivable/payable
Inventories
Other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Other assets
Other noncurrent liabilities
Other operating activities
Net operating activities
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures
Business acquired in purchase transaction, neasif acquired
Proceeds from sale/leaseback of equipment
Proceeds from disposition of property, plant andigment
Distributions from affiliated companies, net
Restricted cash activity, net
Other investing activities
Net investing activities
Financing Activities
Long-term debt:
Borrowings
Repayments
Earn out payment - SunBelt
Common stock repurchased and retired
Stock options exercised
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
Dividends paid
Deferred debt issuance costs
Net financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Cash paid for interest and income taxes:

Interect

2014 2013 2012
$ 105.7 $ 1786 $ 149.¢
(1.7) 2.9 (3.0
— (6.5) —
(1.2) (0.4) (2.2)
5.1 8.¢ 6.2
139.1 135.: 110.¢
31.C 12.2 42F
3.3 — —
(0.8) (1.0 (0.9)
(28.5) (24.7) (24.5)
25.€ 18.¢ 1.2
(27.9) 0.4 0.1
(23.6) 8.€ 17.¢
1.7 0.7 (0.1)
(38.5) 1. (0.7)
5.2 2 0.3
(33.2) (14.5) (17.9
(2.5) 2 —
159. 317.( 279.
(71.5) (90.5) (255.7)
— — (310.2)

— 35.¢ 4.4
5.6 4.€ 8.6
— 1.5 1.3
4.2 7.1 39.¢
0.3 (2.6) (0.4)
(61.7) (43.6) (512.2)
150. — 200.(
(162.9) (23.7) (19.9)
(14.5) (17.3) (15.9)
(64.5) (36.2) (3.1)
6.6 8. 1.3
1.1 1.6 0.7
(63.0) (64.0) (64.1)
(1.2) — (6.0)
(148.5) (130.6) 93.€
(51.0) 142.¢ (139.6)
307.¢ 165.: 304.¢
$ 256.6 $ 307.6 $ 165.
$ 366 $ YA 27.E



Income taxes, net of refunds $ 49.C $ 612 $ 28.4

The accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents are an integral part of the consolidateh€ial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Olin Corporation is a Virginia corporation, incorpted in 1892. We are a manufacturer concentiatédee business segments: Chlor
Alkali Products, Chemical Distribution and Wincherst Chlor Alkali Products, with eight U.S. manufaing facilities and one Canadian
manufacturing facility, produces chlorine and causbda, hydrochloric acid, hydrogen, bleach présland potassium hydroxide. Chemical
Distribution, with twenty-five owned and leasedémnal facilities, manufactures bleach products disttibutes caustic soda, bleach products,
potassium hydroxide and hydrochloric acid. Wincagswith its principal manufacturing facilities iast Alton, IL and Oxford, MS, produces
and distributes sporting ammunition, law enforcetr@nmunition, reloading components, small calibéitany ammunition and components
and industrial cartridges.

On August 22, 2012, we acquired 100% of privateydKA Steel, whose operating results are includatie accompanying financial
statements since the date of the acquisition. E@ment reporting purposes, KA Steel comprises then@ical Distribution segment. KA Stee
one of the largest distributors of caustic sodsanth America and manufactures and sells bleathaérMidwest.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets requires estimates and assumptions that affeaunts reported and disclosed in
the financial statements and related notes. Actgllts could differ from those estimates.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include tw@ants of Olin Corporation and all majority-owrsdbsidiaries. Investment in our
affiliates are accounted for on the equity methédcordingly, we include only our share of earningdosses of these affiliates in consolidatec
net income. Certain reclassifications were madwiter year amounts to conform to the 2014 presiemta

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized on sales of product iftleethe goods are shipped and the risks of owighsve passed to the
customer. Shipping and handling fees billed tdamers are included in sales. Allowances for estit returns, discounts and rebates are
recognized when sales are recorded and are basations market data, historical trends and infdaromafrom customers. Actual returns,
discounts and rebates have not been materiallgrdift from estimates.

Cost of Goods Sold and Selling and Administratigpehses
Cost of goods sold includes the costs of invensotd, related purchasing, distribution and warel@usosts, costs incurred for shipp
and handling, depreciation and amortization expeglseed to these activities and environmental diai®n costs and recoveries. Selling and
administration expenses include personnel costecided with sales, marketing and administratiesearch and development, legal and legal
related costs, consulting and professional senfiees, advertising expenses, depreciation expetsted to these activities, foreign currency
translation and other similar costs.
Other Operating Income
Other operating income consists of miscellaneowsaimg income items, which are related to ourtess activities, and gains (losses)

on disposition of property, plant and equipment.
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Included in other operating income were the follogvi

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
($ in millions)
Gains (losses) on disposition of property, plamt aguipment, net $ 02 % 1.1 $ 2.1
Amortization of 2007 gain on intangible asset ¢edeognized through 2012) — — 0.3
Gains on dispositions of former manufacturing fties — iz —
Gains on insurance recoveries — — 4.
Gain on resolution of a contract matter 1.C — —
Other 0.2 0.2 0.2
Other operating income $ 18 % 07 $ 7.€

The gains on disposition of property, plant andigapent in 2012 were primarily associated with tHeeston, TN conversion project,
which was completed in the second half of 2012e g&in on insurance recoveries in 2012 was assdowith business interruption related to
an outage of one of our Chlor Alkali customershia first half of 2012.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) consists of non-operatiognie items which are not related to our primaryiress activities. Other income
(expense) in 2013 and 2012 included $7.9 milliod &h1.5 million , respectively, of expense for earn out liability from the SunBelt
acquisition. Other income (expense) in 2013 alstuited a gain of $6.5 million on the sale of ounigginterest in a bleach joint venture.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency for our Canadian subsidmis the U.S. dollar; accordingly, gains and Isgssulting from balance sheet
translations are included in selling and admini&ira The functional currency of other foreignilidtes is the local currency; therefore the
balance sheet amounts are translated at the exeharss in effect at year-end, and operationsmgieamounts are translated at the average
rates of exchange prevailing during the year. 3lation adjustments are included in accumulatedratbmprehensive loss.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
All highly liquid investments, with a maturity dfitee months or less at the date of purchase, asdayed to be cash equivalents.
Short-Term Investments

We classify our marketable securities as availédresale, which are reported at fair market valutwinrealized gains and losses
included in accumulated other comprehensive lasisphapplicable taxes. The fair value of markktaecurities is determined by quoted
market prices. Realized gains and losses on slagestments, as determined on the specific ifleation method, and declines in value of
securities judged to be other-than-temporary arleidted in other income (expense) in the consolitlatatements of operations. Interest and
dividends on all securities are included in intehresome and other income (expense), respectively.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable

We evaluate the collectibility of accounts recelediased on a combination of factors. We estiraatallowance for doubtful accounts
as a percentage of net sales based on historidaldi# experience. This estimate is periodicaljpsted when we become aware of a specific
customer’s inability to meet its financial obligats (e.g., bankruptcy filing) or as a result ofrapes in the overall aging of accounts
receivable. While we have a large number of custsrthat operate in diverse businesses and areagaducglly dispersed, a general economic
downturn in any of the industry segments in whighaperate could result in higher than expectedultsfeand, therefore, the need to revise
estimates for the provision for doubtful accourdsld occur.
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Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or reaarkhe Chlor Alkali Products and Winchester segiérventory costs are determined
principally by the dollar value last-in, first-o(ltIFO) method of inventory accounting. The Cherh@sstribution segment inventory costs are
determined principally by the first-in, first-olEIFO) method of inventory accounting. Cost for otimventories has been determined
principally by the average-cost method (primaripemating supplies, spare parts and maintenancs) p&tements of costs in inventories
include raw materials, direct labor and manufantyverhead.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at ddspreciation is computed on a straigihe basis over the estimated useful lives o
related assets. Interest costs incurred to finerpenditures for major long-term construction ect§ are capitalized as part of the historical
cost and included in property, plant and equipnaeict are depreciated over the useful lives of tletae assets. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the term of the lease or the eséichaseful life of the improvement, whichever isrgio Start-up costs are expensed as
incurred. Expenditures for maintenance and reagsharged to expense when incurred while this adsignificant improvements, which
extend the useful life of the underlying asset,cagitalized.

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impent when conditions indicate that the carryiadues of the assets may not be
recoverable. Such impairment conditions includextended period of idleness or a plan of dispoEaduch impairment indicators are present
or other factors exist that indicate that the dagyamount of an asset may not be recoverable etermine whether impairment has occurred
through the use of an undiscounted cash flow arsadfghe lowest level for which identifiable cdidws exist. For our Chlor Alkali Products
and Winchester segments, the lowest level for whilehtifiable cash flows exist is the operatingiligclevel or an appropriate grouping of
operating facilities level. For our Chemical Dibtrtion segment, the lowest level for which ideatile cash flows exist is the segment level.
The amount of impairment loss, if any, is meastungthe difference between the net book value obgsets and the estimated fair value of th
related assets.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash, which is restricted as to with@law usage, is classified separately from cashcastl equivalents on our consolidated
balance sheet. A portion of the proceeds of thelbassued by Alabama, Mississippi and Tennessaag avith their accrued interest income,
were required to remain with a trustee and werssdfiad on our consolidated balance sheet as aun@mt asset until such time as we request
reimbursement of qualifying amounts used to furpitehprojects in Alabama, Mississippi and Tennes3ée proceeds were fully utilized as
of December 31, 2014 .

Asset Retirement Obligations

We record the fair value of an asset retiremerigatibn associated with the retirement of a targlbhg-lived asset as a liability in the
period incurred. The liability is measured at diseted fair value and is adjusted to its presehteven subsequent periods as accretion expen
is recorded. The corresponding asset retiremests @ve capitalized as part of the carrying amotittie related long-lived asset and
depreciated over the asset’s useful life. Asg@eraent obligations are reviewed annually in therth quarter and/or when circumstances or
other events indicate that changes underlyingematint assumptions may have occurred.
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The activity of our asset retirement obligation easfollows:

December 31,

2014 2013
($ in millions)
Beginning balance $ 60.6 $ 67.¢
Accretion 3.t 3.8
Spending (11.2) (11.9)
Currency translation adjustments (0.7 (0.6)
Adjustments 2.C 1.€
Ending balance $ 544§ 60.€

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, our consolidatéahiba sheets included an asset retirement obligafi$44.2 million and $47.3
million , respectively, which were classified ab@t noncurrent liabilities.

In 2014 , we had net adjustments that increasedsbet retirement obligation by $2.0 million , whigere primarily comprised of
increases in estimated costs for certain asse®)18 , we had net adjustments that increasedsiet eetirement obligation by $1.6 million ,
which were primarily due to changes in the estimditming of payments for certain assets.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss consistsrefdo currency translation adjustments, pensionparstretirement liability
adjustments, pension and postretirement amortizatigrior service costs and actuarial losses @tdinrealized (losses) gains on derivative
contracts. We do not provide for U.S. income taxe$oreign currency translation adjustments simeedo not provide for such taxes on
undistributed earnings for foreign subsidiaried tteve been permanently reinvested.

Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized, but is reviewed for inmpaent annually in the fourth quarter and/or whé@oumstances or other events
indicate that impairment may have occurred. Omudanl, 2012, we adopted ASU 2011-08 which perprit#ies to make a qualitative
assessment of whether it is more likely than nat ghreporting unit’s fair value is less than ésrging amount before applying the two-step
goodwill impairment test. Circumstances that amestiered as part of the qualitative assessmentauld trigger the two-step impairment test
include, but are not limited to: a significant adse change in the business climate; a signifiedwérse legal judgment; adverse cash flow
trends; an adverse action or assessment by a gogatragency; unanticipated competition; declineunstock price; and a significant
restructuring charge within a reporting unit. sltour practice, at a minimum, to perform a quativiagoodwill impairment test in the fourth
quarter every three years. In the fourth quart&Qdf4, we performed our triennial quantitative getldmpairment test for our reporting units.
We define reporting units at the business segnexed.l For purposes of testing goodwill for impagmb, goodwill has been allocated to our
reporting units, Chlor Alkali Products and ChemibBédtribution, to the extent it relates to eacharing unit.

We use a discounted cash flow approach to devabpdtimated fair value of a reporting unit whequantitative test is
performed. Management judgment is required in ldgieg the assumptions for the discounted cash ftewdel. We also corroborate our
discounted cash flow analysis by evaluating a ntaskeed approach that considers EBITDA multiplesifia representative sample of
comparable public companies. As a further indicttat each reporting unit has been valued appatglyi using a discounted cash flow model
the aggregate fair value of all reporting unitssisonciled to the total market value of Olin. Arpiairment would be recorded if the carrying
amount exceeded the estimated fair value. Basdkdeoaforementioned analysis, the estimated fairevaf our Chlor Alkali Products reporting
unit substantially exceeded the carrying valuéhefreporting unit. The estimated fair value of Gliemical Distribution reporting unit also
exceeded the carrying value of the reporting Whitimpairment charges were recorded for 2014 , 201212 .
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The discount rate, profitability assumptions andhieal growth rate of our chlor alkali and chemidatribution businesses and the
cyclical nature of our chlor alkali business wédre material assumptions utilized in the discourgsgh flow model used to estimate the fair
value of each reporting unit. The discount rafeeces a weighted-average cost of capital, whictaisulated based on observable market
data. Some of these data (such as the risk freeasury rate and the pretax cost of debt) aredbas the market data at a point in time. Othe
data (such as the equity risk premium) are based uyarket data over time for a peer group of corigzaim the chemical manufacturing or
distribution industries with a market capitalizatipremium added, as applicable.

The discounted cash flow analysis requires estisnatessumptions and judgments about future evéis.analysis uses our internally
generated long-range plan. Our discounted cashdltalysis uses the assumptions in our long-ratagegbout terminal growth rates,
forecasted capital expenditures and changes inefutorking capital requirements to determine thplied fair value of each reporting
unit. The long-range plan reflects managementjuelg, supplemented by independent chemical indastayyses which provide multi-year
chlor alkali industry operating and pricing foreisas

We believe the assumptions used in our goodwillsiimpent analysis are appropriate and result inoressle estimates of the implied
fair value of each reporting unit. However, givle £conomic environment and the uncertainties déggthe impact on our business, there
be no assurance that our estimates and assumptiads, for purposes of our goodwill impairment tegtiluring the fourth quarter of 2014, \
prove to be an accurate prediction of the futdf@ur assumptions regarding future performancenateachieved, we may be required to re«
goodwill impairment charges in future periodsislhot possible at this time to determine if angrstuture impairment charge would result or,
if it does, whether such charge would be material.

There were no changes in the carrying value of gilboh 2014 or 2013 .
Other Assets

Included in other assets were the following:

December 31,

2014 2013
(% in millions)
Investments in non-consolidated affiliates $ 23: $ 21.€
Intangible assets (less accumulated amortizatid®42f6 million and $28.0 million, respectively) 123t 138.]
Deferred debt issuance costs 10.5 14.4
Bleach joint venture receivable 7.8 15.¢
Income tax receivable 6.€ —
Interest rate swaps 3.t 5.€
Other 16.4 17.t
Other assets $ 1914 § 213.]
Intangible assets consisted of the following:
December 31,
2014 2013
Gross Accumulated Gross Accumulated
Useful Lives Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net
($ in millions)

Customers, customer contra
and relationships (10-15years) $ 152¢ $ 410 $ 111¢ $ 152¢ $ (26.6) $ 126.C
KA Steel trade name (indefinite) 10.¢ — 10.¢ 10.¢ — 10.¢
Other (4-10 years) & (2.6 0.7 2.2 (1.4) 0.¢
Total intangible assets $ 166.1 $ (42.6) $ 123t ¢ 166.1 $ (28.0 $ 138.
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The August 22, 2012 valuation of identifiable ingéie assets that were obtained from the KA Steglisition included $128.0 million
associated with customers, customer contractselatianships and are being amortized over ten y@aes straight-line basis, $10.9 million
associated with the KA Steel trade name, which mameent estimates to have an indefinite useful dife] $0.4 million associated with a
favorable lease agreement that will be amortizest tve remaining lease term (approximately fourgean a straight line basis. The February
28, 2011 valuation of identifiable intangible assiat were obtained from the SunBelt acquisitrariuded $5.8 million associated with
customers, customer contracts and relationshipsienbeing amortized over fifteen years on a ditdige basis. The identifiable intangible
assets obtained from the Pioneer acquisition iredu®19.0 million associated with customers, custanatracts and relationships and are
being amortized over fifteen years on a straighe-basis and $1.2 million associated with inteyndéiveloped and purchased software and we
amortized over five years on a straight-line bagimortization expense was $14.6 million in botli2@&nd 2013 and $6.5 million in
2012 . We estimate that amortization expensebeilhpproximately $14.6 million in each of the niewb years and approximately $14.5
million in 2017, 2018 and 2019. Intangible assets arewsad for impairment annually in the fourth quaaad/or when circumstances or of
events indicate that impairment may have occurred.

During 2012, we adopted ASU 2012-02 which permitities to make a qualitative assessment of whatliemore likely than not that
an indefinite-lived intangible asset’s fair valigdess than its carrying amount before performiggiantitative impairment test. Circumstances
that are considered as part of the qualitativessssent and could trigger a quantitative impairntesitinclude, but are not limited to: a
significant adverse change in the business clingaagignificant adverse legal judgment includingeaspecific factors; adverse cash flow tre
an adverse action or assessment by a governmamtyggmanticipated competition; decline in our &tpdce; and a significant restructuring
charge within a reporting unit. Based upon our iai@le assessment, it is more likely than not thatfair value of our indefinite-lived
intangible asset is greater than its carrying arhesrof December 31, 2014 . No impairment of otarigible assets were recorded in 2014 ,
2013 or 2012 .

Environmental Liabilities and Expenditures

Accruals (charges to income) for environmental eratare recorded when it is probable that a ligltilas been incurred and the amoun
of the liability can be reasonably estimated, bagssh current law and existing technologies. Tlemeunts, which are not discounted and ar
exclusive of claims against third parties, are sigjd periodically as assessment and remediation®ffrogress or additional technical or legal
information becomes available. Environmental castscapitalized if the costs increase the valub@property and/or mitigate or prevent
contamination from future operations.

Discontinued Operations

We present the results of operations, financiaitipmsand cash flows that have either been solihar meet the criteria for “held for
sale” accounting as discontinued operations. Atithe an operation qualifies for held for sale astng, the operation is evaluated to
determine whether or not the carrying value excésdair value less cost to sell. Any loss assutteof carrying value in excess of fair value
less cost to sell is recorded in the period theatm, meets held for sale accounting. Managemetgment is required to assess the criteria
required to meet held for sale accounting, andnegé fair value. Changes to the operation couldeéito no longer qualify for held for sale
accounting and changes to fair value or adjustterdsnounts previously reported as discontinuedatjoans could result in an increase or
decrease to previously recognized losses.

Income Taxes
Deferred taxes are provided for differences betvikerfinancial statement and tax bases of assdthadilities using enacted tax rates

effect for the year in which the differences arpeoted to reverse. A valuation allowance is preditb offset deferred tax assets if, based on
the available evidence, it is more likely than tiatt some or all of the value of the deferred tssets will not be realized.
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Derivative Financial Instruments

We are exposed to market risk in the normal coofseir business operations due to our purchasesrtdin commodities, our ongoing
investing and financing activities and our openagithat use foreign currencies. The risk of l@ss e assessed from the perspective of ad
changes in fair values, cash flows and future egsii We have established policies and proceduresrging our management of market risks
and the use of financial instruments to manage xoto such risks. We use hedge accounting tegdtfor substantially all of our business
transactions whose risks are covered using devevaistruments. The hedge accounting treatmenigee for the deferral of gains or losse:
derivative instruments until such time as the egldtansactions occur.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Accounts receivable is the principal financial mastent which subjects us to a concentration ofitresk. Credit is extended based
upon the evaluation of a customer’s financial cbadiand, generally, collateral is not requiredn€entrations of credit risk with respect to
receivables are somewhat limited due to our largaber of customers, the diversity of these custenimisinesses and the geographic
dispersion of such customers. The majority ofargounts receivable are derived from sales dendedna U.S. dollars. We maintain an
allowance for doubtful accounts based upon the @rpecollectibility of all trade receivables.

Fair Value

Fair value is defined as the price at which antass@d be exchanged in a current transaction eEtvi@owledgeable, willing parties or
the amount that would be paid to transfer a ligbtth a new obligor, not the amount that would b&lo settle the liability with the
creditor. Where available, fair value is basedbservable market prices or parameters or deringed $uch prices or parameters. Where
observable prices or inputs are not available,atéddn models are applied. These valuation teclasidgovolve some level of management
estimation and judgment, the degree of which issddpnt on the price transparency for the instrumeninarket and the instruments’
complexity.

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value ia tonsolidated balance sheets are categorized bpsedhe level of judgment associated
with the inputs used to measure their fair valbiéerarchical levels, defined by ASC 820, and disectlated to the amount of subjectivity
associated with the inputs to fair valuation ofsth@ssets and liabilities, are as follows:

Level 1 — Inputs were unadjusted, quoted pricesctive markets for identical assets or liabiliteéthe measurement date.

Level 2 — Inputs (other than quoted prices inclugietevel 1) were either directly or indirectly aygable for the asset or
liability through correlation with market data Aetmeasurement date and for the duration of theument's anticipated life.

Level 3 — Inputs reflected management’s best eséirabwhat market participants would use in pricihg asset or liability at
the measurement date. Consideration was givaretdgk inherent in the valuation technique andrifleinherent in the inputs
to the model.

Retirement-Related Benefits

We account for our defined benefit pension plartsraam-pension postretirement benefit plans usitgagial models required by ASC
715. These models use an attribution approactgtredrally spreads the financial impact of charigéke plan and actuarial assumptions ove
the average remaining service lives of the empleye¢he plan. Changes in liability due to chanigesctuarial assumptions such as discount
rate, rate of compensation increases and mortabtyyell as annual deviations between what wasres$and what was experienced by the
plan are treated as actuarial gains or losses.piiheiple underlying the required attribution apach is that employees render service over
their average remaining service lives on a relftisenooth basis and, therefore, the accountingpémefits earned under the pension or non-
pension postretirement benefits plans should fotleevsame relatively smooth pattern. Substantallgefined benefit pension plan
participants are no longer accruing benefits; tloeee actuarial gains and losses are amortizeddbasen the remaining life expectancy of the
inactive plan participants. For the years endedeDwer 31, 2014 and 2013, the average remairfgxpectancy of the inactive participants
in the defined benefit pension plan was 18 years.
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One of the key assumptions for the net periodicsigencalculation is the expected long-term ratestidrn on plan assets, used to
determine the “market-related value of assets.& Tharket-related value of assets” recognizes iiffees between the plan’s actual return an
expected return over a five year period. The meguise of an expected long-term rate of returthermarket-related value of plan assets may
result in a recognized pension income that is greatless than the actual returns of those plaetasn any given year. Over time, however,
the expected long-term returns are designed tooappate the actual long-term returns and, theref@sult in a pattern of income and expens
recognition that more closely matches the pattétheservices provided by the employees. As difiees between actual and expected re
are recognized over five years, they subsequestigi@gte gains and losses that are subject to aatowti over the average remaining life
expectancy of the inactive plan participants, escdeed in the preceding paragraph.

We use long-term historical actual return informatithe mix of investments that comprise plan assetd future estimates of long-term
investment returns and inflation by reference tiemal sources to develop the expected long-tetenafareturn on plan assets as of Decembel
31

The discount rate assumptions used for pensiomangension postretirement benefit plan accountifigct the rates available on high:-
quality fixed-income debt instruments on DecemliepBeach year. The rate of compensation incrisasased upon our long-term plans for
such increases. For retiree medical plan accagniie review external data and our own historicahds for healthcare costs to determine the
healthcare cost trend rates.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure the cost of employee services receiverichange for an award of equity instruments, siscstock options, performance
shares and restricted stock, based on the graatfaiatvalue of the award. This cost is recogniaeer the period during which an employee is
required to provide service in exchange for therdwthe requisite service period (usually the vespieriod). An initial measurement is made
of the cost of employee services received in exghdar an award of liability instruments based tsrcurrent fair value and the value of that
award is subsequently remeasured at each repaiditegthrough the settlement date. Changes iwvdaie of liability awards during the
requisite service period are recognized as comtienszost over that period.

The fair value of each option granted, which tyfjcaests ratably over three years, but not lessithne year, was estimated on the dat:
of grant, using the Black-Scholes option-pricingdalowith the following assumptions:

2014 2013 2012
Dividend yield 3.1%% 3.44% 3.65%
Risk-free interest rate 2.1% 1.35% 1.3€%
Expected volatility 42% 43% 43%
Expected life (years) 7.C 7.C 7.C
Weighted average grant fair value (per option) $ 834 % 708 % 6.55
Weighted average exercise price $ 25.6¢ % 2326 % 21.9:
Shares granted 624,20( 621,00( 480,25(

Dividend yield was based on a historical averagisk-free interest rate was based on zero coup8nTfeasury securities rates for the
expected life of the options. Expected volatilitgs based on our historical stock price movemestsye believe that historical experience is
the best available indicator of the expected viithati Expected life of the option grant was basaedhistorical exercise and cancellation
patterns, as we believe that historical experiéntiee best estimate for future exercise patterns.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
In January 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-01 whinlends ASC 225-20. This update eliminates the iecstatement concept of

extraordinary items and also expands the disclomeeirements of items that are unusual in naturzour infrequently. This update is
effective for fiscal years beginning after Decemb®gy2015. This update will not have a materiatefon our consolidated financial stateme
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In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, which atiseASC 605 and creates a new topic, ASC 606. Update provides guidance
on how an entity should recognize revenue to depétransfer of promised goods or services tootnets in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to bétledtin exchange for those goods or services. Tipiate is effective for fiscal years, and
interim periods within those years, beginning abecember 15, 2016. We are currently evaluatingetfect of this update on our financial
statements and have not yet determined the methiadial application we will use.

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-08, whichends ASC 205 and ASC 360. This update changesiteea for a disposal
transaction to qualify as a discontinued operafidis update also expands the disclosure requirensemrounding discontinued operations.
This update is effective for fiscal years beginnéfiger December 15, 2014. This update will not haweaterial effect on our consolidated
financial statements.

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-11, whicteads ASC 740. This update provides guidance ofirthacial statement
presentation of unrecognized tax benefits wheropetating loss carryforwards, similar tax lossetagrcredit carryforwards exist. We adopted
the provisions of ASU 2013-11 on January 1, 20Ms Tipdate did not have a material effect on omsobdated financial statements.

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-04, vlaimends ASC 405. This update clarifies how estiti@asure obligations
resulting from joint and several liability arrangents. We adopted the provisions of ASU 2013-04amudry 1, 2014. This update did not have
a material effect on our consolidated financialestaents.

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-02, tvlaimends ASC 220. This update adds new disclosgrérements about
reclassifications out of accumulated other compmeive income including the effects of these redfigssions on net income. We adopted the
provisions of ASU 2013-02 on January 1, 2013. Tipdate did not have a material effect on our cliai®d financial statements.

In July 2012, the FASB issued ASU 2012-02 which maiseASC 350. This update permits entities to neaiaalitative assessment of
whether it is more likely than not that an inderiived intangible asset’s fair value is less titarcarrying amount before performing a
guantitative impairment test. If an entity conasdhat it is not more likely than not that the failue of the indefinite-lived intangible asset is
less than its carrying amount, it would not be memlito perform the quantitative test for that as&¥e adopted the provisions of ASU 2012-02
during 2012. This update did not have a mateffaceon our consolidated financial statements.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-08chlvaimends ASC 350. This update permits entiti@sake a qualitative
assessment of whether it is more likely than nat ghreporting unit’s fair value is less than ésrging amount before applying the two-step
goodwill impairment test. If an entity concludést it is not more likely than not that the failuw@of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, it would not be required to perform the-step impairment test for that reporting unit. Wfwopted the provisions of ASU 2011-08 on
January 1, 2012. This update did not have a nadtefifect on our consolidated financial statements.

During 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05 and ASW1202. These updates require entities to presamsiof net income and other
comprehensive income either in one continuousrsetg referred to as the statement of compreheirsieene, or in two separate, but
consecutive, statements of net income and otheprEimensive income. We retrospectively adoptegbtbeisions of ASU 2011-05 and ASU
2011-12 on January 1, 2012. These updates requiogification of our consolidated financial statertsgoresentation. These update did not
have a material effect on our consolidated findrat@ements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-04, which adseASC 820. This update clarifies the existinglgnce and amends the
wording used to describe many of the requirememts$.8. GAAP for measuring fair value and for diséhy information about fair value
measurements. This update became effective fonusnuary 1, 2012. This update did not have ariabédfect on our consolidated financial
statements.

ACQUISITION
On August 22, 2012, we acquired 100% of privated{diKA Steel, on a debt free basis, for $336.6iatilin cash, after receiving the

final working capital adjustment of $1.9 milliois of the date of acquisition, KA Steel had casti eash equivalents of $26.2 million . KA
Steel is one of the largest distributors of caustida in North America and manufactures and stdbch in the Midwest.
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The acquisition was partially financed with proceémm the $200.0 million of 2022 Notes sold on Asig22, 2012 with a maturity date
of August 15, 2022. Proceeds from the 2022 Note® $£96.0 million , after expenses of $4.0 million

For segment reporting purposes, KA Steel comptlse€hemical Distribution segment. The KA Steeulssof operations have been
included in our consolidated results for the pesadsequent to the effective date of the acquisitiur results for the year ended December
31, 2012 include KA Steel sales of $156.3 milliord &4.5 millionof segment income, which includes depreciationamdrtization expense
$5.5 million , primarily associated with the acqtio fair value adjustment related to the KA Staedjuisition.

The transaction has been accounted for using tpgisiton method of accounting which requires, agother things, that assets
acquired and liabilities assumed be recognizeleit fair values as of the acquisition date. Whalized our purchase price allocation during
the fourth quarter of 2012. The following table snarizes the allocation of the purchase price toéel's assets and liabilities:

August 22,
2012

(% in millions)

Total current assets $ 128.1

Property, plant and equipment 25.1

Deferred taxes 1.€

Intangible assets 139.:

Total assets acquired 294.1

Total current liabilities 64.2

Other liabilities 10.4

Total liabilities assumed 74.€

Net identifiable assets acquired 219t

Goodwill 119.5

Fair value of net assets acquired $ 339.C
Supplemental Data

Cash paid $ 336.¢

Olin trade accounts receivable from KA Steel 2.€

Total fair value of consideration $ 339.

Included in total current assets are cash and eqsivalents of $26.2 million and receivables of $63illion with a contracted value of
$63.5 million . Included in other liabilities is @tcrued contingent liability of $10.0 million fare withdrawal from a multi-employer defined
benefit pension plan. This accrued contingent liigbivas paid during 2014.

Based on final valuations, we allocated $128.0iomilbf the purchase price to intangible assetdingldo customers, customer contracts
and relationships, which management estimateswte aaiseful life of ten years, $10.9 million toangible assets associated with the KA Stee
trade name, which management estimates to havelefinite useful life, and $0.4 million associateith a favorable lease agreement that will
be amortized over the remaining life of the leasent(approximately four years) on a straight liasib. These identifiable intangible assets
were included in other assets. Based on final viains, $119.7 million was assigned to goodwill,alwhich is deductible for tax
purposes. The primary reasons for the acquiséihthe principal factors that contributed to a 8t#&el purchase price that resulted in the
recognition of goodwill are the expanded capabitlitynarket and sell caustic soda, bleach, potaskiwdroxide and hydrochloric acid, as well
as the geographic diversification the KA Steel tamss provide us, and the strengthened positidhérindustrial bleach segment.

Goodwill and the indefinite-lived trade name intéolg asset recorded in the acquisition are not &neat but will be reviewed for
impairment annually in the fourth quarter and/oewltircumstances or other events indicate thatinngat may have occurred.
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The following pro forma summary presents the cosddrstatement of income as if the acquisition of$4&el had occurred on January
1, 2012 (unaudited).

Year Ended
December 31, 2012

(% in millions, except per
share data)

Sales $ 2,462.¢
Net income 160.]
Net income per common share:
Basic $ 2.0C
Diluted $ 1.9¢

The pro forma statements of income were preparséidoan historical financial information and havemadjusted to give effect to pro
forma adjustments that are (i) directly attribuéatd the transaction, (ii) factually supportablé &iii) expected to have a continuing impact on
the combined results. The pro forma statemenitscoime use estimates and assumptions based omatfon available at the
time. Management believes the estimates and asgumspo be reasonable; however, actual resultsdifégr significantly from this pro forma
financial information. The pro forma informatiannot intended to reflect the actual results thatld have occurred had the companies
actually been combined during the periods presentde pro forma data reflect the application @& tbllowing adjustments:

< Additional amortization expense related to thie ¥alue of acquired identifiable intangible asse$8.0 millionfor the year ende
December 31, 2012).

e Additional depreciation expense related to thie Value adjustment to property, plant and equipinad conforming KA Steed’
useful lives to ours ( $0.2 million for the yeaded December 31, 2012).

« Increase in interest expense related to the 20@2s issued in conjunction with this acquisitioi7.1 millionfor the year ende
December 31, 2012).

< Elimination of intersegment sales of caustic sould lsleach between KA Steel and Chlor Alkali Produatt prices that approximi
market ( $23.2 million for the year ended Decen8ier2012).

< Elimination of transaction costs incurred in 20hattare directly related to the transaction, anshatohave a continuing impact
our combined operating results ( $8.3 million foe tyear ended December 31, 2012).

In addition, the pro forma data reflect the taxeeffof all of the above adjustments. The pro fotaxgprovision reflects an increase of
$1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 20sdeiated with the incremental pretax income, #direvialue adjustments for acquired
intangible assets and property, plant and equipnagt the interest expense of the 2022 Notes issuszhjunction with this acquisition, whi
reflects the marginal tax of the adjustments inviugous jurisdictions where such adjustments aeclr

RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

On December 12, 2014 , we announced that we had thadlecision to permanently close the portiothefBecancour, Canada chlor
alkali facility that has been shut down since latae 2014. This action reduces the facility’s claléali capacity by 185,00@ns. The plant wi
predominantly focus on bleach and hydrochloric agitich are value-added products, as well as aasstia. In the fourth quarter of 2014 , we
recorded pretax restructuring charges of $10.0aniflor the write-off of equipment and facility dssemployee severance and related benefit
costs, lease and other contract termination costsaanoneash pension curtailment charge related to thesmnacWe expect to incur additiol
restructuring charges through 2016 of approxima$élynillion related to the shut down of this pontiof the facility.

On December 9, 2010, our board of directors apmi@/plan to eliminate our use of mercury in theufacture of chlor alkali
products. Under the plan, the 260,000 tons of argrcell capacity at our Charleston, TN facility sweonverted to 200,000 tons of membrane
capacity capable of producing both potassium hyideo&nd caustic soda. The board of directorsaigooved plans to reconfigure our
Augusta, GA facility to manufacture bleach andrilistte caustic soda, while discontinuing chlor &lkeaanufacturing at this site. The
completion of these projects eliminated our chlkakproduction using mercury cell technology. Foe years ended December 31, 2014 ,
2013 and 2012, we recorded pretax restructuriagges of $3.8 million , $3.7 million and $2.3 nolii , respectively, for employee severance
and related benefit costs, employee relocatiorsctestility exit costs, write-off of equipment afatility costs and lease and other contract
termination costs related to these actions.
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On November 3, 2010, we announced that we madeettision to relocate the Winchester centerfiréopand rifle ammunition
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to @ud, MS. This relocation, when completed, is fastdo reduce Winchester's annual
operating costs by approximately $35 million to $dillion . Consistent with this decision in 201@ initiated an estimated $110 million five-
year project, which includes approximat$80 million of capital spending. The capital spegdvas partially financed by $31 milliasf grant:
provided by the State of Mississippi and local goweents. We currently expect to complete this &ion by the end of 2016. For the years
ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , we edqmebtax restructuring charges of $1.9 milliod.8million and $6.2 million ,
respectively, for employee severance and relatedfliecosts, employee relocation costs and facdiit costs related to these actions. We
expect to incur additional restructuring chargesulh 2016 of approximately $3 million related he transfer of these operations.

The following table summarizes the 2014 , 2013 20t activities by major component of these 2014 and2@%tructuring actions a
the remaining balances of accrued restructuringsas of December 31, 2014 :

Employee
severance Lease and
and job other contract Employee Write-off of
related Pension termination relocation  Facility = equipment
benefits curtailment costs costs exit costs and facility Total
(% in millions)

Balance January 1, 2012 $ 112 $ — 3 0.8 $ — $ — 5 — $ 121
2012 restructuring charges 4.1 — 0.1 2.2 2.1 — 8.5
Amounts utilized (1.9 — (0.5) (2.2) (2.7 — (6.7)

Balance at December 31, 2012 13t — 04 — — — 13.¢
2013 restructuring charges (credit 0.4 — (0.4 0.€ 4.¢ — 5.t
Amounts utilized (3.7 — — (0.€) (4.9 — (9.9

Balance at December 31, 2013 10.z — — — — — 10.z
2014 restructuring charges 4.3 0.2 4.5 0.t 2.¢ 3.2 15.7
Amounts utilized (3.3 0.9 — (0.5) (2.9 3.9 (10.9)

Balance at December 31, 2014  $ 112§ — 8 45 % — $ — % — $ 157

The following table summarizes the cumulative restiring charges of these 2014 and 2010 restrugf@gctions by major component
through December 31, 2014 :

Chlor Alkali Products

Becancour Mercury Winchester Total
($ in millions)
Write-off of equipment and facility $ 3C $ 17.¢ $ — 3 20.¢
Employee severance and job related benefits 2.3 5.€ 13.c 21.2
Facility exit costs — 15.€ 1.8 17.5
Pension and other postretirement benefits curtaitme 0.2 — 4.1 4.3
Employee relocation costs — 0.¢ 4.7 5.€
Lease and other contract termination costs 4.5 0.7 — 5.2
Total cumulative restructuring charges $ 10C $ 40.6 $ 24.C §  74¢

As of December 31, 2014 , we have incurred caskbredifures of $27.1 million and non-cash charge®3df.8 million related to these
restructuring actions. The remaining balance & $hillion is expected to be paid out through 2016
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In 2007 we sold our Metals business, which wagantable segment, and accordingly it was reporsea discontinued operation. Mef
produced and distributed copper and copper allegtsistrip, foil, rod, welded tube, fabricated paaind stainless steel and aluminum strip. In
conjunction with the sale of the Metals business retained certain assets and liabilities.

During 2014, we made a payment of $5.5 milliongsalve certain indemnity obligations related toghke. As a result of the favorable
resolution, we recognized a pretax gain of $4.6ionilincluded in income from discontinued operatiolhe tax provision from discontinued
operations included expense of $2.2 millfonchanges in tax contingencies related to thealdetale. Income from discontinued operations
consisted of the following:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(% in millions)
Income from discontinued operations $ 4€ $ — $ =
Tax provision 3.¢ — —
Income from discontinued operations, net $ 0.7 $ — $ —

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted income per share are computativiging net income by the weighted average nundf@ommon shares
outstanding. Diluted net income per share reflédedilutive effect of stock-based compensation.

Years ended December 31,

Computation of Income per Share 2014 2013 2012
(In millions, except per share data)

Income from continuing operations $ 105.C $ 178.¢ $ 149.¢
Income from discontinued operations, net 0.7 — —
Net income $ 105.7 $ 178.¢ $ 149.¢
Basic shares 78.€ 79.€ 80.1
Basic income per share:

Income from continuing operations $ 1.3 % 224  $ 1.87

Income from discontinued operations, net 0.01 — —

Net income $ 134 $ 224 % 1.87
Diluted shares:

Basic shares 78.€ 79.€ 80.1

Stock-based compensation 1.1 1.C 0.€

Diluted shares 79.7 80.¢ 81.C
Diluted income per share:

Income from continuing operations $ 132 % 221 % 1.8t

Income from discontinued operations, net 0.01 — —

Net income $ 13 % 221 % 1.8¢

The computation of dilutive shares from stock-basemipensation does not include 0.6 million shamdsih 2014 and 2013 and 1.0
million shares in 2012 as their effect would haeerb anti-dilutive.

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable consigiéthe following:

December 31,
2014 2013
(% in millions)
Beainnina balance $ 34 $ 3.6




Provisions charged 0.2 —
Write-offs, net of recoveries (0.€) (0.2

Ending balance $ 3C % 3.4
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INVENTORIES

December 31,

2014 2013

($ in millions)
Supplies $ 392 § 40.5
Raw materials 63.2 76.5
Work in process 31.¢ 26.4
Finished goods 141t 115.¢
275.¢ 259.:
LIFO reserves (65.7) (72.9)
Inventories, net $ 2101 % 186.t

Inventories valued using the LIFO method compris&% and 56% of the total inventories at Decembef814 and 2013,
respectively. The replacement cost of our inveesowould have been approximately $65.7 million &f@.8 million higher than that reported
at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Qb4 the reduction in LIFO inventory quantitiesulted in LIFO inventory liquidation
losses of $1.5 million .

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

December 31,

Useful Lives 2014 2013
($ in millions)
Land and improvements to land 10-20 Years $ 157.: % 156.2
Buildings and building equipment 10-30 Years 212.1 205.(
Machinery and equipment 3-15 Years 1,846.: 1,835.¢
Leasehold improvements 2.€ 2.5
Construction in progress 43.€ 47.¢
Property, plant and equipment 2,261.° 2,246.¢
Accumulated depreciation (1,330.7) (1,259.)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 931.C % 987.¢

The weighted average useful life of machinery aaipgment at December 31, 2014 was 10 years. Depi@tiexpense was $124.5
million , $120.7 million and $104.4 million for 281, 2013 and 2012 , respectively. Interest capédlwas $0.2 million , $1.1 million and $7.4
million for 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectivelyaiktenance and repairs charged to operations aemtmt$125.0 million , $134.7 millioand
$124.4 million in 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respetyive

The consolidated statements of cash flows for #syended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012identla $(0.5) million , $7.9
million and $17.4 million , respectively, (decrepserease to capital expenditures, with the cquesling change to accounts payable and
accrued liabilities, related to purchases of prigpgaiant and equipment included in accounts payabDecember 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .

During 2013 and 2012 we entered into sale/leasetrankactions for caustic soda barges, bleacletsadind chlorine, caustic soda and
bleach railcars. In 2013 and 2012 we received madeérom the sales of $35.8 million and $4.4 millicespectively, for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 .

During 2014 and 2013, assets of zero and $4.2omillrespectively, were acquired under capitaddsaand are included in machinery

and equipment as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 .
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INVESTMENTS—AFFILIATED COMPANIES

On November 16, 2007, we purchased for cash arb$iillion equity interest in a bleach joint venturas part of the investment we
also entered into several commercial agreemerdisiding agreements by which we would supply rawamals and services, and we would
have marketing responsibility for bleach and caustida. During 2013, we sold our equity intereshableach joint venture which resulted in
a gain of $6.5 million . As a result of the sale,0h December 31, 2014 , we have recorded a rddeied $16.6 million , with $7.8 million
included within other assets on our consolidatddrza sheet.

We hold a 9.1% limited partnership interest in B#as Storage Company, Ltd. (Bay Gas), an Alabamigelihpartnership, in which

EnergySouth, Inc. (EnergySouth) is the generahpamvith interest of 90.9% . Bay Gas owns, leasgsoperates underground gas storage al

related pipeline facilities, which are used to pdevstorage in the MciIntosh, AL area and delivergatural gas to EnergySouth customers.
The following table summarizes our investment in won-consolidated equity affiliate:

December 31,
2014 2013
(% in millions)
Bay Gas $ 232 ¢ 21.€

The following table summarizes our equity earniafjeon-consolidated affiliates:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(% in millions)
Bay Gas $ 17 $ 21 % 2.4
Bleach joint venture — 0.7 0.€
Equity earnings of non-consolidated affiliates $ 17§ 28§ 3.C

We received net distributions from our non-consatkd affiliates of zero , $1.5 million and $1.3 lioih for 2014 , 2013 and 2012 ,
respectively.
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DEBT
Credit Facility

On June 24, 2014, we entered into a new five-yéab® million senior credit facility consisting af$265.0 million senior revolving
credit facility, which replaced our previous $26&lion senior revolving credit facility, and a $2.0 million delayed-draw term loan facility.
In August 2014, we drew the entire $150.0 millidritee term loan and used the proceeds to redeer20d® Notes. The new $415.0 million
senior credit facility will expire in June 2019. & hew $265.0 million senior revolving credit fawilincludes a $60.0 million letter of credit
subfacility and the option to expand the facilitydn additional $100.0 million . At December 3112Q we had $257.7 million available under
our $265.0 million senior revolving credit facilibecause we had issued $7.3 million of lettersedit under the $60.0 million subfacility. The
$150.0 million term loan facility includes amortia in equal quarterly installments at a rate 822annually for the first two years increas
to 5% for the remaining three years. In Decembdd2@e repaid $0.9 million under the required gerytinstallments. The terms and
conditions of the new senior credit facility is #izm to those of our previous $265.0 millisenior revolving credit facility except the additiof
quarterly installments on the term loan facilityndér the new senior credit facility, we may selerious floating rate borrowing options. The
actual interest rate paid on borrowings under #méos credit facility is based on a pricing gridielhis dependent upon the leverage ratio as
calculated under the terms of the facility at thd ef the prior fiscal quarter. The facility indes various customary restrictive covenants,
including restrictions related to the ratio of debearnings before interest expense, taxes, defiecand amortization (leverage ratio) and the
ratio of earnings before interest expense, taxesetiation and amortization to interest expengediage ratio). Compliance with these
covenants is determined quarterly based on theatipgrcash flows for the last four quarters. Weenia compliance with all covenants and
restrictions under all our outstanding credit agreets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , and mu ef’default had occurred that would
permit the lenders under our outstanding credié@ents to accelerate the debt if not cured. driuture, our ability to generate sufficient
operating cash flows, among other factors, wiled@ine the amounts available to be borrowed urteset facilities. As of December 31,
2014 , there were no covenants or other restristibat limited our ability to borrow.

In 2014, we paid deferred debt issuance costs .@fiillion related to the new five-year $415.0 ioitl senior credit facility.
At December 31, 2014 , we had total letters of itr@d$20.9 million outstanding, of which $7.3 nmih were issued under our $265.0
million senior revolving credit facility. The letts of credit are used to support certain long-t@eivt, certain workers compensation insurance

policies, certain plant closure and post-closurgabons and certain Canadian pension fundingirequents.
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Long-Term Debt

December 31,

2014 2013
Notes payable: (% in millions)
Variable-rate Senior Term Loan facility, due 201%6% at December 31, 2014) $ 149.1 $ =
Variable-rate Go Zone bonds, due 2024 (1.31% a#i2P4.at December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively) 50.C 50.C
Variable-rate Recovery Zone bonds, due 2024-203.% and 1.42% at December 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively) 103.( 103.(
Variable-rate Industrial development and environtaeimprovement obligations, due 2025 (0.20%
and 0.22% at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respbgtive 2.¢ 2.¢
5.5%, due 2022 200.( 200.(
6.75%, due 2016 (includes interest rate swaps af ®8lion and $6.1 million in 2014 and 2013,
respectively) 128.% 131.1
7.23%, SunBelt Notes due 2013-2017 (includes untredrfair value premium of $0.5 million and
$0.8 million and interest rate swaps of $0.8 mille;md $1.2 million in 2014 and 2013, respectiv: 37.¢ 50.7
8.875%, due 2019 (includes unamortized discou0 million in 2013) — 149.2
Capital lease obligations 3.€ 4.1
Total debt 675.] 691.(
Amounts due within one year 16.4 12.€
Total long-term debt $ 658.1 $ 678.

In August 2014, we redeemed our $150.0 million 28bges, which would have matured on August 15, 20%8 recognized interest
expense of $9.5 million for the call premium ( $&illion ) and the write-off of unamortized defedrdebt issuance costs ( $2.1 million ) and
unamortized discount ( $0.7 million ) related tisthction.

Pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated Dec2)i997, SunBelt sold $97.5 million of Guaradt&enior Secured Notes due
2017, Series O, and $97.5 million of Guaranteedd®&ecured Notes due 2017, Series G. The Suhgedts bear interest at a rate of 7.23%
per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on &ach 22 and December 22. Beginning on Decemhe&@®2 and each year through 2017,
SunBelt is required to repay $12.2 million of thenBelt Notes, of which $6.1 million is attributalitethe Series O Notes and of which $6.1
million is attributable to the Series G Notes.December 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , $12.2 million weaaid on these SunBelt Notes.

We have guaranteed the Series O Notes, and PolyDné&rmer SunBelt partner, has guaranteed thie$S€r Notes, in both cases
pursuant to customary guaranty agreements. Wedgreed to indemnify PolyOne for any payments beotosts under the guarantee in fi
of the purchasers of the Series G Notes, to thenegny payments or other costs arise from a defawther breach under the SunBelt
Notes. If SunBelt does not make timely paymentthenSunBelt Notes, whether as a result of a faitarpay on a guarantee or otherwise,
holders of the SunBelt Notes may proceed agaiesasisets of SunBelt for repayment.

In January 2013, we repaid the $11.4 million 2012el, which became due.

During 2013, assets of $4.2 million were acquirader capital leases with terms of 7 years.

In August 2012, we sold $200.0 million of 2022 Noteith a maturity date of August 15, 2022. The 2D@2es were issued at par value.
Interest is paid semi-annually on February 15 andust 15. The acquisition of KA Steel was partidithanced with proceeds of $196.0
million , after expense of $4.0 million , from tB822 Notes.

In June 2012, we redeemed $7.7 million of induktaaenue bonds due in 2017. We paid a premiunOdf ghillion to the bond holders,

which was included in interest expense. We alsogeized a $0.2 million deferred gain in interegtense related to the interest rate swaps,
which were terminated in March 2012, on these itrihlgevenue bonds.
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Annual maturities of long-term debt, including daplease obligations, are $16.4 million in 2088.46.0 million in 2016 $21.4 million
in 2017, $8.0 million in 2018 , $126.1 million 2019 and a total of $357.2 million thereafter.

We have entered into interest rate swaps, as dstlbelow, whereby we agree to pay variable araifrates to a counterparty who, in
turn, pays us fixed and variable rates. In alesabe underlying index for variable rates is tlkensonth LIBOR. Accordingly, payments are

settled every six months and the terms of the s\waapshe same as the underlying debt instruments.

The following table reflects the swap activity teldto certain debt obligations:

Underlying Debt Instrument Swap Amount Date of Swap December 31, 2014
(% in millions) Olin Pays Floating Rate:
6.75%, due 2016 $ 65.C March 2010 3.0-4.0%®
6.75%, due 2016 $ 60.C March 2010 3.0-4.0%®
Olin Receives Floating
Rate:
6.75%, due 2016 $ 65.C October 2011 3.0 -4.0%®@
6.75%, due 2016 $ 60.C October 2011 3.0-4.0%®

(&) Actual rate is set in arrears. We project the watifall within the range show

In March 2010, we entered into interest rate sveap$125 million of our underlying fixed-rate delttligations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseemgents is Citibank. In October 2011, we
entered into $125 million of interest rate swapthvequal and opposite terms as the $125 milliorabér interest rate swaps on the 2016
Notes. We have agreed to pay a fixed rate to ategoarty who, in turn, pays us variable ratese Gbunterparty to this agreement is ¢
Citibank. The result was a gain of $11.0 milliantbe $125 million variable interest rate swapsicivhwill be recognized through 2016. As of
December 31, 2014 , $3.7 million of this gain waduded in long-term debt. In October 2011, weddsignated our $125 million interest rate
swaps that had previously been designated asdhiehedges. The $125 million variable interet savaps and the $125 millidined interes
rate swaps do not meet the criteria for hedge adogwy All changes in the fair value of these iet# rate swaps are recorded currently in
earnings.

In June 2012, we terminated $73.1 milliofinterest rate swaps with Wells Fargo that haehtentered into on the SunBelt Notes in |
2011. The result was a gain of $2.2 million whicli e recognized through 2017. As of December2iil4 , $0.8 million of this gain was
included in long-term debt.

Our loss in the event of nonperformance by thesateoparties could be significant to our finangiakition and results of
operations. These interest rate swaps reducemsttexpense by $2.9 million in both 2014 and 2848 $3.4 million in 2012 . The difference
between interest paid and interest received isiittedd as an adjustment to interest expense.

PENSION PLANS
Most of our employees participate in defined cdmttion pension plans. We provide a contributioatdndividual retirement
contribution account maintained with the CEOP prityaqual to 5% of the employetligible compensation if such employee is leas e

45 | and 7.5% of the employee’s eligible compensafisuch employee is age d45older. The defined contribution pension plaxgense wa
$16.1 million , $15.4 million and $15.1 million f@014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.
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A portion of our bargaining hourly employees countrto participate in our domestic defined beneditgion plans under a flat-benefit
formula. Our funding policy for the defined bengfension plans is consistent with the requiremehtederal laws and regulations. Our
foreign subsidiaries maintain pension and otheefieplans, which are consistent with statutorycticees. Our defined benefit pension plan
provides that if, within three years following aatiye of control of Olin, any corporate action lgetaor filing made in contemplation of, amc
other things, a plan termination or merger or othemsfer of assets or liabilities of the plan, andh termination, merger or transfer thereafter
takes place, plan benefits would automaticallyrtmedased for affected participants (and retiretiggpants) to absorb any plan surplus (subjec
to applicable collective bargaining requirements).

During the fourth quarter of 2014, the SOA issuwsalfinal report of its mortality tables and mottaimprovement scales. The updated
mortality data reflected increasing life expectasdn the United States. During the third quarfetGi2, the MAP-21 became law. The new
law changes the mechanism for determining intesgst to be used for calculating minimum defineddi¢ pension plan funding
requirements. Interest rates are determined usirayerage of rates for a 25-year period, whichhzare the effect of increasing the annual
discount rate, reducing the defined benefit penplan obligation, and potentially reducing or elaiing the minimum annual funding
requirement. The new law also increased premiurntstpahe PBGC. During the third quarter of 201/ H-A 2014 became law, which
includes an extension of MAP-Zldefined benefit plan funding stabilization reliBsed on our plan assumptions and estimates,ilweoivbe
required to make any cash contributions to the dwimgualified defined benefit pension plan at teasugh 2015 and under the new law may
not be required to make any additional contribigitor at least the next five years.
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Pension Obligations and Funded Stat

Changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets was follows:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
(% in millions) (% in millions)
Change in Benefit Obligation uU.S. Foreign Total u.S. Foreign Total
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 1,916.f $ 62.2 $ 1,978. $ 2,070.¢ $ 68.4 $ 2,139.:
Service cost 2.2 0.t 2.8 2.8 0.€ 3.4
Interest cost 83.¢ 2.7 86.5 78.4 2.7 81.1
Actuarial loss (gain) 245.¢ 9.8 255.¢ (207.%) .7 (109.9
Benefits paid (131.9 (3.6) (135.5) (127.¢ (3.5) (131.9)
Curtailments — 0.2 0.2 — — —
Currency translation adjustments — (5.5) (5.5) — 4.9 4.9
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 2,116.8 $ 66.2 $ 2,182.¢ % 1,916 $ 62.z $ 1,978."
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
(% in millions) (% in millions)
Change in Plan Assets u.S. Foreign Total u.sS. Foreign Total
Fair value of plans’ assets at beginnin
of year $ 1,798.¢ $ 62.1 $ 1,860." $ 1,912 $ 68.t $ 1,981.(
Actual return on plans’ assets 244.; 9.4 253.¢ 10.7 0.3 11.C
Employer contributions 4.t 0.¢ 5.4 3.2 1.2 4.4
Benefits paid (131.9 (3.€) (135.5) (127.9) (3.5) (131.9)
Currency translation adjustments — (5.9 (5.9 — 4.9 4.9
Fair value of plans’ assets at end of yebr 1,915«  § 63.2 $ 1,978 % 1,798.¢ $ 62.1 $ 1,860.°
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
(% in millions) (% in millions)
Funded Status U.S. Foreign Total uU.S. Foreign Total
Quialified plans $ (137.5) $ 12 $ (138.7) $ (57.6 $ 1.7 $ (55.9
Non-qualified plans (63.6) (1.8 (65.4) (60.3) (1.9 (62.7)
Total funded status $ (201.7) $ 3.0 $ (204.7) $ (1179 $ 0.1) $ (118.0

Under ASC 715 we recorded an $84.8 million aftereharge ( $138.9 million pretax) to shareholderglity as of December 31, 2014
for our pension plans. This charge reflected a@8is point decrease in the plans’ discount nagketle negative impact of the newly mandate
mortality tables, partially offset by favorable fl#mance on plan assets during 2014 . In 2013reeerded an $8.9 million after-tax charge
( $14.4 million pretax) to shareholders’ equityoh®ecember 31, 2013 for our pension plans. Thage reflected unfavorable performance
on plan assets during 2013, partially offset by al@sis point increase in the plans’ discount rate

The $255.6 million actuarial loss for 2014 was m@iity due to a 60 -basis point decrease in thegdldiscount rate and the negative
impact of the newly mandated mortality tables. Gemefit obligation as of December 31, 2014 incréaggproximately $90 million as a result
of the newly mandated mortality tables. The $108ilion actuarial gain for 2013 was primarily dteea 60 -basis point increase in the plans’
discount rate.
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Amounts recognized in the consolidated balancetstoemsisted of:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
(% in millions) (% in millions)
U.S. Foreign Total uU.S. Foreign Total
Prepaid benefit cost $ — $ — $ — $ — 3 1.7 $ 1.7
Accrued benefit in current liabilities (21.9) 0.3 (22.7) (14.2) (0.7 (14.3)
Accrued benefit in noncurrent liabilitie: (179.9) (2.7 (182.0) (103.7) (2.7) (105.9)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 654.¢ 23.C 677.¢ 540.¢ 20.7 561.¢
Net balance sheet impact $ 4537 $ 20 $ 4737 9 423.C $ 206 $ 443.¢

At December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the benefit obhbgadf non-qualified pension plans was $65.4 milland $62.1 million respectively
and was included in the above pension benefit abtig. There were no plan assets for thesequatified pension plans. Benefit payments
the non-qualified pension plans are expected tashfellows: 2015 — $22.1 million ; 2016 — $6.1lion ; 2017 — $5.7 million ; 2018 —
$3.3 million ; and 2019 — $3.0 million . Benefiiyments for the qualified plans are projected tadéollows: 2015 — $126.8 millior2016
— $122.2 million ; 2017 — $118.1 million ; 2018 — L5 million ; and 2019 — $111.6 million .

December 31,

2014 2013
($ in millions)
Projected benefit obligation $ 2,182.¢ $ 1,978."
Accumulated benefit obligation 2,170.¢ 1,968.¢
Fair value of plan assets 1,978. 1,860."

Years Ended December 31,

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Income 2014 2013 2012
(% in millions)

Service cost $ 52 $ 6.2 $ 6.1
Interest cost 86.t 81.1 92.C
Expected return on plans’ assets (139.9 (137.5) (139.9)
Amortization of prior service cost 2.2 1.¢ 2.2
Recognized actuarial loss 20.2 27.¢ 18.1
Curtailments 0.2 — —
Net periodic benefit income $ (25.0 $ (20.5) $ (21.0

Included in Other Comprehensive Loss (Pretax)
Liability adjustment $ 138¢ $ 144  $ 162.(
Amortization of prior service costs and actuarisses (22.7) (29.7) (20.9)

In December 2014, we recorded a curtailment chaf@®.2 million associated with permanently closingortion of the Becancour,
Canada chlor alkali facility that has been shut d@imce late June 2014. This charge was includeesitnucturing charges for 2014.

The defined benefit pension plans’ actuarial |bsg will be recognized from accumulated other carhpnsive loss into net periodic
benefit income in 2015 will be approximately $31limin .
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The service cost and the amortization of prior isereost components of pension expense relatdteternployees of the operating
segments are allocated to the operating segmesésl loan their respective estimated census data.

Pension Plan Assumption

Certain actuarial assumptions, such as discouatrad long-term rate of return on plan assets, hasignificant effect on the amounts
reported for net periodic benefit cost and acchuenkfit obligation amounts. We use a measurenaetaf December 31 for our pension
plans.

U.S. Pension Benefits Foreign Pension Benefits
Weighted Average Assumptions 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Discount rate—periodic benefit cost 4.5% 3.€% 4.% 4.8% 4.2% 4.4%
Expected return on assets 71.7%% 71.7%% 8.% 7.5% 7.7%% 8.C%
Rate of compensation increase 3.C% 3.C% 3.C% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5%
Discount rate—benefit obligation 3.€% 4.5% 3.£% 3.€% 4.8% 4.2%

The discount rate is based on a hypothetical yietde represented by a series of annualized ing@lidero-coupon bond spot rates for
maturities ranging from one-half to thirty yearBhe bonds used in the yield curve must have agati\A or better per Standard & Poor’s, be
non-callable, and have at least $250 million pastanding. The yield curve is then applied toghgected benefit payments from the
plan. Based on these bonds and the projectedibpagfnent streams, the single rate that produdwesame yield as the matching bond
portfolio, rounded to the nearest quarter pointised as the discount rate.

The long-term expected rate of return on plan agsgiresents an estimate of the long-term ratetafnis on the investment portfolio
consisting of equities, fixed income and alternaiiwestments. We use long-term historical aatetalrn information, the allocation mix of
investments that comprise plan assets, and forestistates of long-term investment returns, ineigdnflation rates, by reference to external
sources. The historic rate of return on plan adsa$ been 10.3% for the last 5 years, 10.3% éolast 10 years and 7.9% for the last 15
years. The following rates of return by asset<iasre considered in setting the I-term rate of return assumption:

U.S. equities 9% to 13%
Non-U.S. equities 10% to 14%
Fixed income/cash 5% to 9%
Alternative investments 5% to 15%
Absolute return strategies 8% to 12%
Plan Assets

Our pension plan asset allocation at December@®14 and 2013 , by asset class was as follows:

Percentage of Plan Assets

Asset Class 2014 2013

U.S. equities 4% 5%
Non-U.S. equities 7% 8%
Fixed income/cash 52% 51%
Alternative investments 21% 20%
Absolute return strategies 16% 16%
Total 10C% 10C%

The Alternative Investments asset class includdgdéunds, real estate and private equity investsnefihe Alternative Investment cl:
is intended to help diversify risk and increasemes by utilizing a broader group of assets.
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Absolute Return Strategies further diversify thand assets through the use of asset allocatienséiek to provide a targeted rate of
return over inflation. The investment managerscaite funds within asset classes that they contidez undervalued in an effort to preserve
gains in overvalued asset classes and to find &ypities in undervalued asset classes.

A master trust was established by our pension folaxtcumulate funds required to meet benefit paysneihour plan and is administered
solely in the interest of our plan’s participantslaheir beneficiaries. The master trastivestment horizon is long term. Its assetsrarage:
by professional investment managers or investgaafessionally managed investment vehicles.

Our pension plan maintains a portfolio of assetsgieed to achieve an appropriate risk adjustedmet@ihe portfolio of assets is also
structured to protect the funding level from th@aité/e impacts of interest rate changes on the asskliability values. This is accomplished
by investing in a portfolio of assets with a matuduration that approximately matches the duratibtine plan liabilities. Risk is managed by
diversifying assets across asset classes whose gtierns are not highly correlated, investingassively and actively managed strategies
in value and growth styles, and by periodic rebeilagn of asset classes, strategies and investmdas $b objectively set targets.

As of December 31, 2014 , the following target edltton and ranges have been set for each assgt clas

Asset Class Target Allocation  Target Range

U.S. equities 6% 0-14
Non-U.S. equities 6% 0-14
Fixed income/cash 61% 48-80
Alternative investments 7% 0-28
Absolute return strategies 20% 10-30

We do have a small Canadian qualified defined bepefsion plan to which we made cash contributiff0.8 million and $1.0
million in 2014 and 2013, respectively, and wa@pate approximately $1 million of cash contrilmrts in 2015 .

Determining which hierarchical level an asset ability falls within requires significant judgment.he following table summarizes our
domestic and foreign defined benefit pension pkEsets measured at fair value as of December 3%,:201

Quoted Prices Significant
In Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Asset Class (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(% in millions)

Equity securities

U.S. equities $ 69.6 $ 124 $ — 3 82.2

Non-U.S. equities 35.4 115k — 150.¢
Fixed income / cash

Cash 65.7 — — 65.7

Government treasuries — 465.¢ 4.3 469.¢

Corporate debt instruments 0.4 329.7 9.€ 339.1

Asset-backed securities — 150.k — 150.
Alternative investments

Hedge fund of funds — — 358.¢ 358.¢

Real estate funds — — 34.C 34.C

Private equity funds — — 17.7 17.7
Absolute return strategies — 289.( 20.c 309.:
Total assets $ 171.: % 1,362.7 $ 4447 % 1,978.

79




The following table summarizes our domestic aneifpr defined benefit pension plan assets measuffed aalue as of December 31,
2013:

Quoted Prices Significant
In Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Asset Class (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

(% in millions)
Equity securities

U.S. equities $ 832 % 14¢ $ — 3 98.C

Non-U.S. equities 41.1 112.1 — 153.2
Fixed income / cash

Cash 53.¢ — — 53.¢

Government treasuries — 398.¢ 4.t 403.1

Corporate debt instruments 0.4 314.¢ 21.t 336.:

Asset-backed securities — 152.: — 152.:
Alternative investments

Hedge fund of funds — — 315.¢ 315.¢

Real estate funds — — 35.7 35.7

Private equity funds — — 17.€ 17.¢
Absolute return strategies — 275.5 18.7 294.;
Total assets $ 178.¢ $ 1,267.¢ $ 4142 % 1,860.:

U.S. equities—This class included actively and passively managgdty investments in common stock and commin§lieds
comprised primarily of large-capitalization stoekith value, core and growth strategies.

Non-U.S. equities—This class included actively managed equity innestts in commingled funds comprised primarily démational
large-capitalization stocks from both developed emerging markets.

Fixed income and cashhis class included commingled funds comprisedatitdnstruments issued by the U.S. and Canadian
Treasuries, U.S. Agencies, corporate debt instrisnasset- and mortgage-backed securities and cash.

Hedge fund of fundshis class included a hedge fund which investdénfollowing types of hedge funds:
Event driven hedge funds¥his class included hedge funds that invest instesito capture excess returns that are driven by
market or specific company events including actiwigestment philosophies and the arbitrage oftgcand private and public

debt securities.

Market neutral hedge funds-This class included investments in U.S. and irgBomal equities and fixed income securities
while maintaining a market neutral position in taosarkets.

Other hedge funds-This class primarily included long-short equityaségies and a global macro fund which investdikéad
income, equity, currency, commodity and relatedvagive markets.

At December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the asset allatatuded investment in approximately 20% eveitadr hedge funds, 35% market
neutral hedge funds and 45% other hedge funds.

Real estate funds-This class included several funds that invest grilpin U.S. commercial real estate.

Private equity funds—This class included several private equity furida tnvest primarily in infrastructure and U.S. povgeneration
and transmission assets.
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Absolute return strategies-This class included multiple strategies which asset allocations that seek to provide a targetedaf
return over inflation. The investment managerscaite funds within asset classes that they contides undervalued in an effort to preserve
gains in overvalued asset classes and to find tymities in undervalued asset classes. At DeceBibe2014 , the asset allocation included
investment in approximately 15% equities, 65% casth fixed income and 20% alternative investmeAtsDecember 31, 2013 , the asset
allocation included investments in approximatel§y@@quities, 60% cash and fixed income and 20%rgitire investments.

U.S. equities and non-U.S. equities are primardiped at the net asset value provided by the ind#gre administrator or custodian of
the commingled fund. The net asset value is basdtie value of the underlying equities, whichtaaeled on an active market. U.S. equities
are also valued at the closing price reported iadive market on which the individual securities maded. Fixed income investments are
primarily valued at the net asset value providedhayindependent administrator or custodian ofttine. The net asset value is based on the
underlying assets, which are valued using inputh s the closing price reported, if traded ondaiva market, values derived from
comparable securities of issuers with similar drestings, or under a discounted cash flow appralbatutilizes observable inputs, such as
current yields of similar instruments, but includeustments for risks that may not be observalté ss certain credit and liquidity
risks. Alternative investments are primarily valua the net asset value as determined by the émigmt administrator or custodian of the
fund. The net asset value is based on the undgrigivestments, which are valued using inputs sischuoted market prices of identical
instruments, discounted future cash flows, indepahdppraisals and markedsed comparable data. Absolute return strategéesommingle
funds which reflect the fair value of our ownershiterest in these funds. The investments in tikesemingled funds include some or all of
above asset classes and are primarily valued a@sset values based on the underlying investmehish are valued consistent with the
methodologies described above for each asset class.

The following table summarizes the activity for a@fined benefit pension plans level 3 assetshfryear ended December 31, 2014 :

Unrealized
Gain/(Loss)
Relating to Purchases,
December 31, Realized Assets Held at Sales, and Transfers December 31,
2013 Gain/(Loss) Period End Settlements In/(Out) 2014
(% in millions)
Fixed income / cash
Government treasuries $ 45 3 — 3 0.3 % 01 $ — % 4.3
Corporate debt instruments 21.t 2.C 1.3 (12.€) — 9.€
Alternative investments
Hedge fund of funds 315.¢ — 17.¢ 25.C — 358.¢
Real estate funds 35.7 1.€ 2.C (5.3 — 34.C
Private equity funds 17.¢ — (0.2 — — 17.7
Absolute return strategies 18.7 — 0.€ 0.€ — 20.3
Total level 3 assets $ 414.2  $ 3€ $ 18¢ % 8C $ — 444
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The following table summarizes the activity for al@fined benefit pension plans level 3 assetshiryear ended December 31, 2013 :

Unrealized
Gain/(Loss)
Relating to Purchases,
December 31, Realized Assets Heldat Sales, and Transfers December 31,
2012 Gain/(Loss) Period End Settlements In/(Out) 2013
(% in millions)
Fixed income / cash
Government treasuries $ 56 $ 01 % 1.1 % 0.) $ — $ 4.5
Corporate debt instruments 12.2 — 1.2 8.C — 21.t
Alternative investments
Hedge fund of funds 286.¢ — 29.C — — 315.¢
Real estate funds 38.2 1.C 1.¢ (5.9 — 35.7
Private equity funds 18.t 0.€ (0.5 (0.9 — 17.¢
Absolute return strategies 40.¢ 9.4 (7.0 (24.5) — 18.7
Total level 3 assets $ 4022 $ 112 $ 236 % (229 $ — 3 414.:

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

We provide certain postretirement healthcare (nmadand life insurance benefits for eligible actausd retired domestic employees.

healthcare plans are contributory with participactstributions adjusted annually based on mediatas of inflation and plan experience. We

use a measurement date of December 31 for ourgpiostnent plans.

Other Postretirement Benefits Obligations and FurdiStatus

Changes in the benefit obligation were as follows:

December 31, 2014

December 31, 2013

($ in millions)

($ in millions)

Change in Benefit Obligation u.S. Foreign Total u.sS. Foreign Total
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 50.C §$ 8€ ¢ 67.€ $ 65.5 $ 9t $ 75.C
Service cost 1.C 0.1 1.1 1.2 0.1 1.G
Interest cost 2 0.4 2.7 2.2 0.4 2.€
Actuarial loss (gain) 2.4 0.7 3.1 (1.5 (0.9 (1.9
Benefits paid (6.2) (0.4 (6.€) (8.4) (0.9 (8.9
Currency translation adjustments — (0.7) (0.7) — (0.6) (0.6)
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 58t §$ 87 $ 67.z2 $ 59.C $ 8€ $ 67.€
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
(% in millions) (% in millions)

U.S. Foreign Total U.S. Foreign Total

Funded status $ (58.5) $ 8.7 $ (67.29 % (59.0 $ 8.6) $ (67.€)

Under ASC 715 we recorded a $1.8 million after¢harge ( $3.1 million pretax) to shareholders’ &gas of December 31, 2014 for
our other postretirement plans. In 2013, we edra $1.2 million after-tax benefit ( $1.9 millipretax) to shareholders’ equity as of
December 31, 2013 for our other postretirementgplan
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Amounts recognized in the consolidated balancetstoemsisted of:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
(% in millions) (% in millions)
U.S. Foreign Total uU.S. Foreign Total
Accrued benefit in current liabilities ~ $ (52 $ 03 % (5.5 $ 5.4 % 0.3 % (5.7
Accrued benefit in noncurrent liabilities (53.9) (8.9 (61.7) (53.6 8.3 (61.9)
Accumulated other comprehensive los 33.¢ (0.4) 33.2 34.1 1.2 32.¢
Net balance sheet impact $ (249 $ 90 $ (340 $ (249 $ 9.9 $ (34.9)

Years Ended December 31,

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost 2014 2013 2012

(% in millions)
Service cost $ 11 % 12 % 1.2
Interest cost 2.7 2.€ 3.1
Amortization of prior service cost (0.7 (0.2) (0.2)
Recognized actuarial loss 2.6 3.7 3.2
Net periodic benefit cost $ 6.6 $ 75 % 7.4

Included in Other Comprehensive Loss (Pretax)
Liability adjustment $ 31 % 19 9 4.€
Amortization of prior service costs and actuarnieises (2.8 (3.6) (3.2

The other postretirement plans’ actuarial loss wilitbe recognized from accumulated other compnshes loss into net periodic benefit
cost in 2015 will be approximately $4 million .

The service cost and amortization of prior sergiast components of postretirement benefit expesiaged to the employees of the
operating segments are allocated to the operatiggnents based on their respective estimated ceasals

Other Postretirement Benefits Plan Assumptions

Certain actuarial assumptions, such as discousthatve a significant effect on the amounts repdrde net periodic benefit cost and
accrued benefit obligation amounts.

December 31,

Weighted Average Assumptions 2014 2013 2012
Discount rate—periodic benefit cost 4.2% 3.€% 4.€%
Discount rate—benefit obligation 3.7% 4.2% 3.6%

The discount rate is based on a hypothetical yietde represented by a series of annualized ing@idero-coupon bond spot rates for
maturities ranging from one-half to thirty yearhe bonds used in the yield curve must have agatiAA or better per Standard & Poor’s, be
non-callable, and have at least $250 million pastanding. The yield curve is then applied toghgected benefit payments from the
plan. Based on these bonds and the projectedibpagfnent streams, the single rate that proddwesame yield as the matching bond
portfolio, rounded to the nearest quarter pointised as the discount rate.
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We review external data and our own internal tréfodsealthcare costs to determine the healthaasefor the post retirement benefit
obligation. The assumed healthcare cost trend fatepre-65 retirees were as follows:

December 31,

2014 2013
Healthcare cost trend rate assumed for next year 8.5% 9.C%
Rate that the cost trend rate gradually declines to 5.C% 5.C%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate rate 2021 2021

For post-65 retirees, we provide a fixed dollardfgnwhich is not subject to escalation.

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have an effieitte amounts reported for the healthcare plangne-percentage-point change in
assumed healthcare cost trend rates would havieltbeing effects:

One-Percentage One-Percentage
Point Increase  Point Decrease

($ in millions)
Effect on total of service and interest costs $ 02 $ (0.2
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 3.8 3.2

We expect to make payments of approximately $5anillor each of the next five years under the miovis of our other postretirement
benefit plans.

INCOME TAXES
Years ended December 31,
Components of Income from Continuing Operations Be¢ Taxes 2014 2013 2012
($ in millions)

Domestic $ 164.2 $ 222 $ 189.¢
Foreign .7 27.¢ 35.Z
Income from continuing operations before taxes $ 162.7 $ 250.C $ 225.2
Components of Income Tax Provision
Current expense:

Federal $ 25¢ % 421 $ 16.¢

State 1.3 9.4 4.3

Foreign 5.2 8.t 10.4

32.t 60.C 31.€

Deferred 25.2 11.4 44.C
Income tax provision $ 577 $ 714§ 75.€
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The following table accounts for the differencevibetn the actual tax provision and the amounts ebthby applying the statutory U.S.
federal income tax rate of 35% to the income framtinuing operations before taxes.

Years ended December 31,

Effective Tax Rate Reconciliation (Percent) 2014 2013 2012
Statutory federal tax rate 35.C% 35.(% 35.C%
Foreign rate differential (0.2 (0.7 (0.2
Domestic manufacturing/export tax incentive (1.8 (1.6) (2.0
Return to provision (0.7) (0.3 —
Dividends paid to CEOP (0.5) (0.3 (0.9
Change in tax contingencies (0.3 (3.9 0.t
State income taxes, net 24 2.3 1.8
Change in valuation allowance 1.1 (2.7 0.1
Remeasurement of deferred taxes 0.4 0.1 0.7
Research tax credit — (0.9 —
Section 450 tax credit — — (3.0
Australia dividend residual tax expense — — 0.3
Other, net 0.1 — 0.2
Effective tax rate 35.£% 28.€ % 33.6%

The effective tax rate from continuing operatioos2014 included $1.2 millionf benefit associated with return to provision athuent:
for the finalization of our 2013 U.S. federal anats income tax returns and $0.7 million of bena$igociated with the expiration of the statute:
of limitations in federal and state jurisdictiodfiese items were partially offset by $0.8 millidre@pense associated with increases in
valuation allowances on certain state tax credarz®es, primarily due to a change in state tax &wd, $0.6 million of expense related to the
remeasurement of deferred taxes due to an incieasate effective tax rates. The effective tar fabm continuing operations for 2013
included $11.4 million of benefit associated witle £xpiration of the statutes of limitations indeal and state jurisdictions, $8.3 million of
benefit associated with reductions in valuatioow#inces on our capital loss carryforwards and 8iln of benefit associated with the
Research Credit, which were partially offset by8®hillion of expense associated with changes irctmtingencies and $1.3 milli@f expens
associated with increases in valuation allowancesentain state tax credits carryforwards. Theadiffe tax rate from continuing operations for
2012 included a benefit of $6.6 million associatéth Section 450 that was claimed on our 2008 th220.S. federal income tax returns.
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December 31,

Components of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 2014 2013
($ in millions)

Deferred tax assets:

Pension and postretirement benefits $ 108.C $ 74.€
Environmental reserves 56.t 60.z
Asset retirement obligations 22.¢ 25.7
Accrued liabilities 43.¢ 48.2
Tax credits 9.2 13.5
Federal and state net operating losses 6.€ 7.2
Capital loss carryforward 4.8 3.C
Other miscellaneous items 16.t 10.7
Total deferred tax assets 268.4 242.¢
Valuation allowance (16.¢) (13.9
Net deferred tax assets 251.¢ 229.t
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment 177.¢ 182.t
Intangible amortization 10.t 8.4
Inventory and prepaids 5.€ 3.1
Partnerships 98.2 93.7
Total deferred tax liabilities 292.2 287.1
Net deferred tax liability $ (40.9 $ (58.2)

Realization of the net deferred tax assets, irr@speof indefinite-lived deferred tax liabilitiess dependent on future reversals of
existing taxable temporary differences and adediudiiee taxable income, exclusive of reversing terapy differences and
carryforwards. Although realization is not assured believe that it is more likely than not thae ihet deferred tax assets will be realized.

We completed the acquisition of KA Steel on Auge@t2012, with both parties agreeing to an eleatiotier Section 338(h)(10) of the
U.S. IRC, which allows us to treat the transactisran asset acquisition for U.S. federal incometaposes. KA Steel did not carry forward
any significant tax attributes.

At December 31, 2014 , we had deferred federaéigrense of $4.7 million recorded associated wighitipact on expected future
foreign tax credits generated by the deferred $sets of our Canadian subsidiary.

At December 31, 2014 , we had a U.S. net operdtisgycarryforward (NOL) of approximately $2.4 nali (representing $0.9 million of
deferred tax assets), that will expire in years”2itough 2020, if not utilized. The utilizatioftbis NOL is limited under Section 382 of the
U.S. IRC to $0.5 million in each year through 2020e believe that it is more likely than not thiae NOL will be realized and no valuation
allowance is necessary.

At December 31, 2014 , we had deferred state tarfiie of $2.4 million relating to state NOLs, whiare available to offset future state
taxable income through 2033. Due to uncertainggarding realization of certain tax benefits, lugtion allowance of $0.7 million has been
applied against the deferred state tax benefitbeaember 31, 2014 .

At December 31, 2014 , we had deferred state tarfiie of $13.9 milliorrelating to state tax credits, which are availdbleffset future
state tax liabilities through 2028. Due to undettas regarding the realization of certain statedredits, a valuation allowance$f1.1 millior
has been applied against the deferred state tdit<et December 31, 2014 .

At December 31, 2014 , we had a capital loss canmdrd of $12.2 million (representing $4.8 milliohdeferred tax assets) that is
available to offset future consolidated capitahgahat will expire in years 2015 through 2019df ntilized. Due to uncertainties regarding the
realization of certain capital loss carryforwardsaluation allowance of $4.8 million has been egaphgainst the deferred tax benefit at
December 31, 2014 .
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The activity of our deferred income tax valuatidlo@ance was as follows:

December 31,

2014 2013
($ in millions)
Beginning balance $ 134 $ 21.1
Charged to income tax provision 4.1 4.€
Deductions from reserves - credited to income taxipion (0.9 (12.¢)
Ending balance $ 166 $ 13.4

The total amount of undistributed earnings of fgnesubsidiaries was approximately $11.4 millioatember 31, 2014 . Deferred
taxes are provided for earnings of non-U.S. atéawhen we plan to remit those earnings. A pomibthe undistributed earnings have been
permanently reinvested and for those earnings ferrée taxes have been provided. Deferred taxes havbeen provided on the excess book
basis in the shares of certain foreign subsididrézsuse these basis differences are not expecteddrse in the foreseeable future. The
undistributed earnings and excess book basis difters could reverse through a sale, receipt ofieinds from the subsidiaries, as well as
various other events. It is not practical to cltaithe residual income tax that would resulbéde basis differences reversed due to the
complexities of the tax law and the hypotheticalina of the calculations.

As of December 31, 2014 , we had $36.1 millionmisg unrecognized tax benefits, which would hametg$35.0 million impact on the
effective tax rate from continuing operations.efognized. As of December 31, 2013 , we had $3llon of gross unrecognized tax bene
which would have a net $31.1 million impact on éfifective tax rate from continuing operations g€ognized. The change for 2014 primarily
relates to additional gross unrecognized bendditgdirrent year and prior year tax positions, ak agthe expiration of statute of limitations in
domestic jurisdictions and settlement of ongoindisu The change for 2013 primarily relates togkpiration of statute of limitations in
domestic jurisdictions and settlement of ongoinditsy as well as additional gross unrecognized fitsrfer prior year tax positions. The
amounts of unrecognized tax benefits were as faiow

December 31,

2014 2013
(% in millions)
Beginning balance $ 345 % 40.1
Increase for current year tax positions 2.2 —
Increase for prior year tax positions 0.2 4.t
Reductions due to statute of limitations (0.9 (20.0
Decrease for prior year tax positions 0.3 (0.2
Decrease due to tax settlements (0.7 —
Ending balance $ 36.1 $ 34.5

Income from discontinued operations, net for tharyended December 31, 2014 included $2.2 milliotawfexpense related to changes
in tax contingencies.

We recognize interest and penalty expense relatadrecognized tax positions as a component oftt@me tax provision. As of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, interest and penaltisied were $3.2 million and $2.8 million , respesly. For 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , we
recorded expense (benefit) related to interestpan@lties of $0.4 million , $(0.5) million and $0v8llion , respectively.

As of December 31, 2014 , we believe it is reashnpbssible that our total amount of unrecognizedtienefits will decrease by

approximately $7.3 million over the next twelve rtttr The anticipated reduction primarily rela@settlements with tax authorities and the
expiration of federal, state and foreign statufdgmtation.
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We operate primarily in North America and file imge tax returns in numerous jurisdictions. Ourretarns are subject to examination
by various federal, state and local tax authoriti®sir U.S. federal income tax returns are undanesation by the Internal Revenue Service
(IRS) for tax years 2008 and 2010 to 2012. Our @mmafederal income tax returns are under exantindiy Canada Revenue Authority
(CRA) for tax years 2010 and 2011. Our Canadianipaial income tax returns are under examinatioroygbec Revenue Authority for tax
years 2008 to 2011. We believe we have adequatelyded for all tax positions; however, amountseatesl by taxing authorities could
greater than our accrued position. For our printaxyjurisdictions, the tax years that remain subieexamination are as follows:

Tax Years
U.S. federal income tax 2008; 2010 - 2013
U.S. state income tax 2006 - 2013
Canadian federal income tax 2010 - 2013
Canadian provincial income tax 2008 - 2013

ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Included in accrued liabilities were the following:

December 31,

2014 2013
(% in millions)

Accrued compensation and payroll taxes $ 404 $ 51.1
Accrued employee benefits 41.F 35.2
Environmental (current portion only) 19.C 18.C
Legal and professional costs 26.2 23.4
Asset retirement obligation (current portion only) 10.z 13.t
Earn out — 26.7
Other 76.€ 76.5

Accrued liabilities $ 2142 $ 244.5

CONTRIBUTING EMPLOYEE OWNERSHIP PLAN

The CEOP is a defined contribution plan availablegsentially all domestic employees. Company hirggccontributions are invested
in the same investment allocation as the employasitribution. Our matching contributions for dtig employees amounted to $5.7 million
in 2014 and $5.2 million in both 2013 and 2012 .

Employees become vested in the value of the cariois we make to the CEOP according to a schdziged on service. After two
years of service, participants 25% vested. They vest in increments of 25% fohesitlitional year and after five years of servibey are
100% vested in the value of the contributions Wathave made to their accounts.

Employees may transfer any or all of the valuehefinvestments, including Olin common stock, to ang or combination of
investments available in the CEOP. Employees master balances daily and may elect to transfempancentage of the balance in the fund
from which the transfer is made. However, whengfarring out of a fund, employees are prohibitednf trading out of the fund to which the
transfer was made for seven calendar days. Thitalion does not apply to trades into the moneyketafund or the Olin Common Stock
Fund.
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STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Stock-based compensation expense was allocatbe taperating segments for the portion related tpleyees whose compensation
would be included in cost of goods sold with thexaénder recognized in corporate/other. There wersignificant capitalized stock-based
compensation costs. Stock-based compensatioregrardludes stock options, performance stock awaedsricted stock awards and deferred
directors’ compensation. Stock-based compensatipense was as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(% in millions)
Stock-based compensation $ 9.2 % 135 $ 8.4
Mark-to-market adjustments (3.6) 4.2 0.¢
Total expense $ 5 $ 175 $ 9.3

Stock Plans

Under the stock option and lortgrm incentive plans, options may be granted tehmse shares of our common stock at an exercise
not less than fair market value at the date oftgamd are exercisable for a period not exceeding/éars from that date. Stock options,
restricted stock and performance shares typicat wver three years. We issue shares to seitlk sptions, restricted stock and share-basec
performance awards. In 2014 , 2013 and 2012 lemy-tncentive awards included stock options, penforce share awards and restricted
stock. The stock option exercise price was stteafair market value of common stock on the déth® grant, and the options have a tgear
term.

Stock option transactions were as follows:

Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Shares Option Price  Option Price Options Exercise Price
Outstanding at January 1, 2014 4,114,82. $14.2823.78 $ 19.3:¢ 3,011,70: $ 18.2¢
Granted 624,20( 25.2727.64 25.6¢
Exercised (572,60 14.2823.78 20.1:
Canceled (32,66%) 18.5225.57 23.81
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 4,133,75 $14.2827.64 $ 20.1¢ 2,976,87‘ $ 18.5(

At December 31, 2014 , the average exercise pésiogal outstanding and exercisable options wag@rths and 54 months,
respectively. At December 31, 2014 , the aggreigatimsic value (the difference between the exargrice and market value) for outstanding
options was $13.8 million and exercisable optioas %13.6 million . The total intrinsic value oftimms exercised during the years ended
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 was $3.9 milli&h2 million and $0.5 million , respectively.

The total unrecognized compensation cost relateshtested stock options at December 31, 2014 wésritlion and was expected to
be recognized over a weighted average period ofdaks.
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The following table provides certain informationtvrespect to stock options exercisable at Decei®bg2014 :

Weighted Weighted
Range of Options Average Options Average
Exercise Prices Exercisable Exercise Price  Outstanding Exercise Price
Under $16.00 939,92 $ 15.0: 939,92t $ 15.0¢
$16.00 — $20.00 766,74t $ 18.01 766,74t % 18.01
Over $20.00 1,270,191 $ 21.3i 2,427,007 $ 22.8(
2,976,87 4,133,75

At December 31, 2014 , common shares reserved$aance and available for grant or purchase uhddbtlowing plans consisted of:

Number of Shares

Available for
Reserved for Grant or

Stock Option Plans Issuance Purchase®
2000 long term incentive plan 346,36¢ 13,41
2003 long term incentive plan 426,06¢ 14,63¢
2006 long term incentive plan 1,613,344 207,78:
2009 long term incentive plan 2,884,82 432,02
2014 long term incentive plan 3,000,001 3,000,00t
8,270,61: 3,667,86.
1996 stock option plan (plan expired) 31,60z —
Total under stock option plans 8,302,21 3,667,86

Number of Shares

Available for
Reserved for Grant or
Stock Purchase Plans Issuance Purchase
1997 stock plan for non-employee directors 582,96: 130,66(
Employee deferral plan 45,87: 45,62!
628,83: 176,28:

Total under stock purchase plans

(1) Allavailable to be issued as stock optiong,ibcludes a sub-limit for all types of stock adsof 1,667,86%hares
Under the stock purchase plans, our non-employeetdis may defer certain elements of their comgiéms into shares of our common

stock based on fair market value of the shardseatime of deferral. Non-employee directors anlyuaiceive stock grants as a portion of their
director compensation. Of the shares reservedruhdestock purchase plans at December 31, 20%2,549 shares were committed.
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Performance share awards are denominated in shiapes stock and are paid half in cash and hat#tatk. Payouts are based on Olin’s
average annual return on capital over a three {yedormance cycle in relation to the average ahratarn on capital over the same period
among a portfolio of public companies which arestdd in concert with outside compensation constdtaThe expense associated with
performance shares is recorded based on our estohaur performance relative to the respectivgdar If an employee leaves the company
before the end of the performance cycle, the peréoice shares may be prorated based on the numimemdiis of the performance cycle
worked and are settled in cash instead of halash@and half in stock when the three-year perfoomaycle is completed. Performance share
transactions were as follows:

To Settle in Cash To Settle in Shares

Weighted Weighted

Average Average
Fair Value per Fair Value per

Shares Share Shares Share

Outstanding at January 1, 2014 296,22 $ 28.9( 289,000 $ 21.4¢
Granted 84,50( 25.57 84,50( 25.57
Paid/lssued (88,61)) 28.9( (84,500 18.7¢
Converted from shares to cash 3,40: 23.17 (3,409 23.17
Canceled (4,597) 27.4¢ (4,597) 24.1¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 290,91° $ 23.0¢ 281,000 $ 23.4¢
Total vested at December 31, 2014 203,58 $ 23.0¢ 193,66 $ 22.8¢

The summary of the status of our unvested perfoceaahares to be settled in cash were as follows:

Weighted

Average
Fair Value per

Shares Share

Unvested at January 1, 2014 102,16t $ 28.9(
Granted 84,50( 25.57
Vested (94,735 23.0¢
Canceled (4,597) 27.4¢
Unvested at December 31, 2014 87,33 % 23.0¢

At December 31, 2014 , the liability recorded ferformance shares to be settled in cash totalédridlion . The total unrecognized
compensation cost related to unvested performamaes at December 31, 2014 was $4.2 million andexpscted to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 1.2 years.

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

On April 24, 2014, our board of directors authodizenew share repurchase program for up to 8 miélimres of common stock that v
terminate in three years for any of the remainimgres not yet repurchased. This authorizatioraoggl the July 2011 share repurchase
program. We repurchased and retired 2.5 milliors nillion and 0.2 million shares in 2014 , 2013 @012 , respectively, at a cost of $64.8
million , $36.2 million and $3.1 million , respeatly. As of December 31, 2014 , we had repurchasedial of 1.9 million shares under the
April 2014 program, and 6.1 million shares remaiaathorized to be purchased.

During 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , we issued 0.5 milliorb million , and 0.1 million shares, respediyevith a total value of $12.1
million , $9.7 million and $1.4 million , respectly, representing stock options exercised.

We have registered an undetermined amount of $issuwith the SEC, so that, from time-to-time, waynissue debt securities,
preferred stock and/or common stock and assocvedednts in the public market under that registratatement.
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The following table represents the activity inclddie accumulated other comprehensive loss:

Unrealized
Foreign Gains (Losses) Pension and Accumulated
Currency on Derivative Postretirement Other
Translation Contracts Benefits Comprehensive
Adjustment (net of taxes) (net of taxes) Loss
(% in millions)

Balance at January 1, 2012 $ 18 $ (5.3 % (290.7) $ (294.7)
Unrealized gains (losses) 0.3 9.¢ (166.9) (156.¢
Reclassification adjustments into income — 6.5 23.4 29.¢
Tax (provision) benefit — (6.9 56.C 49.¢
Net change 0.3 10.C (87.9 (77.2)

Balance at December 31, 2012 2.1 4.7 (378.)) (371.9
Unrealized losses (2.6 (7.7) (12.5 (22.9)
Reclassification adjustments into income — 1.4 33.2 347
Tax benefit (provision) — 2.t (8.2 (5.7)
Net change (2.6) (3.9 12.€ 6.2

Balance at December 31, 2013 (0.5) 0.¢ (365.5) (365.7)
Unrealized losses (1.9 (10.2) (242.0 (154.0
Reclassification adjustments into income — 1.8 25.5 27.3
Tax benefit — 3.2 45.4 48.7
Net change (1.8) (5.1 (71.7) (78.0

Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 23 $ 42) $ (4366 ¢ (443.)

Net income and cost of goods sold included rediaaion adjustments for realized gains and lossederivative contracts from
accumulated other comprehensive loss.

Net income, cost of goods sold and selling and athtnative expenses included the amortization mfrgervice costs and actuarial
losses from accumulated other comprehensive Id8s.amortization is recognized equally in cost obds sold and selling and administrative
expenses.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

We define segment results as income (loss) frontiraaing operations before interest expense, inténesme, other operating income,
other income (expense) and income taxes, and iach@results of non-consolidated affiliates. Qsteat with the guidance in ASC 280, we
have determined it is appropriate to include theraging results of non-consolidated affiliatesha televant segment financial results.
Intersegment sales of $96.6 million , $81.3 milleomd $18.1 million for the years ended Decembef814 , 2013 and 2012 respectively, have
been eliminated. These represent the sale of camia, bleach, potassium hydroxide and hydrochéarid between Chemical Distribution &
Chlor Alkali Products, at prices that approximatarket.
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Sales:
Chlor Alkali Products

Years ended December 31,

Chemical Distribution

Winchester

Intersegment sales elimination
Total sales

Income (loss) from continuing operations before taes:

Chlor Alkali Products

Chemical Distribution

Winchester

Corporate/Other

Restructuring charges

Acquisition costs

Other operating income

Interest expense

Interest income

Other income (expense)

Income from continuing operations before taxes
Earnings of non-consolidated affiliates:

Chlor Alkali Products
Depreciation and amortization expense:

Chlor Alkali Products

Chemical Distribution

Winchester

Corporate/Other
Total depreciation and amortization expense
Capital spending:

Chlor Alkali Products

Chemical Distribution

Winchester

Corporate/Other

Total capital spending
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2014 2013 2012
($ in millions)

1,305.¢ $ 1,412 $ 1,428.¢
293.¢ 406.4 156.%
738.4 777.¢ 617.¢
(96.6) (81.9) (18.1)
2,241.: $ 2,515.( % 2,184.
130.1 $ 203.¢ $ 263.2
— 9.7 4.t
127.: 143.2 55.2
(38.]) (62.6) (51.)
(15.7) (5.5) (8.5)
— — (8.9)

1.5 0.7 7.€
(43.9) (38.6) (26.4)
a2 0.€ 1.C
0.1 (1.9) (11.9
162.7 $ 250.C $ 225.2
1.7 % 28 % 3.C
103.¢ $ 102.1 $ 88.¢
15.¢ 15.4 5t
16.5 14.¢ 13.€
34 2.6 2.€
139.1 % 1352 $ 110.¢
48.C $ 65. $ 221
1.€ 2.5 0.6
21.4 21.2 32.1
0.8 1.€ 1.t
716 % 90.6 $ 2557




December 31,

2014 2013

Assets: (% in millions)

Chlor Alkali Products $ 1,617 $ 1,695.¢

Chemical Distribution 321.% 335.%

Winchester 361.( 339.2

Corporate/Other 398.1 432.%
Total assets $ 2,698.. $ 2,802.¢
Investments—affiliated companies (at equity):

Chlor Alkali Products $ 23 % 21.€
Goodwill:

Chlor Alkali Products $ 627« $ 627.¢

Chemical Distribution 119.7 119.7
Total Goodwill $ 7471 $ 747.]

Segment assets include only those assets whidiraatly identifiable to an operating segment. étsf the corporate/other segment
include primarily such items as cash and cash edpuvs, deferred taxes, restricted cash and ofisets

Years ended December 31,

Geographic Data 2014 2013 2012
Sales: (% in millions)
United States $ 2,051.: % 2,316.:. $ 1,970.!
Foreign 189.¢ 198.¢ 214.2
Transfers between areas:
United States 57.4 53.4 3.t
Foreign 54.7 109.( 85.t
Eliminations (112.)) (162.9) (139.0)
Total sales $ 2,241.; $ 2515.( $ 2,184,

December 31,

2014 2013
Assets: (% in millions)
United States $ 2,484.¢ $ 2,574.¢
Foreign 213.2 227.¢
Total assets $ 2,698.: $ 2,802.¢

Transfers between geographic areas are pricedanat prevailing market prices. Export salesirthe United States to unaffiliated
customers were $29.4 million , $25.2 million andd2million in 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.
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ENVIRONMENTAL

In the United States, the establishment and impi¢ation of federal, state and local standardsdolege air, water and land quality
affect substantially all of our manufacturing Idoas. Federal legislation providing for regulatiointhe manufacture, transportation, use and
disposal of hazardous and toxic substances, aneldiation of contaminated sites, has imposed additicegulatory requirements on industry,
particularly the chemicals industry. In additiaomplementation of environmental laws, such as thsdRrce Conservation and Recovery Act
and the Clean Air Act, has required and will con&ro require new capital expenditures and wiliéase plant operating costs. Our Canadiar
facility is governed by federal environmental laadsministered by Environment Canada and by provircigironmental laws enforced by
administrative agencies. Many of these laws ameparable to the U.S. laws described above. We@mphste minimization and pollution
prevention programs at our manufacturing sites.

We are party to various governmental and privatérenmental actions associated with past manufamuecilities and former waste
disposal sites. Associated costs of investigaao remedial activities are provided for in accomawith generally accepted accounting
principles governing probability and the abilityreeasonably estimate future costs. Our abilitggtimate future costs depends on whether oul
investigatory and remedial activities are in prétfiary or advanced stages. With respect to unasbelaims, we accrue liabilities for costs t
in our experience, we may incur to protect ourrieges against those unasserted claims. Our actalddies for unasserted claims amounted
to $1.9 million at December 31, 2014 . With respie@sserted claims, we accrue liabilities basecemedial investigation, feasibility study,
remedial action and OM&M expenses that, in our ermee, we may incur in connection with the assectaims. Required site OM&M
expenses are estimated and accrued in their gnftmetequired periods not exceeding 30 years, Wwhiasonably approximates the typical
duration of long-term site OM&M.

Our liabilities for future environmental expendigrwere as follows:

December 31,

2014 2013
(% in millions)
Beginning balance $ 144.€¢ $ 146.
Charges to income 9.€ 11.F
Remedial and investigatory spending (14.9 (12.9
Currency translation adjustments (1.0 (1.0
Ending balance $ 138.2  $ 144.¢

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, our consolidatémhiba sheets included environmental liabilitie$51£9.3 million and $126.6
million , respectively, which were classified ah@t noncurrent liabilities. Our environmental lidi amounts do not take into account any
discounting of future expenditures or any consiti@naof insurance recoveries or advances in tedyyol These liabilities are reassessed
periodically to determine if environmental circuarstes have changed and/or remediation efforts andstimate of related costs have
changed. As a result of these reassessmentsg fthiarges to income may be made for additionallitigls. Of the $138.3 million included on
our consolidated balance sheet at December 31,0 Idture environmental expenditures, we curreaitpect to utilize $80.2 million of the
reserve for future environmental expenditures demext 5 years, $17.3 million for expenditurds 80 years in the future, and $40.8 million
for expenditures beyond 10 years in the future.

Our total estimated environmental liability at Ded®er 31, 2014 was attributable to 70 sites, 15Ewwere USEPA NPL sites. Ten
sites accounted for 79% of our environmental ligbdnd, of the remaining 60 sites, no one siteanted for more than 3% of our
environmental liability. At five of the ten sitgsart of the site is subject to a remedial investan and another part is in the long-term OM&M
stage. Attwo of these ten sites, a remedial itiyason is being performed. The three remainiibgssare in long-term OM&M. All ten sites
are either associated with past manufacturing djpesaor former waste disposal sites. None oftéindargest sites represents more than 22%
of the liabilities reserved on our consolidatedabak sheet at December 31, 2014 for future envieowath expenditures.

Charges to income for investigatory and remedi@ref were material to operating results in 202013 and 2012 and may be material
to operating results in future years.
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Environmental provisions charged (credited) to mepwhich are included in cost of goods sold, veeréollows:

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
($ in millions)
Charges to income $ 9.6 $ 115 $ 8.4
Recoveries from third parties of costs incurred exyensed in prior periods (1.9 1.3 0.7
Total environmental expense $ 8.2 § 10z $ 8.8

These charges relate primarily to remedial andstigatory activities associated with past manufi@eguoperations and former waste
disposal sites.

Annual environmental-related cash outlays for isitestigation and remediation are expected to rénepeeen approximately $15
million to $35 million over the next several yeamich are expected to be charged against reseggesded on our consolidated balance
sheet. While we do not anticipate a material iaseein the projected annual level of our environtalenelated cash outlays, there is always the
possibility that such an increase may occur irftigre in view of the uncertainties associated weitlivironmental exposures. Environmental
exposures are difficult to assess for numerouoregasncluding the identification of new sites, dimpments at sites resulting from
investigatory studies, advances in technology, ghaiin environmental laws and regulations and dygiication, changes in regulatory
authorities, the scarcity of reliable data pertagnto identified sites, the difficulty in assessthg involvement and financial capability of other
PRPs, our ability to obtain contributions from atbarties and the lengthy time periods over whitd remediation occurs. It is possible that
some of these matters (the outcomes of which djesiuto various uncertainties) may be resolve@unifably to us, which could materially
adversely affect our financial position or resait®perations. At December 31, 2014 , we estirtf@eit is reasonably possible that we may
have additional contingent environmental liabitief $50 million in addition to the amounts for whiwe have already recorded as a reserve.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The following table summarizes our contractual catmments under non-cancelable operating leases aruha@se contracts as of

December 31, 2014 :

Purchase
Operating Leases Commitments

($ in millions)

2015 $ 60.5 $ 32.¢
2016 50.z 31.¢
2017 45.Z 5.C
2018 39.1 —
2019 31.1 —
Thereafter 75.2 —

Total commitments $ 301t % 69.€

Our operating lease commitments are primarily &read cars but also include distribution, wareding and office space and data
processing and office equipment. Virtually noneof lease agreements contain escalation claus#smrent provisions. Total rent expense
charged to operations amounted to $66.8 milliod4..% million and $60.5 million in 2014 , 2013 ar@ll2, respectively (sublease income is
significant). The above purchase commitments theltaw material, capital expenditure and utilityghiasing commitments utilized in our
normal course of business for our projected needs.
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In conjunction with the St. Gabriel, LA conversiand expansion project, which was completed in dlueth quarter of 2009, we entered
into a twenty -year brine and pipeline supply agreet with Boardwalk. Boardwalk installed, owns aqebrates, at its own expense, a pipelin
supplying brine to the St. Gabriel, LA facility.ine November 2009, we have been obligated to radkesd annual payment over the life of
the contract of $2.0 million for use of the pipelimegardless of the amount of brine purchased.aehad a minimum usage requirement for
brine of $8.4 million over the first five-year ped of the contract. We have met or exceeded thémmim brine usage requirements for this
five-year period. After the first five-year peridihe contract contains a buy out provision exeldesay us for $12.0 million , which decreases
by $0.8 million per year.

We, and our subsidiaries, are defendants in vatega actions (including proceedings based orgatleexposures to asbestos) incide
to our past and current business activities. Atddeber 31, 2014 and 2013, our consolidated balsimeets included liabilities for these legal
actions of $22.1 million and $19.3 million , respreely. These liabilities do not include costs@sated with legal representation. Based on
our analysis, and considering the inherent unceita associated with litigation, we do not beli¢gvat it is reasonably possible that these lega
actions will materially adversely affect our findaqosition, cash flows or results of operations.

During the ordinary course of our business, comtiroges arise resulting from an existing condit&ityation or set of circumstances
involving an uncertainty as to the realization gfassible gain contingency. In certain instanceh ®s environmental projects, we are
responsible for managing the cleanup and remediafi@n environmental site. There exists the fil#tgi of recovering a portion of these
costs from other parties. We account for gainiogeicies in accordance with the provisions of MBS0 and therefore do not record gain
contingencies and recognize income until it is edrand realizable.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, we recogfize® million as a reduction of cost of goods geldted to a Chlor Alkali
Products favorable contract settlement. Also ferytear ended December 31, 2013, we recognized $iiBi®n as a reduction of selling and
administration expense related to the recoverggdty legal costs.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We are exposed to market risk in the normal coafseir business operations due to our purchasesrtdin commodities, our ongoing
investing and financing activities and our openagithat use foreign currencies. The risk of l@ss e assessed from the perspective of ad
changes in fair values, cash flows and future egsi We have established policies and proceduresrging our management of market risks
and the use of financial instruments to manage sx@oto such risks. ASC 815 required an entitgtognize all derivatives as either assets ¢
liabilities in the statement of financial positiand measure those instruments at fair value. Wéiadge accounting treatment for substantiall
all of our business transactions whose risks averea using derivative instruments. In accordamitle ASC 815, we designate commodity
forward contracts as cash flow hedges of forecgstechases of commodities and certain interestsvaeps as fair value hedges of fixed-rate
borrowings. We do not enter into any derivativetinments for trading or speculative purposes.

Energy costs, including electricity used in our@hlkali Products segment, and certain raw maledad energy costs, namely copper
lead, zinc, electricity and natural gas used pripar our Winchester and Chemical Distribution segnts, are subject to price
volatility. Depending on market conditions, we neyer into futures contracts and put and callosptiontracts in order to reduce the impa
commodity price fluctuations. The majority of aaommodity derivatives expire within one year. Téhaemmodity contracts that extend
beyond one year correspond with raw material pusehdor long-term fixed-price sales contracts.

We enter into forward sales and purchase conttagtsanage currency risk resulting from purchasesatel commitments denominated
in foreign currencies (principally Canadian dobend Australian dollar). At December 31, 2014 a@d®, we had no forward contracts to buy
or sell foreign currencies.

In March 2010, we entered into interest rate svaap$125 million of our underlying fixed-rate delitligations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseesgents is Citibank. In October 2011, we
entered into $125 million of interest rate swapthwiqual and opposite terms as the $125 milliorabée interest rate swaps on the 2016
Notes. We have agreed to pay a fixed rate to ategoarty who, in turn, pays us variable ratese ¢bunterparty to this agreement is ¢
Citibank. The result was a gain of $11.0 millianthe $125 million variable interest rate swapsicWhvill be recognized through 2016. As of
December 31, 2014 , $3.7 million of this gain wadided in long-term debt. In October 2011, weddsignated our $125 million interest rate
swaps that had previously been designated asdhieynedges. The $125 million variable interet savaps and the $125 millidimed interes
rate swaps do not meet the criteria for hedge adgwy All changes in the fair value of these iptd rate swaps are recorded currently in
earnings.
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Cash Flow Hedges

ASC 815 requires that all derivative instrumentsdeorded on the balance sheet at their fair vakor.derivative instruments that are
designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge, thagshin fair value of the derivative is recogniasch component of other comprehensive
income (loss) until the hedged item is recognized earnings. Gains and losses on the derivate@gsenting hedge ineffectiveness are
recognized currently in earnings.

We had the following notional amount of outstandmgnmodity forward contracts that were entered fatbedge forecasted purchases:

December 31,

2014 2013
(% in millions)
Copper $ 62.7 $ 455
Zinc 6.€ 4.t
Lead 14.1 22.¢
Natural gas 5.7 5.k

As of December 31, 2014 , the counterparty to $&%IBon of these commodity forward contracts wasl\W Fargo, a major financial
institution, and the counterparty to $33.4 milliminthese commodity forward contracts was Citibankyajor financial institution.

We use cash flow hedges for certain raw materidlearergy costs such as copper, zinc, lead, elégtaiod natural gas to provide a
measure of stability in managing our exposure toepftuctuations associated with forecasted pureta$ raw materials and energy used in ou
manufacturing process. At December 31, 2014 ,adedpen positions in futures contracts through 2a1.8ll open futures contracts had been
settled on December 31, 2014 , we would have rezedra pretax loss of $7.1 million .

If commodity prices were to remain at December28l4 levels, approximately $3.1 milliai deferred losses would be reclassified
earnings during the next twelve months. The aaffatt on earnings will be dependent on actualrooriity prices when the forecasted
transactions occur.

Fair Value Hedges

For derivative instruments that are designatedogradify as a fair value hedge, the gain or losshenderivative as well as the offsetting
loss or gain on the hedged item attributable tchédged risk are recognized in current earnings. indude the gain or loss on the hedged
items (fixed-rate borrowings) in the same line itémterest expense, as the offsetting loss or gaithe related interest rate swaps. We had nc
interest rate swaps designated as fair value healgeEDecember 31, 2014 and 2013 .

In June 2012, we terminated $73.1 milliohinterest rate swaps with Wells Fargo that haehbentered into on the SunBelt Notes in |
2011. The result was a gain of $2.2 million whidh te recognized through 2017. As of DecemberZiL4 , $0.8 million of this gain was
included in long-term debt.

In March 2012, Citibank terminated $7.7 millioninferest rate swaps on our industrial revenue bduesin 2017. The result was a gain
of $0.2 million , which would have been recognitieugh 2017. In June 2012, the industrial reverareds were redeemed by us, and as a
result, the remaining $0.2 million deferred gairsweacognized in interest expense during 2012.

We use interest rate swaps as a means of manag@ngst expense and floating interest rate expdsuptimal levels. These interest
rate swaps are treated as fair value hedges. dderiating for gains and losses associated withgdmaim fair value of the derivative and the
effect on the consolidated financial statementsdeipend on the hedge designation and whetheretigehis effective in offsetting changes in
fair value of cash flows of the asset or liabilitging hedged.
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Financial Statement Impacts

We present our derivative assets and liabilitiesuinconsolidated balance sheets on a net basisewbewe have a legally enforceable
master netting agreement with the counterpartyutaderivative contracts. We use these agreememsmhage and substantially reduce our
potential counterparty credit risk.

The following table summarizes the location and ¥aiue of the derivative instruments on our coisded balance sheets. The table
disaggregates our net derivative assets and tiabiinto gross components on a contract-by-conbrasis before giving effect to master netting
arrangements:

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
Fair Value Fair Value
December 31, December 31,
Derivatives Designated
as Hedging Instruments Balance Sheet Location 2014 2013 Balance Sheet Location 2014 2013
(% in millions) (% in millions)

Interest rate contracts Other assets $ —  $ — Long-term debt $ 45 % 78
Commodity contracts —
losses Other current assets — (2.9 Accrued liabilities 7.2 —
Commodity contracts —
gains Other current assets — 3.6 Accrued liabilities 0.2 —

$ — % 1.2 $ 11€¢ $ 7.8
Derivatives Not
Designated
as Hedging Instruments
Interest rate contracts —
gains Other assets $ 432 $ 7.€ Other liabilities $ — % —
Interest rate contracts -
losses Other assets (0.8 1.7 Other liabilities — —
Commodity contracts —
losses Other current assets — (0.7 Accrued liabilities 1kt —
Commodity contracts —
gains Other current assets — 0.2 Accrued liabilities = =

$ 35 % 6.C $ 15 3 —
Total derivativeél) $ 3.5 $ 7.2 $ 13.1 $ 7.2

(1) Does notinclude the impact of cash collateralikexbfrom or provided to counterparti
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The following table summarizes the effects of datiie instruments on our consolidated statementpefations:

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Years Ended December 31,

Location of Gain (Loss) 2014 2013 2012
Derivatives — Cash Flow Hedges (% in millions)
Recognized in other comprehensive loss (effectontiqn) _— $ (10.2) $ 7.7 9 9.¢
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensisg |
into income (effective portion) Cost of goods sold ~ $ 1.9 ¢ a4 $ (6.5)
Derivatives — Fair Value Hedges
Interest rate contracts Interest expense $ 2¢ % 29 % 3.2
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments
Interest rate contracts Interest expense $ — ¢ — 3 0.1
Commodity contracts Cost of goods sold 14 0.4 (2.2
$ 14 % 04 % (2.0

The ineffective portion of changes in fair valusuked in zero charged or credited to earningsHeryears ended December 31, 2014 ,
2013 and 2012 .

Credit Risk and Collateral

By using derivative instruments, we are exposextédit and market risk. If a counterparty faildudill its performance obligations
under a derivative contract, our credit risk widual the fair-value gain in a derivative. Gengralthen the fair value of a derivative contract is
positive, this indicates that the counterparty oussthus creating a repayment risk for us. Wherfdir value of a derivative contract is
negative, we owe the counterparty and, therefa®yrae no repayment risk. We minimize the credit€dpayment) risk in derivative
instruments by entering into transactions with higlality counterparties. We monitor our positiamsl the credit ratings of our counterparties
and we do not anticipate non-performance by thetsparties.

Based on the agreements with our various countigpacash collateral is required to be provide@gmthe net fair value of the
derivatives, with the counterparty, exceed a spetifeshold. If the threshold is exceeded, casither provided by the counterparty to us if
the value of the derivatives is our asset, or ¢aghovided by us to the counterparty if the vadfighe derivatives is our liability. As of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, this threshold waexwmteded. In all instances where we are paryn@aster netting agreement, we offset the
receivable or payable recognized upon paymentsif callateral against the fair value amounts rezaghfor derivative instruments that have
also been offset under such master netting agresmen
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value ia tonsolidated balance sheets are categorized bpsedhe level of judgment associated
with the inputs used to measure their fair valbiéerarchical levels are directly related to the amtoof subjectivity associated with the input
fair valuation of these assets and liabilities. &Ve required to separately disclose assets dititiess measured at fair value on a recurring
basis, from those measured at fair value on a amiag basis. Nonfinancial assets measured avédile on a nonrecurring basis are
intangible assets and goodwill, which are reviefeedmpairment annually in the fourth quarter andiden circumstances or other events
indicate that impairment may have occurred. Deite@mg which hierarchical level an asset or liaifialls within requires significant
judgment. The following table summarizes the asaetl liabilities measured at fair value in thesmidated balance shee

Quoted Prices in Significant

Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs

Balance at December 31, 2014 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Assets ($ in millions)

Interest rate swaps $ — 3 3t % — $ B
Liabilities

Interest rate swaps — 4.t — 4.t

Commaodity forward contracts — 8.€ — 8.€
Balance at December 31, 2013
Assets

Interest rate swaps $ — 3 5¢ % — $ 5.¢

Commaodity forward contracts — 1.2 — 1.2
Liabilities

Interest rate swaps — 7.2 — 7.3

Earn out — — 26.7 26.7

For the year ended December 31, 2014 , there vweenansfers into or out of Level 1 and Level 2.
The following table summarizes the activity for @arn out liability measured at fair value usingéle3 inputs:
December 31,
2014 2013
($ in millions)
Beginning balance $ 26.7 $ 42.C
Settlements (26.7) (23.2)
Unrealized losses included in other income (expense — 7.¢

Ending balance $ — 26.7

Interest Rate Sway

The fair value of the interest rate swaps was ohatlin other assets and long-term debt as of Deee81h 2014 and 2013 . These
financial instruments were valued using the “incaperoach” valuation technique. This method usddation techniques to convert future
amounts to a single present amount. The measutemasrbased on the value indicated by current mai@ectations about those future
amounts. We use interest rate swaps as a meamanafging interest expense and floating interestagposure to optimal levels.
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Commodity Forward Contracts

The fair value of the commodity forward contracsvelassified in accrued liabilities as of Decenfier2014and other current assets
of December 31, 2013, with unrealized gains asdde included in accumulated other comprehenssse et of applicable taxes. These
financial instruments were valued primarily basaddces and other relevant information observablaarket transactions involving identical
or comparable assets or liabilities including bfmttward and spot prices for commodities. We userooadity forward contracts for certain raw
materials and energy costs such as copper, zext,ded natural gas to provide a measure of stabilimanaging our exposure to price
fluctuations.

Foreign Currency Contract

We had no fair value of foreign currency contraof December 31, 2014 and 2013 . We enter amward sales and purchase
contracts to manage currency risk resulting fromcpase and sale commitments denominated in fomigencies (principally Canadian dollar
and Australian dollar).
Financial Instrument:

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalesstricted cash, accounts receivable and accounsbleaapproximated fair values due
to the short-term maturities of these instrumenite fair value of our long-term debt was determibaded on current market rates for debt of

similar risk and maturities. The following tablensmarizes the fair value measurements of debttenddtual debt recorded on our balance
sheets:

Fair Value Measurements

Amount recorded

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total on balance sheets

($ in millions)
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ — $ 531¢ $ 153.C $ 684¢ $ 675.1
Balance at December 31, 2013 — 561. 153.( 714.¢ 691.(

Earn Out

On February 11, 2011 we acquired PolyOne’s 50%eéstan SunBelt. With this acquisition, we agreedtthree-year earn out, which
had no guaranteed minimum or maximum, based opdtfermance of SunBelt. The fair value of the eawrhwas estimated using a
probabilityweighted discounted cash flow model. This faiueaineasurement was based on significant inputsbssrved in the market. K
assumptions in determining the fair value of theneaut included the discount rate and cash flowgations. The final earn out payment was
made in 2014.

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2019aiae$26.7 million and $23.2 million , respectiyeior the earn out related to the
2013 and 2012 SunBelt performance. The earn ouhpats for 2014 and 2013 included $14.8 million &bd.1 million , respectively, that
were recognized as part of the original purchase pihe $14.8 million and $17.1 million are inohadas a financing activity in the statement
of cash flows.

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measuremer
In addition to assets and liabilities that are rded at fair value on a recurring basis, we reesgkts and liabilities at fair value on a

nonrecurring basis as required by ASC 820. Themewo assets measured at fair value on a nonireglasis as of December 31, 2014 and
2013.
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OTHER FINANCIAL DATA
Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

(% in millions, except per share data)

First Second Third Fourth

2014 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
Sales $ 577.¢ % 570.. $ 593.¢ $ 499.¢ $ 2,241.;
Cost of goods sold 475.¢ 463.¢ 4922 421.¢ 1,853.:
Income from continuing operations 29.k 36.€ 26.1 12.¢ 105.(
Income from discontinued operations, net — 0.7 — — 0.7
Net income 29t 37.c 26.1 12.¢ 105.7
Basic income per common share:

Income from continuing operations 0.37 0.4¢ 0.3: 0.1¢€ 1.3:2

Income from discontinued operations, net — 0.01 — — 0.01

Net income 0.37 0.47 0.3¢ 0.1¢ 1.3¢
Diluted income per common share:

Income from continuing operations 0.37 0.4¢ 0.3¢ 0.1€ 1.32

Income from discontinued operations, net — 0.01 — — 0.01

Net income 0.37 0.47 0.3¢ 0.1¢ 1.3
Common dividends per share 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.8C
Market price of common stoc¢k

High 29.1¢ 29.2¢ 28.0¢ 25.97 29.2¢

Low 24.5] 26.4: 25.2¢ 20.4: 20.4:

First Second Third Fourth

2013 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
Sales $ 630.C $ 652.2 $ 670.7 $ 562.1 $ 2,515.(
Cost of goods sold 504.¢ 531.1 528.t 469.7 2,033.°
Net income 40.5 43.7 69.7 247 178.¢
Net income per common share:

Basic 0.5C 0.5¢ 0.87 0.31 2.2¢

Diluted 0.5C 0.5¢ 0.8¢ 0.31 2.21
Common dividends per share 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.8C
Market price of common stodk

High 25.4; 26.0¢ 25.1% 29.52 29.5:

Low 21.2¢ 22.7¢ 22.5( 21.7¢ 21.2¢

(1) NYSE composite transactiol

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTA NTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Our chief executive officer and our chief finanaifficer evaluated the effectiveness of our disatescontrols and procedures as of
December 31, 2014 . Based on that evaluation¢loef executive officer and chief financial offideave concluded that, as of such date, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effectivensure that information Olin is required to disé in the reports that it files or submits v
the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 183ddorded, processed, summarized and reportethwlhih time periods specified in the
Commission’s rules and forms, and to ensure tHatrimation required to be disclosed in such repisreeccumulated and communicated to our
management, including our chief executive officed ahief financial officer, as appropriate to alltmely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

103




There have been no changes in our internal coowel financial reporting that occurred during theder ended December 31, 2Qh4i
have materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, our internal control overdimcial reporting.

Management’s report on internal control over finahgeporting and the related report of Ofinhdependent registered public accoun
firm, KPMG LLP, are included in Item 8—"Consoliddt&inancial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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PART IlI
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We incorporate the biographical information relgtio our Directors under the heading ITEM 1—*PROPQFOR THE ELECTION
OF DIRECTORS” in our Proxy Statement relating to 2015 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the “Protgt&@nent”) by reference in this
Report. See also the list of executive officetofoing Item 4 in Part | of this Report. We incormate the information regarding compliance
with Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act@84, as amended, under the heading entitled “SENTI&(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP
REPORTING COMPLIANCE" under the heading “SECURITYMDIERSHIP OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS” in our Proxatment by
reference in this Report.

The information with respect to our audit committeeluding the audit committee financial expestiricorporated by reference in this
Report to the information contained in the paragraptitled “What Are The Committees Of The BoardAtler the heading “CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE MATTERS” in our Proxy Statement. Weadnporate by reference in this Report informatiogareling procedures for
shareholders to nominate a director for electiothé Proxy Statement under the headings “MISCELEENJS—How can | directly nominate
a director for election to the board at the 20118umh meeting?” and “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS—i#ls Olin’s Director
Nomination Proces’.

We have adopted a code of business conduct anzs dtiidirectors, officers and employees, knowthasCode of Conduct. The Code
of Conduct is available in the About Olin, Ethiex8on of our website at www.olin.com. Olin intertdssatisfy disclosure requirements under
Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment tayaiver from, any provision of the Code of Condwith respect to its executive officers
or directors by posting such amendment or waivetowebsite.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information in the Proxy Statement under thedirg “Compensation Committee Interlocks and InsiRrticipation,” on page 17
and the information on pages 23 through 65, (beggwith the information under the heading “COMPENJION DISCUSSION AND
ANALYISIS” through the information under the heagitCOMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT,”) are incorpordtey reference in this
Report.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

We incorporate the information concerning holdingsur common stock by certain beneficial ownenstamed under the heading
“CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS” in our Proxy Statemerand the information concerning beneficial owngrshfiour common stock by
our directors and officers under the heading “SECYROWNERSHIP OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS” in our RyoStatement by
reference in this Report.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

(@) (b) (©)
Number of securities
Number of securities remaining
to be issued upon Weighted-average available for future
exercise of exercise issuance under equity
outstanding options, price of outstanding compensation plans
warrants options, warrants excluding securities
Plan Category and rights® and rights reflected in column (aj*
Equity compensation plans approved by sect
holders?® 5,055,05 @ § 20.1z @ 3,798,52.
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders N/A N/A N/A
Total 5,055,05. $ 20.12 @ 3,798,52.

(1) Number of shares is subject to adjustment for cearirg capitalization for stock splits and stockidiinds and similar even

(2) Consists of the 2000 Long Term Incentive Ptha,2003 Long Term Incentive Plan, the 2006 Loag Incentive Plan, the 2009 Long
Term Incentive Plan, the 2014 Long Term IncentilanRand the 1997 Stock Plan for Non-employee Damsct Does not include
information about the equity compensation plaretish the table below, which has expired. No aolditl awards may be granted under
this expired plan. As of December 31, 2014:

Number of securities Weighted
issuable under average Weighted average
Plan Name Expiration date outstanding options exercise price remaining term
1996 Stock Option Plan for Key Employees of 1/25/2006 31,602 $ 23.7¢ 1.1 years

Olin Corporation and Subsidiaries
(3) Includes

e 4,102,151 shares issuable upon exercise ofroptidgth a weighted average exercise price of $2@&a& a weighted average
remaining term of 5.6 years,

e 79,100 shares issuable under restricted stoclguamits, with a weighted average remaining term.®fygars

e 421,500 shares issuable in connection with antihg performance share awards, with a weightedage term of 1.0 years
remaining in the performance measurement periadl, an

e 452,303 shares under the 1997 Stock Plan foréioployee Directors which represent stock grantsetainers, other board and
committee fees, and dividends on deferred stoclewutia: plan.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSAC TIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

We incorporate the information under the headiriRsview, Approval or Ratification of TransactiongiwiRelated Persons,” “Related
Person Transactions Since the Beginning of 2014™&vhich Board Members Are Independent?” in oun@rBtatement by reference in this
Report.
Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

We incorporate the information concerning the aotiog fees and services of our independent regdtpublic accounting firm, KPMG

LLP under the heading ITEM 4—‘PROPOSAL TO RATIFY R@INTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNT
FIRM” in our Proxy Statement by reference in thisp@rt.
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PART IV
Item 15. EXHIBITS; CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMEN T SCHEDULES
(a) 1. Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated financial statements of the registaaatincluded in Item 8 above.
2. Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules not included herein are omitted becdgsedre inapplicable or not required or becausedfeired information is
given in the consolidated financial statementsraotés thereto.

Separate consolidated financial statements of 0% 6r less owned subsidiaries accounted for by thugty method are not
summarized herein and have been omitted becaude aggregate, they would not constitute a sigaifi subsidiary.
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3. Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index immediately prior to the dxtsi which is hereby incorporated by referencee fidllowing exhibits, listed
on the Exhibit Index, are filed with this Annual gRet on Form 10-K:

Exhibit No. Description

10(k) Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Plan for&pployee Directors codified to reflect amendmentspéed through Decemh
2, 2014, effective January 1, 2015

10(u) Performance Share Program codified to refleaeendments through January 23, 2015

11 Computation of Per Share Earnings (includetiénNote—“Earnings Per Share” to Notes to Constdii&inancial Statements
in Item 8)

12 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Clear@Jnaudited)

21 List of Subsidiaries

23 Consent of KPMG LLP

31.1 Section 302 Certification Statement of CEieécutive Officer

31.2 Section 302 Certification Statement of CFigfancial Officer

32 Section 906 Certification Statement of Chieéé&ixtive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation LinldgaDocument

101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linklea®ocument

101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Daotent

101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation LadébDocument

Any exhibit is available from the Company by wrgito: Mr. George H. Pain, Senior Vice Presidenth&al Counsel and Secretary,
Olin Corporation, 190 Carondelet Plaza, Suite 1%38yton, MO 63105-3443.

Shareholders may obtain information from Wells BaBfpareowner Services, our registrar and trangfemtawho also manages our
Dividend Reinvestment Plan by writing to: Wellsg@ Shareowner Services, PO Box 64874, St. Paul 58IN64-0854, by telephone at (800)
468-9716 or via the Internet at www.shareowner@ntiom, click on “contact us”.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduaty authorized.

Date: February 25, 2015

OLIN CORPORATION
By: /s/ Joseph D. Rupp
Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed béelpthe following persons on ber
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ie indicated.
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Signature Title Date

/sl JOSEPH D. RUPP Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Direcfrifcipal Executive February 25, 2015
Officer)
Joseph D. Rupp

/sl GRAY G. BENOIST Director February 25, 2015

Gray G. Benoist

/s/ DONALD W. BOGUS Director February 25, 2015

Donald W. Bogus

/s/  C. ROBERT BUNCH Director February 25, 2015

C. Robert Bunch

/sl RANDALL W. LARRIMORE Director February 25, 2015

Randall W. Larrimore

/sl JOHN M. B. O'CONNOR Director February 25, 2015

John M. B. O’Connor

/sl RICHARD M. ROMPALA Director February 25, 2015

Richard M. Rompala

/sl PHILIP J. SCHULZ Director February 25, 2015
Philip J. Schulz
/s/ VINCENT J. SMITH Director February 25, 2015

Vincent J. Smith

/s/  TODD A. SLATER Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Prirdifinancial Officer) February 25, 2015

Todd A. Slater

/s RANDEE N. SUMNER Vice President and Controller (Principal Accountidfficer) February 25, 2015

Randee N. Sumner
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Management contracts and compensatory plans aadgaments are listed as Exhibits 10(a) through)li¥ow.
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(p)

(a)
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(s)

Olin’s Amended and Restated Articles of Inavgtion as amended effective May 2, 2011—Exhititt8.Olin’s Form 8-
K dated May 3, 2011.*

Bylaws of Olin as amended effective Decenthe2010—Exhibit 3.1 to Olin’'s Form 8-K dated Dedeer 10, 2010.*

Indenture between Olin and JPMorgan Chase Béu#k dated as of June 26, 2006—Exhibit 4.1 t;®lForm 8-K dated
June 26, 2006.*

6.75% Senior Note Due 2016—Exhibit 4.1 {m® Form 8-K dated July 28, 2006.*

First Supplemental Indenture between Olin dAorgan Chase Bank, N.A. dated July 28, 2006—HixiB to Olin’s
Form 8-K dated July 28, 2006.*

Registration Rights Agreement among Olin, Bah&merica Securities LLC, Citigroup Global Markdhc. and
Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC dated July 28, 2006¢hiBit 4.3 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated July 28, 2006.*

Indenture dated as of August 19, 2009, betv@enCorporation and The Bank of New York Mellonist Company—
Exhibit 4.1 to Olin’'s Form 8-K dated August 19, 200

First Supplemental Indenture dated as of Aud9s 2009, between Olin Corporation and The Bankew York Mellon
Trust Company—Exhibit 4.2 to Olin’s Form 8-K datédgust 19, 2009.*

Form of 8.875% Senior Note due 2019—Exhb# to Olin's Form 8-K dated August 19, 2009.*

Trust Indenture effective October 1, 2010 lesw The Industrial Development Authority of WashdmgCounty and U. S.
Bank, National Association, as trustee—Exhibit #.Olin’'s Form 8-K dated October 20, 2010.*

Loan Agreement effective October 1, 2010 between Rdustrial Development Authority of Washingtonudity and Olir
Corporation—Exhibit 4.2 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated t@lser 20, 2010.*

Bond Purchase Agreement dated October 14, BétWeen The Industrial Development Authority ofdhimgton County,
Olin Corporation and PNC Bank National Associatias.administrative agent—Exhibit 4.3 to Olin’s FOBAK dated
October 20, 2010.*

Trust Indenture effective December 1, 201Qveetn the Mississippi Business Finance Corporatimhld S. Bank,
National Association, as trustee—Exhibit 4.1 tonGliForm 8-K dated December 10, 2010.*

Loan Agreement effective December 1, 2010 leetwvthe Mississippi Business Finance Corporatioh@im
Corporation—Exhibit 4.2 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated ¢@enber 10, 2010.*

Bond Purchase Agreement dated December 9, B&tWkeen the Mississippi Business Finance Corpora®lin
Corporation and PNC Bank National Association,@gmiaistrative agent—Exhibit 4.3 to Olin’s Form 8efted
December 10, 2010.*

Amended and Restated Credit and Funding Agea¢tated December 9, 2010 between Olin Corporai®ivorrower;
PNC Bank National Association, as administrativeragPNC Capital Markets, LLC, as lead arranged; the Lenders
party thereto—Exhibit 4.4 to Olin’s Form 8-K datBécember 10, 2010.*

First Amendment dated December 27, 2010 t&Athended and Restated Credit and Funding Agreedatatl December
9, 2010 between Olin Corporation, as borrower; @k National Association, as administrative agBNC Capital
Markets, LLC, as lead arranger; and the Lenderty plaereto—Exhibit 4.4 to Olin’'s Form 8-K dated @ecber 29, 2010.*

Trust Indenture effective December 27, 201ifwvben the Industrial Development Board of the CpwitBradley and the
City of Cleveland, TN and U. S. Bank, National Asistion, as trustee—Exhibit 4.1 to Olin’'s Form 8dkted December
29, 2010.*

Loan Agreement effective December 27, 201@vbeh the Industrial Development Board of the Cowfitiradley and the
City of Cleveland, Tennessee and Olin Corporatiomnhifit 4.2 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated December 291a0

Bond Purchase Agreement dated December 21 Bétiveen the Industrial Development Board of tber@y of Bradley
and the City of Cleveland, Tennessee, Olin Corpamaind PNC Bank National Association, as admiaiste agent—
Exhibit 4.3 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated December 2012.*

Forward Purchase Agreement dated April 272281and among Olin Corporation, the Lenders (disee therein), and
PNC Bank, National Association, as administratigerd for the Lenders under the Funding Agreementhitiix4.1 to
Olin’'s Form 8-K dated May 3, 2012.*
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Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Rgradid Credit Agreement dated April 27, 2012 amOtig
Corporation, the Lenders, and PNC Bank, Nationalo&gtion, as administrative agent for the Lenddeghibit 4.2 to
Olin’'s Form 8-K dated May 3, 2012.*

Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of #8012 between Olin Corporation, The Bank ofvN&rk Mellon
Trust Company, N.A. and U. S. Bank National Asstaie—Exhibit 4.1 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated AugustZ)12.*
Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of Atig2s 2012 between Olin Corporation and U. S. Bsaakonal
Association—Exhibit 4.1 to Olin’'s Form 8-K dated gust 22, 2012.*

Form of 5.50% Senior Notes due 2022—Exhikt to Olin’'s Form 8-K dated August 22, 2012.*

Amended and Restated Forward Purchase Agreatiaged June 23, 2014 by and among Olin CorporatienLenders (as
defined therein), and PNC Bank, National Associgtas administrative agent for the Lenders undeiFimding
Agreement—Exhibit 4.1 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated Ju%e 2014.*

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Fundimd Credit Agreement dated June 23, 2014 amoing3@kporation,
the Lenders, and PNC Bank, National Associatiorgdsinistrative agent for the Lenders—Exhibit 4Zin’s Form 8K
dated June 25, 2014.*

We are party to a number of other instruments dejithe rights of holders of long-term debt. Nolsiutstrument
authorizes an amount of securities in excess of @Dffe total assets of Olin and its subsidiariega@onsolidated basis.
Olin agrees to furnish a copy of each instrumenhéoCommission upon request.

Employee Deferral Plan as amended and restéfiective as of January 30, 2003 and as amendectigE January 1,
2005—Exhibit 10(b) to Olin’s Form 10-K for 2002 akahibit 10(b)(1) to Olin’'s Form 10-K for 2005, gectively.*

Olin Senior Executive Pension Plan amendedrasihted effective October 24, 2008—Exhibit 10.Dtin’s Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended September 30, 2008.*

Olin Supplemental Contributing Employee Owhégrlan as amended and restated effective Ocfhet008 and as
amended effective February 19, 2009—Exhibit 10.Qlia’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septemi®e”2808 and
Exhibit 10.1 to Olin's Form 10-Q for the quarterded March 31, 2009, respectively.*

Olin Corporation Key Executive Life InsucnProgram—Exhibit 10(e) to Olin’'s Form 10-K for(20*

Form of amendment to executive agreement letv@in and Messrs. Curley and Fischer dated Noee@p2007—
Exhibit 10(g) to Olin’'s Form 10-K for 2007.*

Form of amendment to executive agreement betv@lin and G. Bruce Greer, Jr. dated Novembef072-Exhibit 10(i)
to Olin’s Form 10-K for 2007.*

Form of executive agreement between Olin aeddvs. Rupp, Mcintosh and Pain dated NovemberQr,-2&xhibit 10.1
to Olin’'s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septendfer2007.*

Form of amendment dated October 25, 2010 ¢oweive agreements with Messrs. Curley, FischezeGMclntosh, Pain
and Rupp—Exhibit 10.1 to Olin’'s Form 10-K for 2010.

Form of executive change in control agreenimttveen Olin and Messrs. Rupp, Curley, Fischernidsh and Pain dated
January 29, 2014—Exhibit 10.1 to Olin’s Form 8-KeathJanuary 30, 2014.*

Form of executive change in control agreenmmttveen Olin and Ms. Ennico and Messrs. ChirumhbBiegr, OKeefe anc
Slater dated January 29, 2014—Exhibit 10(l) to ®lForm 10-K for 2013.*

Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Plan for Nopleyee Directors codified to reflect amendmentspaeld through
December 2, 2014, effective January 1, 2015.

Amended and Restated Olin Senior Managemaaritive Compensation Plan, as amended and resffiéetive April 22,
2010—Appendix B to Olin’s Proxy Statement dated dfat0, 2010.*

Description of Restricted Stock Unit Awardsugied under the 2000, 2003, 2006 or 2009 Long Tecentive Plans—
Exhibit 10(p) to Olin’s Form 10-K for 2008.*

1996 Stock Option Plan for Key Employees ah@orporation and Subsidiaries as amended ashofdwa 30, 2003—
Exhibit 10(l) to Olin’s Form 10-K for 2002.*

Olin Supplementary and Deferral Benefit Pendttan as amended and restated effective Octoh@0B8—Exhibit 10.2
to Olin’'s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septendfer2008.*

Olin Corporation 2000 Long Term Incentive Pnamended and restated effective January 24;-28%Hibit 10(r) to
Olin’s Form 10-K for 2013.*

Olin Corporation 2003 Long Term Incentive Ptnamended and restated effective January 24;-28%Hibit 10(s) to
Olin’s Form 10-K for 2013.*

Olin Corporation 2006 Long Term Incentive PEsamended and restated effective January 24,-28%Hibit 10(t) to
Olin’s Form 10-K for 2013.*
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Olin Corporation 2009 Long Term Incentive Péanamended and restated effective January 242B%Hibit 10(u) to
Olin’s Form 10-K for 2013.*

Olin Corporation 2014 Long Term Incentive Pffective January 24, 2014—Exhibit 10.1 to OliRerm 8-K filed April
25, 2014.*

Performance Share Program codified to cefienendments through January 23, 2015.

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Award i@iicate—Exhibit 10(bb) to Olin’'s Form 10-K for 27 .*

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Cedte—EXxhibit 10(cc) to Form 10-K for 2007.*

Form of Performance Award and Senior Penfonce Award Certificates—Exhibit 10(dd) to Olin’srfh 10-K for 2007.*
Summary of Stock Option Continuation Polielxhibit 10.2 to Olin’s Form 10-Q for the quarterded March 31, 2009.*

Olin Corporation Contributing Employee OwnepsRlan Amended and Restated effective as of Deee®ib, 2009—
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Exhibit 10(k

OLIN CORPORATION
AMENDED AND RESTATED
1997 STOCK PLAN FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS
(Codified to reflect amendments adopted throughebdaer 2, 2014, effective January 1, 2015)

1. Purpose. The purpose of the Olin Corporati@®/ Stock Plan for Non-employee Directors (thafP) is tc
promote the long-term growth and financial suca#s3lin Corporation by attracting and retaining remployee
directors of outstanding ability and by promotingraater identity of interest between its remployee directors and
shareholders.

2. Definitions. The following capitalized termaslized herein have the following meanings:
“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company

“Cash Account” means an account established uhaePan for a Non-employee Director to which cas
meeting fees, Board Chairman fees, Lead Directs,f€ommittee Chair fees and retainers, or otheuats
under the Plan, have been or are to be creditdeiform of cash.

“Change in Control” means the occurrence of angheffollowing events:

(@) any person or Group acquires ownership of ©$tock that, together with stock held by such
person or Group, constitutes more than 50% ofdte fair market value or total voting power of 04§ stock,
(including an increase in the percentage of staakenl by any person or Group as a result of a trdioseain
which Olin acquires its stock in exchange for progerovided that the acquisition of additionalakt by any
person or Group deemed to own more than 50% dbthéfair market value or total voting power ofi®s$
stock on January 1, 2005, shall not constitute @ga in Control); or

(b) any person or Group acquires (or has acquitging the 12-month period ending on the datidef
most recent acquisition by such person or Groupjesship of Olin stock possessing 30% or more otaked
voting power of Olin stock; or

(c) amajority of the members of Olin’s boarddafectors is replaced during any 12-month perigd b
directors whose appointment or election is not eselb by a majority of the members of Olin’s boatd o
directors prior to the date of the appointmentlect&on; or

(d) any person or Group acquires (or has acquitging the 12-month period ending on the datidef
most recent acquisition by such person or Grouggtagrom Olin that have a total Gross Fair Makkaite
equal to 40% or more of the total Gross Fair Makkate of all Olin assets immediately prior to such
acquisition or acquisitions, provided that theraasChange in Control when Olin’s assets are teared to:




(i) ashareholder of Olin (immediately before #sset transfer) in exchange for
or with respect to Olin stock;

(i) an entity, 50% or more of the total valuevoting power of which is owned,
directly or indirectly, by Olin;

(i) a person or Group that owns, directly ndirectly, 50% or more of the total
value or voting power of all outstanding Olin stpok

(iv) an entity, at least 50% of the total va@resoting power of which is owned,
directly or indirectly, by a person described imgmaaph (iii).

For purposes of this paragraph (d), a person’ssiatdetermined immediately after the transfehefassets.
For example, a transfer to a corporation in whidin @as no ownership interest before the transacbat whict
is a majority-owned subsidiary of Olin after thartsaction, is not a Change in Control.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 198&nm@nded from time to time, and any applicable
rules, regulations and/or other guidance thereurdezference to any provision of the Code shallude
reference to any successor provision of the Code.

“Committee” means the Compensation Committee éosuiccessor) of the Board.
“Common Stock” means the Company’s Common Stocl)Gpar value per share.
“Company” means Olin Corporation, a Virginia corgtbon, and any successor.

“Credit Date” means the second Thursday in Februday, August and November and one week after
the regularly scheduled board meeting in Decemben ¢he event the December board meeting extéards
more than one day, one week after the first deguoh regularly scheduled board meeting held in BDbes.

“Excess Retainer” means with respect to a Non-epgad®irector the amount of the full annual cash
retainer payable to such Non-employee Director ftione to time by the Company for service as a direin
excess of $35,000, if any; provided that in thené¥iee annual cash retainer is prorated to refteattsuch Non-
employee Director did not serve as such for thiechlendar year, the $35,000 shall be similarlyrgted.

“Fair Market Value’means, with respect to a date, on a per share, bagigespect to phantom share:
Common Stock or Spin-Off Company Common Stock atverage of the high and the low price of a share of
Common Stock or Spin-Off Company Common Stockhascase may be, as reported on the consolidated ta
of the New York Stock Exchange on such date dréfMlew York Stock Exchange is closed on such dage,
next succeeding date on which it is open.

“Gross Fair Market Value” means the value of asdetermined without regard to any liabilities
associated with such assets.




“Group” means persons acting together for the pgepad acquiring Olin stock and includes owners of ¢
corporation that enters into a merger, consoligafmrchase or acquisition of stock, or similaribess
transaction with Olin. If a person owns stock inh®lin and another corporation that enter intoeagaer,
consolidation purchase or acquisition of stocksionilar transaction, such person is considerectpast of a
Group only with respect to ownership prior to therger or other transaction giving rise to the cleazugd not
with respect to the ownership interest in the otleeporation. Persons will not be considered tadieng as a
Group solely because they purchase assets of tie @arporation at the same time, or as a restiteofame
public offering.

“Interest Rate” effective as of January 1, 2005ansethe rate of interest equal to the Federal Reser
A1/P1 Composite rate for 90 day commercial papes D basis points, or such other specified, non-
discretionary interest rate (or formula descritsngh rate) established by the Committee on a pctispebasis.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Adi9®4, as amended from time to time.

“Non-employee Director” means a member of the Baand is not an employee of the Company or an
subsidiary thereof.

“Olin Stock Account” means the Stock Account to @thphantom shares of Common Stock are credite
from time to time.

“Plan” means this Olin Corporation 1997 Stock HiamNon-employee Directors as amended from time
to time.

“Prior Plans” means the 1994 Plan and all of thgp@@tion’s other directors’ compensation plans,
programs, or arrangements which provided for ardedecash or stock account.

“Retirement Date” means the date the Non-employieecdr (i) ceases to be a member of the Board fc
any reason and (ii) effective as of January 1, 2885 experienced a “separation from service” astérm is
used in Code Section 409A.

“Spin-Off Company” means Arch Chemicals, Inc., ag¥ia corporation and any successor.

“Spin-Off Company Common Stock” means shares ofroomstock of the Spin-Off Company, par
value $1.00 per share.

“Spin-Off Company Stock Account” means the Stoclkcéunt to which phantom shares of Spin-Off
Company Common Stock are credited.

“Stock Account” means an account established utigePlan for a Non-employee Director to which
shares of Common Stock and Spin-Off Company Com8took have been or are to be credited in the fdrm o
phantom stock, which shall include the Olin Stoadcéunt and the Spin-Off Company Stock Account.




“Stock Grant Period” means the twelve-month pedothmencing May 1 of a calendar year, and endin
on April 30 of the immediately following calendagar.

3. Term. The Plan originally became effectiveutay 1, 1997, and was last amended and restdtadieé as
of April 22, 2010, and is now amended and restateset forth herein. Notwithstanding the foregothgse provisions
required for compliance with Code Section 409A kbalgenerally effective as of January 1, 2005sootherwise
specifically set forth herein.

4. Administration. Full power and authority tonstrue, interpret and administer the Plan shalldsted in the
Committee. Decisions of the Committee shall belfioanclusive and binding upon all parties.

5. Participation. All Non-employee Directors Blparticipate in the Plan.
6. Grants and Deferrals.

(@) Annual Stock Grant. Subject to the terms @mnttlitions of the Plan, on the second Credit [@ateh
year, each Noemployee Director shall be credited with a numbeshares of Common Stock with an aggre
Fair Market Value on such Credit Date equal to 8@6, rounded to the nearest 100 shares. To béedrttit
such credit in any year, a Non-employee Directostne serving as such on May 1 of such year; pealid
however, that in the event a person becomes a Ngegee Director subsequent to May 1 of a StocknGra
Period, such Non-employee Director, on the Creditehext following his or her becoming such, shall
credited with that number of shares of Common Semkal to one-twelfth of the number of shares idgaoe
each other Non-employee Director as the AnnualkS&rant for such Stock Grant Period, multipliedtbg
number of whole calendar months remaining in suckkSGrant Period following the date he or she beeoa
Non-employee Director (rounded up to the next wisblare in the event of a fractional share). Actaeéipt of
shares shall be deferred and each eligible Non-@yeplDirector shall receive a credit to his or@&n Stock
Account for such shares on the date of such craditon-employee Director may elect in accordance wi
Section 6(f) to defer to his or her Olin Stock Aanbreceipt of all or any portion of such shardsraguch Non-
employee Director’s Retirement Date. Except witkpect to any shares the director has so electeelféo,
certificates representing such shares shall bgateli to the Non-employee Director (or in the eddrdeath, to
his or her beneficiary designated pursuant to 8edfi)) on or as soon as practicable, but no kai@n thirty
(30) days, following such Non-employee DirectorstiRement Date.

(b) Annual Retainer Stock Grant. Subject totérens and conditions of the Plan, each Non-employe
Director who is such on May 1 of that year shadkeiee that number of shares (rounded up to thewbkate
share) of Common Stock having an aggregate Faikéafalue of $35,000 on the second Credit Dataighs
year. In the event a person becomes in a Stockt @exiod a Non-employee Director subsequent to Mapd
has not received the annual stock retainer for 81cbk Grant Period, such person, on the Credi¢ Dakt
following his or her becoming such, shall receivattnumber of shares of Common Stock equal to wedth
of the number of shares issued




to each other Noemployee Director as the Annual Retainer Stock Gi@rsuch Stock Grant Period, multipli
by the number of whole calendar months remaininguich Stock Grant Period following the date heher s
becomes a Non-employee Director (rounded up taéxé whole share in the event of a fractional sharee
annual cash retainer payable to the Non-employeecioir shall be payable on the second Credit Dia¢ach
year, and shall be reduced by the aggregate Fakd¥ialue of the shares the Non-employee Direxdoeives
or defers as the Annual Retainer Stock Grant (ekatpany rounding of fractional shares) on the dateh Fair
Market Value is calculated. A Non-employee Directay elect to defer receipt of all or any portidrsach
shares in accordance with Section 6(f). Except vatipect to any shares the director has so elexefer,
certificates representing such shares shall bgateli to such Non-employee Director (or in the ¢oémleath,
to his or her beneficiary designated pursuant ti&@e 6(i)) as soon as practicable, but no latantthirty (30)
days, following the applicable Credit Date.

(c) One-time Stock Grant. Subject to the ternt @nditions of the Plan, receipt of all share®lh
Stock credited under the one-time grants to ceNain-employee Directors that the Company made as of
January 15, 1997, shall be deferred. Such Non-grapl®irectors may elect in accordance with Sedidnto
defer receipt of all or any portion of such shacea date or dates following such Non-employee ddines
Retirement Date. Except with respect to any sheoeteferred, certificates representing such stsrasbe
delivered to such Non-employee Directors (or inglient of death, to his or her beneficiary desigthaursuant
to Section 6(i)) on or as soon as practicablenbuater than thirty (30) days, following his orliRetirement
Date.

(d) Payment of Meeting Fees, Chairman of ther@&&es, Lead Director Fees, Committee Chair Fee
and Excess Retainer and Election to Receive Fegtuk in Lieu of Cash. Cash payments of meetieg &hall
be made on the first Credit Date following the nregtiate, cash payments of Committee Chair feelsha
made on the second Credit Date of each year, asidpea/ments of Chairman of the Board fees and Lead
Director fees shall be made in four equal paymentthe first four Credit Dates of each year. Exaeifit
respect to any cash payments the director hasdléatdefer in accordance with Section 6(f), sugynpent sha
be delivered to the Non-employee Director on as@m as practicable, but no later than thirty (&)s,
following the applicable Credit Date. Subject te terms and conditions of the Plan, a Non-empl®@jiesctor
may elect to receive all or a portion of the dioggheeting fees, fees as Chairman of the Board,ded.ead
Director, fees as a Committee Chair and the ExResainer payable in cash by the Company for hiseor
service as a director for the calendar year irfah@ of shares of Common Stock. Such election dielinade it
accordance with Section 6(f). A Non-employee Divegtho so elects to receive all or a portion of Hxeess
Retainer or other fees in the form of shares fohstear shall be paid on the Credit Date on whiehdash
portion of the Excess Retainer or the other fege$ha@ case may be, would have been paid. The nunhisbares
(rounded up to the next whole share in the eveatfadctional share) payable to a Non-employeediorevho
S0 elects to receive the Excess Retainer or mefgt@yy Board Chairman fees, Lead Director feesooni@ittee
Chair fees in the form of shares shall be equiiecggregate Fair Market Value on the relevantiCEzate.
Except with respect to any shares the directoreleted to defer in accordance with Section 66ititicates




representing such shares shall be delivered thldimeemployee Director on or as soon as practicdlnieno
later than thirty (30) days, following the applitalCredit Date.

(e) Deferral of Meeting Fees, Chairman of theuBld~ees, Lead Director Fees, Committee Chair Fee
and Excess Retainer. Subject to the terms and ttomsliof the Plan, a Noemployee Director may elect to de
all or a portion of the shares payable under Se@&(d) and all or a portion of the director meetiegs, fees as
Chairman of the Board, fees as Lead Director, &ésegs Committee Chair and Excess Retainer payalskesim by
the Company for his or her service as a directottfe calendar year. Such election shall be madecgonrdance
with Section 6(f). A Non-employee Director who dketo so defer shall have any deferred sharesrdefer the
form of shares of Common Stock and any deferrel fess and retainer deferred in the form of cash.

() Elections.

(1)

Deferrals. Effective as of January 1, 2Qflbelections to defer payment of compensation

under this Plan shall:

be made in writing and delivered to the Secretdth® Compan

be irrevocable once the year to which the eleatatetes commence

be made before January 1 of the year in whielsttares of Common Stock or director’s fees
and retainer are to be earned (or, in the case ofdavidual who becomes a Non-employee
Director during a calendar year, within 30 dayshaf date of his or her election as a director
notwithstanding the foregoing no amounts earnear poi an election shall be deferred by r
participants), and

specify the portions (in 25% increments) to be def

(2) Stock and Cash Account Payments. Effectsvefalanuary 1, 2005, Stock and Cash
Accounts shall be paid in a single lump sum paymetitin 30 days of the Non-employee Director’s Ratient
Date unless the Non-employee Director makes ani@heas set forth below:

a payment election, if any, shall be made on ooteethe earlier o
o the time such individual makes any deferral electiader the Plan,

o the end of the 30 day period following the dateralividual first becomes a Non-

employee Director.
a payment election may specify a payment daitejiged such date is after the Non-employe
Director’'s Retirement Date.
a payment election may specify the method ofigayt (lump sum or annual installments (up
to 10)).




Notwithstanding any election, Plan payments wilhii@de (or annual installments will begin) upon axNo
employee Director’s death. All payments shall belengor each annual installment shall be paid) wig0 days
of the prescribed payment date, and any paymecti@beshall be irrevocable except as permitteddnti®n 6(f)
(4) below.

(3) Dividends and Interest on Stock and CasloAnts. Dividends and interest on Stock and
Cash Accounts shall be paid as provided in Se@&{f(B8) unless the Non-employee Director makeslacti®n
to have such amounts deferred and credited baitlietappropriate account (and shall be payableaardance
with Sections 6(f)(2) and (4) herein), providedttbach election is made within the time prescribgdection 6
(H(2) above.

(4) Change in Payment Election. Any change watpect to a Non-employee Director’s
payment election under the Plan will not be effexfor one year, must be made at least one (1)igesivance
of the first date payment is scheduled and mushéuardefer all payments by at least five (5) ydaos the prior
scheduled payment date. Notwithstanding the foregdor the transition period beginning Januar2dQ5 and
ending December 31, 2008, any Non-employee Dirgnty make a payment election in accordance witheCoc
Section 409A (and applicable IRS transition religf)the time and manner prescribed by the Comeiéted
subject to the following provisions. As of DecemBér 2008, any then effective transition paymeettbns
shall be irrevocable for the duration of a Non-emgpk Director’s participation in the Plan excepsessforth in
the first sentence of this Section 6(f)(4). No eatmade in 2008 under this transition relief vaifiply to
amounts that would otherwise be payable in 2008nray such election cause an amount to be pai@08 tha
would not otherwise be payable in 2008. No electinder this transition relief may be made retra@tyi, when
Plan payments are imminent, or after a Non-empld@jiesctor has left the Board.

(5) Olin Stock Account. On the Credit Date (othe case of a proration, on the first day of the
appropriate calendar month), a Non-employee Diregtm has elected to defer shares under Sectidn66
(e) shall receive a credit to his or her Olin Stéadcount. The amount of such credit shall be thelmer of
shares so deferred (rounded to the next whole sindéine event of a fractional share). A Non-emptoi®@rector
may elect to defer the cash dividends paid on higeo Stock Account in accordance with Section(8{f)

(6) Cash Account. On the Credit Date or in tagecof the Excess Retainer, on the day on w
the Non-employee Director is entitled to receivelskExcess Retainer, a Nemployee Director who has elec
to defer cash fees and/or the Excess Retainer @at#ion 6(e) in the form of cash shall receiveedlit to his o
her Cash Account. The amount of the credit shathbedollar amount of such Director’s meeting fdsard
Chairman fees, Lead Director fees or Committee ifeas earned during the immediately precedingtggr
period or the amount of the Excess Retainer todie for the calendar year, as the case may benasatch cas
specified for deferral in cash. A Non-employee Dioe may elect to defer interest paid on his or@ash
Account in accordance with Section 6(f)(3).




(7) Installment Payments. Installment paymerdmfan Account shall be equal to the Account
balance (expressed in shares in the case of tio& 8tttount, otherwise the cash value of the Accpanthe
time of the installment payment times a fractidre humerator of which is one and the denominatevhoth is
the number of installments not yet paid. Fractiatares to be paid in any installment shall be dedrup to the
next whole share. In the event of an election usation 6(d) for director meeting fees, Board @han fees,
Lead Director fees, Committee Chair fees or Ex&tsiner to be paid in shares of Common Stockelihetion
shall specify the portion (in 25% increments) tcsbepaid.

(8) Dividends and Interest. Each time a casiddivd is paid on Common Stock or Spin-Off
Company Common Stock, a Non-employee Director wasdihares of such stock credited to his or hekStoc
Account shall be paid on the dividend payment dath cash dividend in an amount equal to the praofuibe
number of shares credited to the Non-employee RirscOlin Stock Account or Spin-Off Company Stock
Account, as the case may be, on the record dasuttr dividend times the dividend paid per appleahare
unless the director has elected to defer suchedo his or her applicable Stock Account as plediherein.
If the Non-employee Director has elected to defiehsdividend, he or she shall receive a credistmh
dividends on the dividend payment date to his oGl Stock Account or Spin-Off Company Stock Aaag,
as the case may be. The amount of the dividendt teall be the number of shares (rounded to tlaeast one-
thousandth of a share) determined by multiplyirggdividend amount per share by the number of stwaesktec
to such director’s applicable Stock Account ashefitecord date for the dividend and dividing thedpict by the
Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock or &pihCompany Common Stock, as the case may be,&
dividend payment date. A Naamployee Director who has a Cash Account shalldie ipterest directly on suu
accounts balance at the end of each calendar quarterpjgagtaa rate equal to the Interest Rate in eftecsuct
guarter unless such Non-employee Director hasealdctdefer such interest to his or her Cash Acgaain
which case such interest shall be credited to &adh Account at the end of each calendar quarteanfounts
paid pursuant to this subsection (8) shall be paidr as soon as practicable, but no later thaty f80) days,
following the applicable payment date (i.e., thplegable dividend payment date or end date of idwaf
quarter).

(9) Payouts. Cash Accounts and the Spin-Off Gomwstock Account will be paid out in cash
and Olin Stock Accounts shall be paid out in shafgSommon Stock unless the Non-employee Diredexte
at the time the payment is due to take the OliclSfccount in cash.

(g) No Stock Rights. Except as expressly praviderein, the deferral of shares of Common Stock or
Spin-Off Company Common Stock into a Stock Accaldll confer no rights upon such Non-employee
Director, as a shareholder of the Company or ofSphi@-Off Company or otherwise, with respect toghares
held in such Stock Account, but shall confer ohly tight to receive such shares credited as and pwvided
herein.




(h) Change in Control. Notwithstanding anythtaghe contrary in this Plan or any election, ia th
event a Change in Control occurs, amounts and slkeagdited to Cash Accounts (including interestwed to
the date of payout) and Stock Accounts shall benptly (but no later than thirty (30) days followitige Chang
in Control) distributed to Non-employee Directoxeept the Olin Stock Account shall be paid outasitand
not in the form of shares of Common Stock. For thigoose, the cash value of the amount in the Sdacklunt
shall be determined by multiplying the number adrgls held in the Olin Stock Account or the Spin-Off
Company Stock Account by the higher of (i) the leigihFair Market Value of Common Stock or Spin-Off
Company Common Stock, as appropriate, on any d#étéwhe period commencing thirty (30) days ptior
such Change in Control and ending on the dateso€tange in Control, or (ii) if the Change in Cohticcurs
as a result of a tender or exchange offer or congafion of a corporate transaction, then the higpesé paid
per share of Common Stock or Spin-Off Company Com®imck, as appropriate, pursuant thereto.

() Beneficiaries. A Non-employee Director mags@ynate at any time and from time to time a
beneficiary for his or her Stock and Cash Accoumtbe event his or her Stock or Cash Account meapdid
out following his or her death. Such designatioalldbe in writing and must be received by the Conmyparior
to the death to be effective.

() Prior Plan Accounts. Any transfers made ©ash Account or a Stock Account from Prior Plans
shall be maintained and administered pursuantadethms and conditions of this Plan; provided padr annua
100- or 204-share grant deferrals shall be treasedeferrals of 204-share grants under this Pten$25,000
annual share grant under the 1994 Plan shall beettexs deferrals under Paragraph 6(b) hereof efiedrdls of
meeting fees under all Prior Plans and of the EsxBegainer under the 1994 Plan shall be treateléfasrals
under Paragraph 6(d) hereof. Prior elections anéfi@ary designations under the 1994 Plan andRlds shall
govern this Plan unless changed subsequent to €c20ld997.

(k) Stock Account Transfers. A Non-employee Dioe may elect from time to time to transfer alleor
portion (in 25% increments) of his or her Spin-Ofimpany Stock Account to his or her Olin Stock Agto
The amount of phantom shares of Common Stock todadited to a Non-employee Director’s Olin Stock
Account shall be equal to the number of sharesoofit@on Stock that could be purchased if the number o
phantom shares of Spin-Off Company Common Stod¢ksror her Spin-Off Company Stock Account being
transferred were sold and the proceeds reinvest€dmmon Stock based on the Fair Market Value ofiea
Except as provided in Section 6(f)(8) with resgeatividends or in Section 8, no additional conitibns or
additions may be made to a Non-employee Direct®pisn-Off Company Stock Account after the Distrilouti
Date.

7. Limitations and Conditions.

(@) Total Number of Shares. The total numbeshaires of Common Stock that may be issued to Non
employee Directors under the Plan is 850,000, winaly be increased or decreased by the eventsretrfo
Section 8. Such total number of shares




may consist, in whole or in part, of authorized buissued shares. If any shares granted undePlgnmsare not
delivered to a Non-employee Director or a benefictzecause the payout of the grant is settled $h,csuch
shares shall not be deemed to have been delivergaifposes of determining the maximum number afesh
available for delivery under the Plan. No fractibstaares shall be issued hereunder. In the evidoha
employee Director is entitled to a fractional shateh share amount shall be rounded upward togkiewhole
share amount.

(b) No Additional Rights. Nothing contained harshall be deemed to create a right in any Non-
employee Director to remain a member of the Boarthe nominated for reelection or to be reelectesuzh or,
after ceasing to be such a member, to receive asty @r shares of Common Stock under the Plan vaneinot
already credited to his or her accounts.

8. Stock Adjustments. In the event of any mergensolidation, stock or other non-cash dividend,
extraordinary cash dividend, split-up, spin-offirdmnation or exchange of shares or recapitalizatiochange in
capitalization, or any other similar corporate gyéme Committee shall make such adjustments ith@)aggregate
number of shares of Common Stock that may be issoddr the Plan as set forth in Section 7(a) aadittimber of
shares that may be issued to a Non-employee Diredtio respect to any year as set forth in Seddi@) and the
number of shares of Olin Common Stock or Spin-Gifrpany Common Stock, as the case may be, hel&iack
Account, (ii) the class of shares that may be dsueler the Plan, and (iii) the amount and typpayiment that may be
made in respect of unpaid dividends on shares ioFSff Company Common Stock or Common Stock wheseipt
has been deferred pursuant to Section 6(f), a€dnemittee shall deem appropriate in the circum&anthe
determination by the Committee as to the termagfdd the foregoing adjustments shall be final,dosive and
binding for all purposes of the Plan.

9. Amendment and Termination. This Plan mayrberaled, suspended or terminated by action of tlaed3o
except to the extent that amendments are requirbd aipproved by the Company’s shareholders ungdicable law
or the rules of the New York Stock Exchange or atiyer exchange or market system on which the Contatock is
listed or traded. No termination of the Plan shdNersely affect the rights of any Non-employeesEtior with respect
to any amounts otherwise payable or credited tohiger Cash Account or Stock Account.

10. Nonassignability. No right to receive anypants under the Plan or any amounts credited\tora
employee Director’s Cash or Stock Account shalaggignable or transferable by such Non-employeeckir other
than by will or the laws of descent and distribotar pursuant to a domestic relations order. Thsggaation of a
beneficiary under Section 6(i) by a Non-employegeBtior does not constitute a transfer.

11. Unsecured Obligation. Benefits payable unlisrPlan shall be an unsecured obligation ofGbmpany.
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12. Rule 16b-3 Compliance. It is the intentidthe Company that all transactions under the Beaaxempt
from liability imposed by Section 16(b) of the Exrlge Act. Therefore, if any transaction under tlaa B found not t
be in compliance with an exemption from such Secti6(b), the provision of the Plan governing suangaction shall
be deemed amended so that the transaction doesmgdycand is so exempt, to the extent permittethlayand deemed
advisable by the Committee, and in all events tha Bhall be construed in favor of its meetingréguirements of an
exemption. Scheduled Plan payments will be delayeele the Committee reasonably anticipates thatiddeng of the
payment will violate Federal securities laws orestapplicable law; provided that such payment dbmknade at the
earliest date at which the Committee reasonabigipates that the making of the payment will naismsuch violatiol

13. Code Section 409A Compliance. To the exaegtprovision of the Plan or action by the Board or
Committee would subject any Non-employee Direaddiability for interest or additional taxes und@ode Section
409A, it will be deemed null and void, to the exttparmitted by law and deemed advisable by the Citieen It is
intended that the Plan will comply with Code Set#®9A, and the Plan shall be interpreted and coedton a basis
consistent with such intent. The Plan may be anmé&ndany respect deemed necessary (including tvedy) by the
Committee in order to preserve compliance with C8detion 409A. If, regardless of the foregoing, Alon-employee
Director is liable for interest or additional tax@sder Code Section 409A with respect to his orAwount (or a
portion thereof), such Account (or applicable pmtthereof) shall be paid at such time. The prexedhall not be
construed as a guarantee of any particular taxteibe any benefits or amounts deferred or paidumdter the Plan.
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Exhibit 10(u
OLIN CORPORATION
PERFORMANCE SHARE PROGRAM
(Codified to reflect amendments through January2P35)

1. Terms and Conditions

The terms and conditions of the Performance Sharards granted under this Program are containeukin t
Performance Share Certificate evidencing such Awtard Program and the LTIP.

2. Definitions
“Common Stock” means the common stock of Olin,\y@ue $1.00 per share.
“Final Share Number” has the meaning specifieddoti®n 3 of this Program.

“LTIP” means the Olin Corporation benefit plan un@dich the relevant Performance Share Award istgd
including the 2003 Long Term Incentive Plan, th@@Qong Term Incentive Plan and any successor airplan.

“Olin” means Olin Corporation.

“Performance Cycle” means, with respect to a Parémrce Share Award, a period of three calendar years
beginning with the calendar year in which such é&tenince Share Award is granted.

“Performance Share Award” shall mean grants of fh*arance Shares” and “Senior Performance Shares.”

“Performance Share” and “Senior Performance Shaesin a unit granted under the LTIP and this Program
maintained on the books of the Company during gréoPmance Cycle, denominated as one phantom sh&emmor
Stock, and paid in cash or Common Stock in accaelarnth this Program.

“Program” means this Performance Share Program.

“S&P ROC” shall mean the average annual returnagital (calculated in the same manner as Olin’siRedn
Capital) of a group composed of the Standard & Bdd00 Materials companies plus Occidental Peatirale
Corporation; Axiall Corporation; The Dow Chemicabi@pany and Westlake Chemical Corporation, brokerbpu
quintiles.

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in thisgPam shall have the meaning specified in the LTIP.

3. Performance Share Awards

a. Awards of Senior Performance Shares (categbgnder this Program granted pursuant to the LTé&P a
intended to be “performance-based compensatiotiisigerm is used in Section 162(m) of the CodehEa
Performance Share Award shall establish a targabeuof Performance Shares or Senior Performance
Shares awarded to the Participant named in suchidhwa




b. The target number of Performance Shares fdr Badticipant shall be adjusted based upon a cosagpeof
Olin’s average annual Return on Capital duringRegformance Cycle with the S&P ROC during the
Performance Cycle, in accordance with the follonchgrt:

If Olin’s Return on Capital for a Performance The % of the target number of Performance

Cycle is in the: Shares paid will be:

highest Quintile of the S&P ROC 150%
2" Quintile of the S&P ROC 125%

3 Quintile of the S&P ROC 100%
4™ Quintile of the S&P ROC 50%
lowest Quintile of the S&P ROC 25%

c. The target number of Senior Performance SHaremsach Participant shall be adjusted based upon a
comparison of Olin’s average annual Return on @agditring the Performance Cycle with the S&P ROC
during the Performance Cycle, in accordance wighf¢ilowing chart:

If Olin’s Return on Capital for a Performance The % of the target number of Senior Performan

Cycle is in the: Shares paid will be:

A Shares B Shares
highest Quintile of the S&P ROC 150% 150%
2" Quintile of the S&P ROC 125% 125%
3™ Quintile of the S&P ROC 100.0% 100%
4™ Quintile of the S&P ROC 33.33% 100%
lowest Quintile of the S&P ROC 0% 100%

d. As soon as practicable in the calendar ye&viahg the end of the Performance Cycle, the Comisduall
calculate the appropriate adjustment, if any, etdrget number of Performance Shares and Senior
Performance Shares (the “Final Share Number”) fdPaticipants whose Performance Share Awards hav
vested during or at the end of such PerformancéeCyc




4. Vesting and Forfeiture

a. Except as otherwise provided by the Committe [ TIP, this Program or the Performance Sharerdwa
certificate, an interest in a Performance Sharerdwaall vest only if the Participant is an empleoyd the
Company or a subsidiary on the last day of theveglePerformance Cycle.

b. If a Participant’s employment with the Compamya subsidiary terminates for cause or without the
Company’s consent (other than as the result oPHrécipant’s death, disability or retirement) befa
Performance Share Award has vested, his or heoffgahce Share Award shall terminate and all rights
under such Award shall be forfeited.

c. If a Participant's employment with the Compamya subsidiary terminates as the result of hiseor
disability, (as that term is defined in Section AG¥ the Code or any successor provision), or eéatgnt
under any of the Company’s retirement plans beddPerformance Share Award has vested, the Participa
shall be entitled to a pro rata Performance Shavard, payable solely in cash at the time that the
Performance Share Award would otherwise be payaider Section 5. The cash payment shall be equal t
the Final Share Number calculated in accordande 8&ictions 3 and 5 of this Program, multiplied Hogy t
Fair Market Value on the last day of the relevaetfé&mance Cycle, multiplied by a fraction with a
numerator equal to the number of months duringPidormance Cycle the Participant was employedby t
Company or a subsidiary (rounded up to the neareste month) and a denominator of 36.

d. If a Participant's employment with the Compamya subsidiary terminates as the result of hiseordeath
before a Performance Share Award has vested, ttieipPant shall be entitled to a pro rata Perforoen
Share Award, payable solely in cash within nin@g)(days of the Participant’s death. The cash payme
shall be equal to the Participant’s target numlb&tesformance Shares or Senior Performance Shaesdke
case may be, multiplied by the Fair Market Valudlmndate of the Participant’s death (or the nexdihg
day, if the Common Stock was not traded on sucé)datultiplied by a fraction with a numerator eqtaal
the number of months during the Performance CyweParticipant was employed by the Company or a
subsidiary (rounded up to the nearest whole mamhb)a denominator of 36.

e. If a Participant’s employment with the Companya subsidiary terminates for any other reasan, th
Company shall determine the portion, if any, of Beformance Share Award that shall not be fordeiéad
the form of payment (cash or shares or a combinjgtiwat the Participant shall receive. That deteation
shall be made by the Committee in the case of &ioeg and by the Chairman of the Board, President
Chief Executive Officer, or any Vice Presidentthe case of any nooficer employee. Notwithstanding tl
Section 4, payment shall be made pursuant to $ebtio




5. Payment Timing

a. As soon as is administratively practicablerdfie determination of the Final Share Number, rmitlater
than the last day of the calendar year followirgyBerformance Cycle, the Company will (i) issuedoh
Participant a number of shares of the Common Stgcial to one-half of the Final Share Number, rodnde
down to the nearest whole share if such numbestismvhole number, and (ii) pay the Participanaarmoun
equal to the Fair Market Value of one-half of thedF Share Number of shares of Common Stock otettte
day of the Performance Cycle, rounded up to theaséavhole share if such number is not a whole rermb

b. No dividends or dividend equivalents shall be pmidany Performance Shares or Senior Performanaes
6. Reserved
7. Miscellaneous

a. By acceptance of the Performance Share Awauddh, Barticipant agrees that such Award is special
compensation, and that any amount paid will nctcff

i. the amount of any pension under any pensiaetement plan in which he or she participatearas
employee of Olin,

ii. the amount of coverage under any group liunance plan in which he or she participates as an
employee of Olin, or

iii. the benefits under any other benefit plan of amg kieretofore or hereafter in effect, under whigh t
availability or amount of benefits is related targmensation.

b. The Company will withhold from the distributioh any cash pursuant to Performance Share Awhals t
amount necessary to satisfy the Participant’s tdstate and local withholding tax requiremeritss the
Company’s intention that all income tax liabilitp @erformance Share Awards be deferred in accoedanc
with the applicable requirements of Code SectiodM@ntil the Participant actually receives suchrsis or
payment thereof.




c. To the extent any provision of the Programafoy Performance Share Award) or action by the Boérd
Directors or Committee would subject any Partictgariability for interest or additional taxes werdCode
Section 409A, it will be deemed null and void, he extent permitted by law and deemed advisabtady
Committee. It is intended that the Program (andReryjormance Share Award) will comply with Code
Section 409A, and the Program (and any Perform8heee Award) shall be interpreted and construea on
basis consistent with such intent. The Program éarydPerformance Share Award) may be amended in al
respect deemed necessary (including retroactibsiyhe Committee in order to preserve compliandl wi
Code Section 409A. The preceding shall not be coedtas a guarantee of any particular tax effect fo
Program benefits or Performance Share Awards. Exaeppecifically provided in the LTIP, a Participa
(or beneficiary) is solely responsible and lialdethe satisfaction of all taxes and penalties thay be
imposed on the Participant (or beneficiary) in aastion with any distributions to such Participamt (
beneficiary) under the Program (including any taed penalties under Code Section 409A), and rreithe
Olin nor any Affiliate shall have any obligationittdemnify or otherwise hold a Participant (or bienary)
harmless from any or all of such taxes or penalties



Exhibit 12
OLIN CORPORATION AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(Unaudited)

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Earnings: ($ in millions)
Income from continuing operations before tafes $ 162.7 $ 250.C $ 2252 $ 379.2 $ 76.C
Add (deduct):
Earnings of non-consolidated affiliates 1.7 (2.9 (3.0 (9.6) (29.9
Distributions from affiliated companies — 1kt 1.3 14 2.C
Amortization of capitalized interest 2.2 2.1 1.€ 14 1.3
Capitalized interest (0.2 (1.2 (7.4 (1.2 (0.9
Fixed charges as described below 67.5 62.C 54.C 49t 43.4
Total $ 2305 $ 3117 $ 2717 $ 420¢ 92.¢
Fixed charges:
Interest expensed and capitalized $ 44C $ 397 $ 33¢& $ 3l 26.2
Estimated interest factor in rent expeffse 23.F 22.% 20.2 17.¢ 17.1
Total $ 675 $ 62C $ 54.C $ 49t 43.
3.4 5.C 5.C 8.5 2.1

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

(1) The income from continuing operations befawees for the year ended December 31, 2011 inclagedtax gain of $181.4 million as a

result of remeasuring our previously held 50% gginterest in SunBelt.

(2) Amounts represent those portions of rent expereeatte reasonable approximations of interest



SUBSIDIARIES OF OLIN CORPORATION *
(as of December 31, 2014)

Exhibit 21

Company % Ownership Jurisdiction
(Direct/Indirect)
Bridgeport Brass Corporatidn 100 IN
Henderson Groundwater LLTC 33 NV
HPCM LLC* 100 DE
Hunt Trading Co. 100 MO
Imperial West Chemical Cé. 100 NV
K. A. Steel Chemicals Inc. 100 DE
K. A. Steel Internationdl 100 DE
KAS Muscatine LLC 100 IA
KNA California, Inc.® 100 DE
KWT, Inc.® 100 DE
LTC Reserve Corp. 100 DE
Monarch Brass & Copper Corp. 100 NY
Monarch Brass & Copper of New England Cdfp. 100 RI
New Haven Copper Compaty 100 CT
Olin Benefits Management, Inc. 100 CA
Olin Business Holding¥ 100 DE
Olin Chlor Alkali Logistics Inc!? 100 DE
Olin Engineered Systems, Inc. 100 DE
Olin Far East, Limited 100 DE
Olin Financial Services Inc. 100 DE
Olin Funding Company LLC 100 DE
Olin North American Holdings, Inc. 100 DE
Olin Sunbelt, Inc. 100 DE
Olin Sunbelt 11, Inc. 100 DE
Pioneer Americas LLC® 100 DE
Pioneer Companies, LLC 100 DE
Pioneer (East), Iné. 100 DE
Pioneer Licensing, Iné. 100 DE
Pioneer Transportation LL& 100 DE
Pioneer Water Technologies, IAc. 100 DE
Ravenna Arsenal, Inc. 100 OH
Sunbelt Chlor Alkali Partnership 100 DE
U.S. Munitions, LLC" 49 DE
Waterbury Rolling Mills, Inc1? 100 CT
Winchester Ammunition, Inc. 100 DE
Winchester Defense, LLE 100 DE
Nutmeg Insurance Limited 100 Bermuda
Olin Canada ULC’ 100 Nova Scotia, Canada
Olin Hunt Specialty Products S.r.l. 100 Italy
Winchester Australia Limitetf 100 Australia
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Omitted from the following list are the names ofta& subsidiaries which, if considered in the &ggte as a single subsidiary, would
not constitute a significant subsidiary

d/b/a "Olin Brass, Indianapolis" and "Olin Bragsdianapolis Facility" in CA, IL, IN, NJ, NC, OH, BRI and TX

Indirect subsidiary, Olin’s wholly-owned subsidiaBioneer Americas LLC owns 33% and is one of tineg initial members to form
this limited liability company, effective 11/7/201The other two members are Stauffer ManagementLIOo/Bayer Cropscience Inc.
and Montrose Chemical Corporation of California

Indirect subsidiary, Olin’s subsidiary, K.A. St&ghemicals Inc. is the sole member of this limitedbility company
Indirect subsidiary, wholly-owned by Olin’s wholtywned subsidiary, Pioneer Companies, LLC

Indirect subsidiary, wholly-owned by Olin’s subsidy, K. A. Steel Chemicals Inc.

Indirect subsidiary, Olin’s subsidiary, K. A. St&ghemicals Inc. is the sole member of this limiiadility company
Indirect subsidiary, wholly-owned by Imperial W&dtemical Co.

Indirect subsidiary, wholly-owned by Pioneer Walechnologies, Inc.

Indirect subsidiary, wholly-owned by Monarch Br&€opper Corp.

This entity was formerly named A. J. Oster Co. éaldare partnership of which Olin Corporation ow2s0%% and Olin’s wholly-
owned subsidiary, Olin Engineered Systems, Inc.08615% and Pioneer Americas LLC owns 1.80%

Indirect subsidiary, Olin Sunbelt Inc. owns 50% &ith Sunbelt II, Inc. owns 50% — began operation2012
Indirect subsidiary, Olin Canada ULC is the solember of Pioneer Americas LLC
Indirect subsidiary, Olin Business Holdings holsmembership interest

Indirect subsidiary, Olin’'s wholly-owned subsidiakyinchester Defense, LLC owns 49% of the jointtuem and BAE Systems
Ordnance Systems, Inc. owns 51% of the joint ventur

This entity holds 49% ownership of the joint veretud.S. Munitions, LLC. BAE Systems Ordnance Systeimc. owns the other 51%
of the joint venture

Indirect subsidiary, wholly-owned by Olin North Aniean Holdings, Inc. Reorganization of Canadiaritiest PClI Chemicals Canada
Company and Olin Canada Inc. occurred on Janua911 and the two companies were amalgamated tinelexame of Olin Canada
ULC

Olin Australia Limited was renamed Winchester Aak#r Limited effective 12/5/2007



Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Olin Corporation:;

We consent to incorporation by reference in theifeggion Statements Nos. 3385097, 333-17629, 3338619, 33339305, 33339303
333-31098, 33335818, 33397759, 333110135, 333110136, 333124483, 333133731, 333148918, 333158799, 333166288
333-176432, and 333-195500 on Form8%0f Olin Corporation of our report dated Febru2By 2015with respect to the consolidated bale
sheets of Olin Corporation and subsidiaries as etdinber 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related coasedidstatements of operatic
comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, antl flas/s for each of the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2014, an
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting as of December 31, 2014, which report appathe December 31, 2014 annual re
on Form 16K of Olin Corporation.

/s KPMG LLP
St. Louis, Missouri
February 25, 2015



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Joseph D. Rupp, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16f0lin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or én#tate a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargading the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the registranthost
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 201 /sl Joseph D. Rupp

Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Todd A. Slater, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16f0lin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or én#tate a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargading the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the registranthost
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 201 /sl Todd A. Slater

Todd A. Slater
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350SADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Olin Coration (the “Company”) on Form 1KR-for the period ended December 31, 2014 as filgh
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “R@pdrtloseph D. Rupp, Chairman and Chief Execu@fficer and |, Todd A. Slater, Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of the Comparertify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350adspted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to our knowled@®the Report fully complies with the requirensenof Section 13(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) the information cored in the Report fairly presents, in all mater@dpects, the financial condition and result
of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement reqdil®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyn| be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commigsiats Staff upon request.

[s/ Joseph D. Rupp
Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Dated: February 25, 2015

/s/ Todd A. Slater
Todd A. Slater
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Dated: February 25, 2015



